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Genmab In Short

Genmab is an international
biotechnology company
specializing in the creation and
development of differentiated
antibody therapeutics for the
treatment of cancer

Management's Redew | Genmab In Shart
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2" Approved Products
in Collaboration

DARZALEX® marketed in the U.5., Europe,
lapan and multiple other countries

i

2 Categories
of Cancer

Generate products to freat solid tumors
and hematelogical cancers

968

El

10,971M

Arzerra® marketed in the 1.5, and lapan 201% year-end market cap 2019 year-end cash position
@ @ @ 6 Operating Result 2,638
@ @ @ o (KK milion)
- ~20 Pre-clinical Projects
6 Proprietary™ Antibody
Products in Clinical Extensive partnered and own
Development pre-clinical pipeline 1,264 1,380
1,082
Tisatumab vedatin, enapotamab
wvedotin, HexaBody-DRS/DRS (GEN1029), 720
epecoritamab (DuoBody-CO3xCDH),
DuoBady PD-L1x4-1BB (GEN10&&} and
DuoBody-CD40x4-1BE (GEN104Z)
35 INDs
Investigational new drsg applications 20 e o e oL
filed by Genmab and partners since 1999
2
DKK

4 Proprietary
Technologies

DuoBody® platform, HexaBady® platform,
DucHexaBody® platfarm & HexEleet®
platform

Management's Redew | Genmab InShart

.r""/"

Dual-listed in
Denmark and U.S.

* injasuary 3500, sepetumamat approwsd as TEFEZZAS in LS.
= Tisctumb :

0.

2019 revenue
77% increase versus 2018

8 Do Bochy £ rtnd 1B 50550 pariner with BoliTech

2.728M

2019 operating expenses
87% invested in R&ED




Our Vision

By 2025, our own product
has transformed cancer
treatment, and we have

a pipeline of knock-your-
socks-off antibodies

Management'sReview | Genmab InShart

Genmab - we are...

=% An international, dual-listed, bictechnology company

=3 Antibody experts inspired by nature to develop
differentiated antibody therap eutics to transform
canesr treatement

—% Determined to make a difference for cancer patients

=3 Creators of two marketed partnered products
~ DARZALEX and Arzerm

= Developing a strong clinical and pre-clinical pipeline via
our passion forinnovation and a deep understanding of
antibody biology

—> Pioneers in technology platforms that help create
differentiated, best-in-class or first-in-class products
wath the patential to improve patients” lives

% Inventors of the DucB: i ¥, dy
and HexElect technologies

=3 Apartner of choice with multiple strategic collaborations
to expand our capabilities and advance innovation

—% Building commercial capabilities to market our own
products in the future

=3 Ateam of highly skilled and educated employees




Our Three-pronged Strategy

&

Focus on core compelence
= |dentify the best disease targets

» Develop unique first-in-class or best-in-class antibodies
# Develop next generation technologies

Turn science into medicing

= Create differentiated antibody therapeutics with

significant commercial petential

Bulld a profitable and successful biotech
= Maintain a flexible and capital efficient madel

= Maximaze relationships with partners

# Retain ownership of select products

Management's Review | Genmab In Shart

Focused on Cancer

Millions of people are diagnosed with cancer each year. Cancer is the second leading cause of
death worldwide, with about 1 in & deaths attributed fo cancer. We believe antibody therapies
are one of the keys to improving the lives of patients living with cancer. Qur antibadies target
two main categories of cancer: solid tumors and hematological cancers.

Solid Tumors

A solid tumor is an abnormal mass of tissue that usually does
nol contain any liquid or cysts, Solid tumers may be malig-
nant {cancerows) or benign (non-cancerous). Solid tumors
can accur in several places in the body including the bones,
muscles and organs. Sarcomas and carcinomas are examples
of salid turnors,

Hematological Cancers.

Hematological cancers, also called blood cancers, begin in
the tissues that form blood, such as the bone mamow, or
in the cells of the immune system. The three main types of
blood cancers are leukemia, lymphoma and myeloma.




Approved Products
in Collaboration

DARZALEX®
{daratumumab)

Approved in combination with other
standard therapies in frontline multiple
miyeloma in the U.5., Europe and japan

Apprvid in combination with other
therapies in relapsed frefractony multiple
myeloma in the U.5., Europe and japan

Approved as a monothempy for heavily
pretreated ordouble-refactory multiple
miyeloma in the U.5, and Europe

2019 net sales by Janssen of USD 2,998
million = DKK 3,132 million in oyalties o
Genmab

Management's Review | Genmab In Short

Arzerra®
(ofatumumab)

Approved in certain territories for various
chronic lymphocytic keukemia (CLL)
indications

2019 et sales by Novarts of
USD 17 million = 0KK 23 million in
rovalties to Genmal

Fleasa 500 pages 24-31 of) !
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Building a Knock-Your-
Socks-Off Pipeline

Genmab is building a strong pipeline of proprietary

antibody prod that have the potential to make a real
impact i en we consider
which

tential be improwve oult
this way we are building a knock-yo
ne that offers multiple possibiliti
wr 202!

or success and
! . while also b
nherant in dug devy ment. Our KY
ne includes the following proprietany products:

; (GEN1 i}
+  Epcoritamab (DuoBody-CO3xC020)
Jag)?

Fody-COa0xa-1
o HexaBody-CO37

o working on an extensive portfelic of pre
ms to fual our pipeline of the futurs and




Core Values
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Shareholder
Letter

Dear Shareholder,

Genmab’s 20th anniversary year
was truly a momentous one for
the company, with breakthroughs
achieved in all areas of our
business. We advanced our
innovative proprietary pipeline
through additional products in the
clinic and a variety of new strategic
partnerships. Genmab’s partnered
products also made tremendous
progress with exciting data and
multiple regulatory submissions
and approvals. In addition to these
developments with our pipeline,
we more than accomplished our
“We more than accom plished gqa_lswith purext!emely sulccessful
i Initial Public Offering (IPO) in the

our goals with our extremely M.S., making Genmab a dual

successful IPO in the U.S.” listed company.

{ Shamshokie et 10




Early-stage Pipeline Expansion

Qur early-stage proprctary pipeline bad unprecedented
progress in its development ower the course of 2019, We
began the year with four Genmab cwned (at least 50%
ownership) products in clinical development and as of the
end of the year this total was mised to six as DuoBody: PD-
L1x4-168 (GEN10GS) and DuoBody-CD40x4-188 (GEN104Z),
ourproducts in co-development with BioNTech, entered into
the clinic. With an investigational new drug (IND) filing for

B

2020 ofstumumab will become a new treatrnent option far
patients with RMS,

DARZALEX Moves Into Frontline

This year was also a tran sformational one for DARZALEX,
which is being developed and commercialized

by Janssen Biatech, Inc. (Janssen), as over 100,000 patients
have now been treated with DARZALEX since its launch in
2015, Approaching triple-blockbuster status for use in

B D37 in mid- ber, we antici| this

| d or refractory multiple myeloma, in 2019 DARZALEX

tatal will soon be at seven, with more INDs planned for the
coming year. We further broadened and strengthenesd our
pipeline with rultiple new strategic partnerships induding
an exclusive worldwide license and option agreement with
lanssen forthe development of HexaBody-CD 38, a next-gen-
eration human CO38 menadonal antibody product, &
collaboration with Tempus to combine their sequencing
capabiliies and industry-leading platform of integrated
clinical and melecular data with Genmab's state-of-the-art
translational, biomarker and target discovery expertise; and
in December, we entered inte an agreement with CureVac
that will focus an the research and development of differenti-
ated mRMA-based antibody products.

Ofatumurnab in Relapsing Multiple Sclerosls

Following spectacular data in relapsing multiple sclerosis
[RM3S) i the third quarter of the year, the focus fer ofatu-
murnab now shifts to its patential in that indication. The
highly anticipated data from the Phase | ASCLEPIOS 1 &1
studies of subcutansous ofatumumab was presented at the
35th Congress of the European Committee for Treatment and
Research in Multiple Sclercsis (ECTRIMS), The trials met bath
the primary endpoints and key secondary endpoints with a
safety profile in line with observations from prios Phase 1
results, Novartis, which is developing and commercializing
ofatumumab, has stated that based on this data, they
initiated a submission o U.5, health autharities for ofatu-
mumab in RMS at the end of 2019. We are hopeful that in

Management's Review | Sharehobd er Letter

received key approvals for newly diagnosed multiple
myeloma as well as approvals and regulatory submissions
Far vastly maone convenient modes of administration. In June,
following review under the 1.5, Food and Drug Administea-
tion®s (1.5, FDA) Real-Time Oncology Review (RTOR) pilot
program, DARZALEX was approved in combination with
lenali domide and dexamethasone for newly diagnosed
patients with multiple my=loma who are not eligible for
autologeus stem cell transplant (ASCT). This same indication
was approved in Europe in November, An additional frontline
indication, in combination with bortezomib, thalidemide
and dexamethasone was approved in the U.5. in September.
The key distinction with this approval is that it was for
patients eligible for ASCT, making this the first quadruplet
therapy approved for this patient population. Along with
these new indications, the option to split the first infusion
of DARZALEX owver two days was approved in both the U.5.
and in Europe. Even more convenient dosing may potentially
be possible in 2020 based on Janssen's ¥ submis-

R Bl

Nasdag Copenhagen in Denmark and the Nasdag Global
Select Market in the L.5. Completed in |uly, the public
offering and listing of Amenican Depository Shares (AD5s) on
the Nasdag Global Select Market under the symbol "GMAB™
led to gross proceeds from the issuance of new shares of
USD 582 million (DKK 3,872 million) with a comesponding
increase in share capital of 3,277,500 ordinary shares or
32,775,000 ADSs. This was the largest U.S. equity issuance
by a bictechnology company in 201%, the second largest
LS. IPO ever by a biotechnology company and the largest
PO of ADSs by a European healthcare company.

This IPO was more than just an impressive ope-time event; it
allows us to diversify our shareholder base, support our
growth into new competencies - including Translational
Research, Data Saences, Medical Affairs and Commercial
=and it also increases Genmab's wsibility as a world-class
antibody innovation powerhouse within the bictechnology
industry and among key thought leaders in academia and the
financial community.

Commitment to Bullding a Sustalnable and

Soclally Responsible Biotech

Along with the Board of Directors and Senior Leadership
at Genrmab, | am comrmitted fo Genmab®s busine ss-driven
Corporate Social Respensibility (CSR) strategy as well as
our efforts to build & sustainable srganization that mests
enviranment, social and governance (E5G) criteria of

sions for approval of the subcutaneous formulation of
daratumumab in the U.5. and in Europe. If approved this
new formulation could become a game-changer as itreduces
the time needed for dosing of daraturnumakb from several
howrs to just five minutes,

Largest U.5. Equity Issuance by a Biotech in 2019
Of key importance in 2019 was sur U.5. [P0, which enabled
usto become a dual-listed company, trading on both the

rel to our business opemtions. Qur CSR Committes

is chaired by a member of our Executive Managerment Team
and is compnsed of representatives from a vanety of
development functions. Together, theirgoal is to ensure

that Genmakb camies out our C5R activities effectively and
preactively communicates the results, In 2020, our goal is
to review ESG considerations in cleser detail and to integrate
these into our strategic planning and risk management
precess. To this end, | am pleased te report that in 2020 we
will Form our first ever sustainability task force, which will be

1




chaired by myself, to d. ine ESG matters of rek o
our business operations and establish clear goals to
measure Ut parformance.

Delivering on Genmab’s Promise

Taken together, the events of the past yearreveal a bright
and exciting future for Ge nmakb, We have delivered on our
promige of building & robustand innovative pipeline of
antibody therapeutics that creates value for both patients
and for sharcholders, and yet we are enly at the beginning.
Genmab s on a transformational journey both as acempa-
ny, which grew by 200 amployess in 201%, and as we work.
to revolutionize cancertreatment. | would like tothank the
patients who participate in ourclinical trials, the investiga-
tors who help us trailblaze innovations, curshareholders
wha believe in our commitment to transform cancer
treatmentand the dedicated team of Genmab colleagues
whe are determined te achieve our 2025 vision through our

warld-¢ is2 in antibedy biclegy, i i d
techrology,
Sinceraly yours,
‘,‘“,‘_ﬁ,!:\.

= .-——'

|'\__'/
Jan van de Winkel, Ph.0,
President & Chief Executive Officer

's: P |
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2019 Achievements

TORIeSS
Prigrity Achbeved  Targeted Wlestons
Daratumumab: o » U.5.FOA decision on Phase Il MK mutiple myeloma (MM
submission
o * U5, FOA decision on Phase Bl CASSIOPELA MM submission
o » Phage Il COLLWBA MM subcutan e cas daratumumaby
=nfety and efficacy analyss
ofstumumab o * Phase Il ASCLEAOS | & 11 relapsing multiple sclerosis
Sub ofe batudy it draporting
TisstumabYedetin v # Phase Il innovaTV 204 fisobumab vedotin recuent | meta-
ieal cancer study enrell it by miidyear
Innovative Fipeling o * Phase || enapctamab vedotin expansion cohort efficacy
analysis
* » Phase |1l HexaBody DRS/DRS initial elinical dsta
o * Phase IfIl epcoritamat (DucBody-CO3eD 20) clinical data.
dose escalation cohorts
o * File INDs andfar CTAs for 3 new product candidates

" lewtial data now articigated in 2000

Finandal Parformance

* Revenuewss DKK 5,366 million in 2019 compared to DKK
3,025 million in 2018. The increase of DEK 2,341 million,
or T7%, was mainky driven by higher DARZALEN royalties
and mil achinved un dar aur d collabo-
ration with Janssen.

+ Dperating expenses increased by OKK 1,083 millian, or
£6%, From DKK 1,64 5milkon in 200810 DKK 2,726 milliva

im 3019 driven by the advancement of tisatum ab vedetin

and i i in cur

produt pipeling, and the increase in new employees to
support the expansicn of cur preduct pipeine,

* Operating income was DKK 2,638 million in 201§ com-
pared to DKK 1,380 million in 2018, The improvement of
DKK 1,258 million, ar 91%, was driven by higher revenue,
wihich wae partly offeet by increased apersting expentes,

* 2019 year-end cash position of DKK 10,97 1 milkon, an
increase of DK 4,865 million, or 80%, from DEK 6,106
million a3 of December 31, 2018,




Consolidated Key Figures

E

(KK millionk 2015% 2016* 2017+ 2018* 2019 Revenue
Income Statemant (DEK million)
5,366
Ravenia 1133 1816 2,365 1025
Resanrch and development axpense (et L3351 (B74) 14210
Geiwiral and adimimisiralive e s [C31] {103} {147) {214}
Oiperating axpernses (579 e 1,021 (1,645 T 3,025
Dither income 176 - - - - 1816
Operating mesult 30 1,053 1,344 1,340 2638 1,122 '
met financial kems r i (280) 232 221 i
Hot mesult 764 1,187 1,104 1477 2,166 .
[EASRRCh W5 e a7 B 9
Cash position®* 3403 3022 5423 6,106
Heari-c wirent st 235 341 LTt 1,028 Operating Expenses
Assats 3003 5,238 L Haal .
Sharehalders' equity 3,407 A 6,273 8,014 (K million] = R&D = GEA 2,728
Share capital L] 60 1 &1
Ivestments in inkangible ad tangible assets 135 33 a9 476
Cash Flow Statement 1,645
Cash Mow from in 328 1,589 1,015 ’
Cash Nenw frosm g activiti T3] (1.015) (664) {(1.7781
Cash N Trons inaieing activities 643 131 215 71 & 1,021
Cash and cash equivalents 874 EL 1,348 533 579 763
Cash position inc reas e /{decrease) 813 429 1,541 Ga4%
Flnanclal Ratios i
Baic e ress ull per < hane 13.0% 1983 18,14 2.0 E
Dilutied nat result par share 12.56 19.22 17.77 2373 REE U U
eat-ed shife market price 917.50 1.173.00 102900 106750 FTE at Year End
Price § bookvalue 15.67 1457 10.04 B.19
FIE
Sharehaldiers! squity pershan: s8.57 08 10251 130,32 S48
Equily matio B5% NB 95% 5% EES
fwarage number of employees. (FTE)*** 180 196 735 ETE] 377
Humber of employeas (FTEN at pear-end 186 205 257 T 257
* A desckrsed in note 1.2 of the francial statements, prior perod amousts have not been adusted under the modif 186 205
IFES 16 asal January 1, 2009 Further, 200 7 and gaios 15 v nal bed he panilifiend smtmces et mnethed Do adapt IFRS
15 a5 of lasnry 1, 2008, and in sccoedance with the s f BERS 9, conap figguaress Hor 2071 7 and prior hases nod been resated.
== Cash, cash equival and mark il
Thee kary figuees and fnancial mtios have been peepamd on 8 consolidated basis, The financisl mbios e been calculaed in scoondance with the s e 7 208 g

recommendations. of the Association of Danish Financial Anabysts. (2007 and key figumes in accondance with IFES,

Management's Review | Consoll dated Key Flgures




Genmab’s IPO on

Nasdaq in the U.S.

Genmab Completed a U.S. IPO and |5 now Dual-Listed on the
Nasdaq Copenhagen in Denmark and the Nasdag Global
Select Market in the U.5.

In July 2019, Genmab successfully completed an initial public
affering (PO} of Amencan Depositary Shares (ADSs) on the
Masdaq Global Select Market. This achievement makes Genmab
a dual-listed company listed on both the Nasdag Copenhagen
in Denmark and the Nasdaq Global Select Markat in the LS.

Ratisnale Behind the U.S, PO
To raise capital to continue the development of our proprietary
product candidates, 1o continue our pre-commercial activiies,
to continue building cur cormmercal capabilities, and to
advance clinical-stage product candidates.

Financial Highlights of Genmab's U.S, IPO

Om July 22, 2019, gross proceeds from the issuance of new
shares amounted to USD 506 million (DKK 3,268 million) with
a comesponding increase in share capital of 2,850,000 ordi-
nary shares or 28, 500,000 ADSs. The underwnters exercised
in full theie option to purchase an additional 27,500 ardinary
shares or &,27 5,000 ADSs bringing the total gross proceeds of
the offering to USD 582 million (DKK 2,873 million), which was
eompleted an July 23, 2019,

The public offering price ofUSD 17 .75 per ADS, comesponded to
a subscnption price of DKK 1,1581,80 per New Share at the 1.5,
dallar/DKK exchange rate of DKK 66580 per USD 1,00 on July
17, 2019, multiplizd by the ADG-ta-share mtio of ten-to-one.

Management's Rewew | Genmab's IPO on Nasdag in the U5,

Undenwriting commissions paid were USD 32 million (DKK 213
million}. Expenses related to the issuance amounted to
DKK 25 million.

Total share capital following the public offesing amounted to
DEK 64,967,643,

Genmab's Planned Usa of Proceeds

= Advancement of tisotumab vedotin to commerciali zation
in recurrent andfor metastatic ceracal cancer, to prog-
ress tisotumab vedotin in other selid tumor indications
andto continue building our commercial capabilities in
connection with the potential future approval of tisatumab
vedotin; and

Continued investment in our drug discovery efforts, to
furtherour development of existing and new technology
platforma, and to fund the development of earlier stage
clinical and pre-clinical programs including:

Ongoing develapment of enapatarmab vedatin in vansoss
solid tumor indications;

GOngoing Phase Il clinical tral of HexaBody-DRS/ORS
For the treatrnent of solid tumers;

Qngoing Phase I/l clinical tnal of epcoritamab
(DuaBody-C03xCD 20) for the treatment of B-cell
malignancies; and

Launch and conduct of Phase 1/l clinical tnals follow-
ing submission of INDs and/or Clinical Tral Appli-
cations (CTAs) in 2019 for DuoBody-PO-L1x4-168,
DugBody-CO40x4-1BB and DucHexaBody-CD37,

= Maximize relationships with partners, to increase strategic
Femibility to pot lly retain Ficant o hip and
walue of saleet products and produ et candidates and far
general corporate purposes.

ADS Definition

An ADS s a U5, dollar-denominated equity share of a for-
eign-based cormpany available for purchase on an A
stock exchange,

GMAB

The AD5s were listed and began trading on July 22, 2012

on Nasdag Global Select Marketin the U5, under the symbel
“GMAB." Genmab ordinary shares listed an the Nasdag
Copenhagen in Denmark under the symbol “GEN" also began
trading under "GMAB™ as of July 22, 2019,




2020 Outlook

018

2020 Actual

(DKE millian) Guidance Result
Reverue 4,750 = 5,150 5.366
Operating expenses B.850) - B.950) @729
Dperaling incame 850 -1,250 2538

Revenue

‘W expect our 2020 revenue to be in the range of DEK4,750
= 5,150 million, compared to OEK 5,366 million in 201%. Our
revienue in 2019 included ORE 1,684 million related to
one-time sales milestones for DARZALEX net sales exceading
U5D 2.5 billion and 3.0 billion in a calendaryzar.

Qur prajected ravenwe for 2020 priranily consists of DARZALEX
royalties of DKK 4,075 = 4,475 million. Our 2020 guidance for
DARZALEX royalties represents a 30% to 43% increase
compared b 2009, Such royalties are based on estimated
DARZALEX nat sales of USD 3.9 = 4.2 billion. We project cost
reimbursement income of approxnimately DKE 475 million
which is related to our collaboratiens with Seattle Ganetics
and BioTech. The remainder of our revenue is approximately
DEE 200 million and consists of milestones and other myalties,

Operating Expenses

We anticipate our 2020 opermting expenses o be in the range
of DKE 3,850 — 3,%50 million, compared to DKK 2,728 million
in 2019, The increase is drive n by the advancement of our
clinical programs, particularly epcoritamab (DusBody-CO3x
C020) and DuoBody-PO-L1xé-186.

Managemant's Raay | 2020 Dutlask

Operating Result

W xRt Gur Gperating Ineome to be in the mage of DEK 850
= 1,250 million in 2020 compared to DEK 2,638 million in
2014,

Dutlook: Risks and Assumptions

In additien to factors already mentioned, the estimates above
are subject to change due to numerous reaso ns, including but
nat lirmited to the achievement of ceain milestones associated
with our collabomtion agreements; the timing and variation
of development activities (including activities caried out by
our collaboration partners) and related income and costs;
DARZ ALEX sales and corres ponding royalties to Genmab; and
currency exchange rtes (the 2020 guidance assumes a LSD/
DEK exchange rate of £,5). The financial guidanss assumes
that no significant agreements are entered into during 2020
that could materially affect the results,




Key 2020 Priorities

Pricrity Targeted Milestone

Genmab proprietary® preducts * Tisolumab vedatin' — Phase Il innovaTV 204 safety and efficacy analy-
&% in recurrent/metastatic cervical cancer and engage U.S. FDA for BLA
submission subject to trial results

* Tisotumab vedotin — data on othersolid tumor types

* Enapotamab wedotin = data to support late s tage development

* Epcaritamab (DuoBody-CO3xCD20) Phase )1 = decision on recom-
mended Phase || dose and initiate axpansion cohorts

* HexaBody-DRS/ORS Phase IfIl = advance dose escalation

» DuoBody-PO-L1x4-1BB? Phase If1l = initiate expansion cohors

» DuoBody-PD-L1x4-188 initial data in H2 2020

* File INDs and for CTas for 2 new products

Daratumumab’ ® .5, FDWh and EMA decision on Phase Il COLUMBA multiple myeloma
Subd submission
 5BLAand MAA Submission Phase Il ANDROMEDA amyloidosis
* sBLA and MAA submission Phase || AFDLLD multiple myeloma

Ofatumumab® » L5, FDWA decisionon regulatory dossier submission in RMS
Teprotumumab® * U5, FDw decisionon Phase 111 OPTIC active thyroid eye disease
submission

* Caetain predust eandidatns s dewalepment with patner, ss soled.
B 50:50 dev. w) Seallls Ganelics;
s

150 dliw, v BioNTachy

n dow, by lanisen;

e, bry Novartis;

3 Indev, by Horizon Thivp sutich.




Research and
Development
Capabilities

At Genmab, we are inspired by nature and understand how
antibodies work, We e deeply knowledgeable about antibady
biology and cur scientists explait this expertise to create and
dewvelop differentiated antibody therapeutics.

We utilize a sophisticated and highly automated process to
efficiently generate, select, produce and evaluate human
antibody thempeutics. Our research and development teams
have established a streamlined process to coordinate the
activities of product discavery, pra-clinical testing, manufac-
turing, clinical trial design and execution, and regulatorny
submissions across Genmab's international o perations,
Through our expartise in antibody drug devalopment, we
pioneer technologies that allow us to create differentiated

and petentially first-in-class or bestin-class products with the
capacity for improving patients” lives. Our antibody expertise
has also enabled us to create ourcutting edge technology
platfomng: DuoBody, HexaBody, DuoHexaBody and HexElect,
‘We are also transforming ourselves by building onour
world-Chass research in antibodies o expand our capabilities
beyand the lab. We are expanding owr scientific focus to use
data science and artificial intelligence to discover new targets
and biomarkers and balster our in-depth translational
medicine laboratony capabilities. All of this is in an affart to gat
the right antibody product to the right patient at the right dose.

Genmab’s discoveryand pre-clinical research is conducted at
its Research and Development Center in Utrecht, the Nether
tands. The building is one of the first BREEAM Excellent

laboratory buildings in the Hethedands. The R&D Center
houses state-of the-art labortories intluding an advanced
rbotics lab, a modem auditorium, science café and innova.
tive brainstorm and mecting rooms. Located in close proximity
o ather life science companies and univemsities, this space
provides a bright, open and collabo mtive atmosphere to
enable the Genmab team to continue to innovate and find

new ways 1o help cancer patients. In order to accommodate
Genmab's growthwe have also signed an agreement to occupy
the first and second floors of the new “Accelerator™ building,
amulti-tenant buildirg that will be connected directly to the
RED Canter and which will be bailt to achiewe the same BREEAM
Excellent high sustainability standard. Cormnpletion of this
building, which will contain both offices and laboratories,

& expected inearly 2022,

In addition, Genmab has opened its first translational
medicine research laboratories in the U.S., in Princeton, New
Jergiry, Thesse laboratories are curnently located at the Biokalks
Frinceton Innovation Canter but will eventually be housad
within Genmab's own L5, office space. This new space, which
5 baing modeled on the open and collaborative spintof the
RAD center in Utrecht, will include bath offices and labao ratio-
fies and is anticipated to be complete in the s pring of 2020,
The opening of the Princeton transliational research laborate-
nies allows Genmab to expand its translational pre-clinical and
clinical drug development reseanch expertise and is part of the
strategic growth of the company,
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Products and
Technologies

Q@

Product
Pipeline

Marketed Proprietary Partner Programs Pre-clinical Programs
Products (= 50% ownarship) Built on Genmab's
Products in Development Innovation Antibody
Technologies
tumumab

- Teprotumurnab
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Product Pipeline

At the end of 2019 our own and partnered
product pipeline consisted of eighteen
antibodies in clinical development, including
two approved products in collaboration as well
as approximately 20 in-house and partnered
pre-clinical programs. An overview of the
development status of each of our clinical-
stage product candidates is provided in the
following sections. Detailed descriptions of
dosing, efficacy and safety data from certain
clinical trials have been disclosed in company
announcements and media releases published
via the Nasdaq Copenhagen stock exchange.
Additional information is available on
Genmab’s website, www.genmab.com.

Management' s Revew | Product Pipaline
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Products in Development

E‘a APPROVED PRODUCTS IN COLLABORATION AND PROPOSED LABEL EXPANSIONS

Product Target Rights Disease Indications Most Advanced Developmeat Phase
P clinical i 1/ il il Lached
Darstumamab 038 Janssen: Therd myalties o Mutiple myeloma (MM
Gennabonne ghibal sale) ——- b
AL Asyloidos.
Hon-W blood cancess
Ofstursimab 020 s (Rayalties ba Genenab Chiraik b
on et ghabal salkes) Reukzmda LU
@ PROPRIETARY PRODUCT® CANDIDATES
Product Target Rights Disease Indications Most Advanced Developmeat Phase
Pre-chnial 1 Im Ll " Lanched
Tesctum b vedotin ¥ 50250 Genmah | Covical cancer
Sealthe Genelics - —_— >
(Ovarian camcer
Solid timoes
Enspotamab vadatin WAL Genmab Solid mines
M AXLADC)
HaxaBody-DRS U85 Gennal Solid b
GEN129)
Epcsritamab D%, CO2 Genivial He malokogieal malignancies
DuoBndy CCD70)
DuoBody-PO-L1ni-1B8 AL, 50150 Genmh | Solid b
GEN1046) 4188 EioliTech
DuoBody-CIN0x4-188 D30, 50150 Genrb | Solid s
GEN10%3) 4168 BioliTech
2019110 o3r Genrmab Hemalnlogical malignancies
Duotieabody-C037 (GEN 2005

sRedew | Products in




E‘a FIFELINE PRODUCTS IN COLLABORATION

Product Target Rights Disease Indications Most Advanced Development Phase
Pre-linical i il L] 1L} Launched
Ofatumumab 020 Mavartis Relapsing multiphe sclemsis
OMBL57)
Taprotumumab K18 Harizon Therapeilics Thyvoid eye disease
o) fisnder sublicense fom Boche
Carmdaniumab tesirine 05 ADC Therapeutics. Relapsed og refractory
GARCT:301H Hodgkin ymphomm
Solid wmors.
HuMax-ALE s BMS Acheanced cancers
INj-51188372 EGFR, cMel Jaresan No-smallcell king cancer (SCLCH
INj-63705178 0N, (03 lamsan Acute Myeloid Leukemia ()
IN)-64007957 B, (D5 laresen Relapsed o refmcioey M
IN-6440T 5o GPRCSD, (D Jaresen Relapsed of refracioey MM
INJ-675T1244 LR larssen Relapsed o refraciosy AML oF MDS
N|-63898081 PSMA, (0L Jaresen Solid N
Lu AFE2422 allphaSyrucein Lundberk Parirson's disease
=20 sctive Partnered & peoprietany prograns:
procliniesl programs. Hubab, DuoBody, Dunliexabady
and HexaBady
' See locnl . b For pencizs incicaii
7 Mot in active clinical I 0% the ization for Arrerm was wil n the EI
ather teritories,
7 Certai r in s mobed.
sHedew | Froducts in 23




Approved Products
in Collaboration

©

DARZALEX
(daratumumab)

.--1.',._.“...,.,

First CD38 Antibody
Approved in the World

In short
* Ffiret-in-elass human CD38 antibady * Multiple Phase Il studies engolng in multiple
el Ineluding fior & sub (Subd)
- A d iin ination with other ies for formulation, as well as a Phase 11l study in amyleid
frontline and for relapsed, refractory multiple my- light-chain (AL) amyloid osiz

eloma In territories including the LS., Europe and
Japan and & monctherapy for heaily pretieated of
double-refractory multiple myelemain temitories
including the U.5. and Ewope = Collaboration with jJanssen Blotech, Inc. (janssen)

.

Early stage studies ongoing in other blood cancers

2019 net sales of DARZALEX by janssen were
USD 2,998 million
Managemant's Ravl sy | DARZALEX

DARZALEX (daratumurmab) is a human IgG1k mab that binds
with high affinity to the CD38 molecule, which is highly
aapressed on the surface of multiple myeloma cells, Daraty
mumab triggens a person’s own immune system to attack the
cancer cells, resulting in mpid tumer cell death through multi-
ple immune-mediated mechanisms of action and theough
mmunamodulaton effects, in addition to direct tumor cell
death, via apoptosis (programmed cell death). Daratumumab
& being developed by [anssen under an exclusive worldwide
licanse from Genmab to develop, manufacture and commer
cialize damtumumab LT k

DARZALEX (daratumumab) intravenous infusion is approved
in cemain temitories for the treatment of adult patients with
cartain multiple myeloma indications &s indicated on tha
following page.




@ B

Jurisdiction Approval Key Underlying CIi nical Trial{s) Jurisdiction Approval Key Underlying Clin Ical Trial(s)
United States European Union
Relopsed / Refractory MM Refepsed [ Refroctony M
Haowembar 2015 Manothempy for patients who have  SIRIUS (MMY2007) April 2016 Monothermpy for patients whose SIS (MMYIO0Z)
recaived at kast three prios lines prior therapy Included a Pland an
of therapy, incledinga Pland an immurmodulatory agent and who
immunomodulatory agent, of who have demorstrated disease progres.
ane double mfractary o a PLand an sion onthe kst thempy
imnaunomodu latory agent
In cambiration with Rd or vd for CASTOR (MMY3004);
Hovermber 2016 In eombina ton with B or Vi, for CASTOR (MMY 2004]; patients who have receivd at kast — POLLU (MMY 20025
patients who hive received atleast  POLLUX (MMY3003) one peior therapy
one prior thampy
Frontfme M
June 2017 Incombinetion with Pom.d for pas- EQUULELS (MMYI00T)
thents who hanae received at least o Juily I cambirsation with VMP Bar ninly MLCYOHE (MMY 2007}
prrior theragies, including lenalido- diagnosed patlents who are ineligl-
e and a Pl e For ASCT
Frontine MM Newimbir 2019 In cambiration with B For ety di. — MALA (MMY2008)
agrosed patients who are ineligible
May 2018 Incombimation with WMP for newly  ALCYORE (MMY3007) for ASCT
dingnosed patients who ane inaligi-
ke For ASCT St Dasing Reginien
June: 2019 Incombination with Bel for newdy di- - MAIA (MMY2008) 2018 Option tosplit firstinfusion over two  EQUULEDS (MMY1001)
agnosed patients who ane inekgible consacuties days
for ASCT
September 2019 In combirstion with WTd For ey CASSHIPELA (MMY 3006} Japan
?Ompumd patients who ane eligib e Rolapsed f Refroctory MR
FASCT
. . Saptember 2017 I combi nation with Bd orvd CASTOR (MMYI004):
St Dosing Regimen POLLUX (MMY 2003
Februasy 2019 Option o splitfrstinfusion over two  EQUULEUS (MMY1001) [—y
cansaculive dins
In combination with VM for newly ALCYOHE (MMYI007)
diagnosed patients ineligibe lor
ASCT
Decenther 2019 In combinationwith Rd for newty di- — MAIA (MMY 005
Pl = proteasome inhibiton Bd = lenalidomide and Wil = borteznmit and de § WP = agnosad patients who ams ineligible
borteromib, nd i 2 VTd = L d ASCT = autolo- For ASCT

goers shem Poand = eamide anid
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About Multiple Myeloma About Amyloidosis
No cure Rare An estimated
A blood cancer y Averyrare disease caused B 6,000
that occurs when ‘f, U}‘ by the buildup of an people in the United States
malignant plas- H i 5."' abnormal protein called suffer from amyloidosis.*
ma cells grow . 52.2% amyloid, which is made
uncontrollably | o Syear survival by plasma cells, in the
in bone marmew rate in the U.5.* tissues or organs,
and forwhich
there is no cure
at present.
12-15%
of multiple myeloma
patients dewelop
26,000 light ehain (AL}
peaple estimated newly diagnosed with and 13,650 eatima- amyloidosis.*
ted to have died from multiple myeloma in the 1.5, in 2018,
160,000 3,000-4,000
people estimated diagnosed with and 106,000 esti d appros urmber of new cases disgnosed annually, making
to have died from multiple myels tdwide in 2018.° AL armyloidosis the most commen type of amyloidosis in the .5
ol
L il idemiology and End Results (SEER), Cancer Siat Facks: Mycloma. Memilable at hitp: [ (seercnncer gov s tatfacks himl/

ey e, Accessed Howember 2012,
# Globocn 2018, Waited States of Anserica FactSheet. Availabbe a1 i)
el st eseol amonica B Uahoets, pd | Acessed December 2019,
Globocan 2018, Workd Fact Sheet, Avaitabde at birp: /oo fnods
Desceenibes 2019,
Resrarch and Markets, “Aamylaidosss Trestmnent Maroet Sine, Shame & Trends Analysis Report by Treatment (S8em Cell Tmnsplant, Chemothempy,
Suppartive Care, Susgery, Targeted Thempy), By Country, And Segment forcnsts, 3618 - 2025,
2 Conger et Guide o Amybobdosks, heiprs: | e cancer oet cances s fmmylobdoss sk bictors Aocessed Decomber 2019,

frftotay [ data/Ence: tsf o

tn e b pogmila tione SO0 warkd fact shes
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A comprehensive clinical development program for daratu-
rmurmab is ongoing, including multiple Phase || studiesin
smeldering, maintenance and frontline multiple myeloma
seftings. Additional studies are ongoing or planned to assess
the potential of daratumumab in other malignant and
pre-malignant diseases i which CD28 15 expressed, such as
amyleidosis, NKT-cell ymphoma and T-cell acute lymphocytic
lewkemia (ALL). Damaturnumab has received tweo Break-
through Therapy Designations (BTD) from the U,S, FDA for
certain indications of multiple myeloma, including as a
manotherapy for heavily prefreated multiple myeloma and in
cembination with certain other therapies for second-line
treatment of multiple mysloma.

Safety Infarmation for DARZALEX

The warnings and precautions for DARZALEX include infusion
reactions, interference with serolegical testing and interfer-
ence with determiration of complete response. The most
Frequently reported adverse reactions (incidence =20%) in
clinical trials were: infusion reactions, neutropenia, thrombe-
cylopenia, fatigue, nawsea, diarthea, const pation, vomiting,
muscle spasms, arthralgia, back pain, pyrexa, chills, dizzi-
ness, insomnia, cough, dyspnea, peripheral edema, peripheral
sensory neuropathy and upper respiratory tract infection,

Please consultthe full U_5. Prescribing Information and the
full European Summary of Predust Chamctenstics for all the
labeled safsty information for DARZALEX.

Fourth Quarter Updites

Decernber: In lanuary 2020 Janssen confirmed that Genmab
had achieved a W50 150 millien sales volume milestone




payrment triggered by sales of DARZALEX reaching USD 3 billion
inthe calendar year of 2015 as calculated on the basis of the
license agreement terms. Under Genmab's license agreement
with Janssen, DARTALEX sales are calculated based on a
hedged foreign exchange rate and as such are different than net
trade sales reported by Johnson & Johnson, The difference was
mainly due to the translation of sales denominated in cumen:
cied gther than USD into USD under the license agresment.

A Supplemental new drug application (sNDA) was approved by
the Ministry of Health, Labor and Walfare (MHLUW) in |apan for
daratumumab in combination with Rd as a treatment for pa-
tients newly di d with multiple myeloma wiho are ineligi-
ble for ASCT, The sNDA was submitted to the MHLW in Apal,
Genmab achieved a milestone payment following the approval,

The European Committee for Medicinal Products for Human
Use (CHMP) issued a positive opinion recommending
DARZALEX in combination with VTd as treatment for patients
newly diagnosed with multiple myeloma who are eligible for
ASCT. The Type |l Vanation was submitted for approval to the
European Medicines Agency (EMA] in March.

Updated data fram the Phase 1| ALOYONE (MMYZ007) study
of daratumumab in combination with VMP for the treatment
of patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma who are
ineligible for ASCT was published in The Loncet, volume 395,
issue 10218, p132-141.

lanssen confirmed that DARZALEX net sales hit the USD 2.5
Billion mark during 2019, which triggered a USD 100 million
milestons payment to Genmab from Janssen under the
companies® collaboration,

Management's Revew | DARZALEX

Hovember: The European Commission approved DARZALEX
in combination with Rid as treatment for adult patients with
newly diagnosed multiple myeloma whe are ineligible for
ASCT. The approval followed issuance of a positive opinion
fram the CHMP in October. The Type || Variation was submit-
ted for approval to the European Medicines Agency (EMA) in
March.

Enrollment complete in the Phase Il PERSEUS (MMY2014)
study of daratumumab in combination with bortezomib,
lenalidomide and dexameth (VRd) in patients with
previously untreated multiple myeloma who are eligible for
high-dose therapy.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

September: DARZALEX approved inthe U5, in combination
with VTd as treatment for patients newly diagnosed with
multiple myelama who are eligible for autologous stem cell
transplant (ASCT). The approval followed issuance of a
Prignity Review from the U5, FDA in May, The supplemental
Bialogics License Application (sBLA) was submitted for
approval to the 5. FDA in March,

Recruitment complete in the Phase 11l CEPHEU S (MMY3019)
study of Subl darmtumumab in combination with VRd in
patients with untreated multiple myeloma for whom hemato-
poietic stem cell transplant is not planned as initial therapy.

Tepline results from the Phase Il CANDOR study, sponsored by
Amgen, of damtumumalb in combination with carfilzemib and
dexamethasan e (Kd) versus Kd alone in relapsed ar refractory
multiple myeloma met the primary endpoint of improvement in

progression free sundval (FFS). Daratumumab in combination
with Kd resulted in 2 37% inthe risk of i

or death in patients with relapsed or refractery multiple
yeloma (HR=0.630; 95% C1: 0,464, 0.854; p=0.0014). The
rnedian PFS for patients treated with daratumurnab in
cambination with Kd had not been reached by the cut-off date
compared o a median PFS of 15.6 months for patients who
received Kd alone. There was a higher frequency of adverse
events reported with damtumumab plus Kd, a three-agent
regimen, than with Kd, atwe-agent regimen. The types of
observed adverse events were cansistent with the known
safety profiles of the individual agents.

August: DARZALEX was ap proved in cormbination with VMP fer
the treatment of patients with newly diagnosed multiple
riyeloma who are ineligible for ASCT in |apan. Genrmab
achieved a USD 7 million milestone payment.

|uly: ABiclogics License Application (BLA) was submitted to
the U5, Fv and an extension of the marketing authorization
was submitted to the Europ can Medicines Agency for the SubQ
Farmulation of damtumumab. In September the BLA received a
standard review from the U.5. FDA.

The Phase || GRIFFIN (MMY2004) study of daratumumab in
combination with VRd veraus VRd alone for transplant eligible
patients with newly diagnosed multiple myeloma met the
primary endpoint of stringent complete response (sCR). The
topline data showed that £2.5% of patients treated with
daratumumab in combination with VRd achieved a sCR,
compared to 32.0% of patients who received VRd alone,

with an odds rafio of 1,57 (95% Cl: 0.87 - 2.82, p=0.1359,
exceeding the statistical significance at the pre-set 2.sided

e




alpha level of 0.2). Secondary endpaints, including the relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma were reported. The The geometric mean of C.., for patients treated with SubQ
results of the minimal residual disease (MED) analysis, results showed that SubQ administration of darstumumab daratumurnab was 499 mg/mL versus 63 mg/mL in patients
supperted the primary endpeint favering daratumemab in co-formulated with recombinant human hyalurenidase PH200s  treated with IV damtumumab, The lower limit of the $5% Cl for
combination with VRd. Overall, the safety profile of daratu- nonsinferior to IV administration of daratumuemab with regardto the mtio of the two met the specified nonsinfencrity criterion for
rmurnab in combination with VRd was consistent with the the co-primary endpoints of overall respens e rate (ORR) and this co-primary endpoint. Mo new safety signals were detected,
safety profile for each therapy separately. Maamum Trough concentration (Co...) of daratumumab on day

1 of the third treatment cycle. The ORR for patients treated with ~ The U.S. FDA approved an update to the Prescribing Informa:

DARZALEX was approved a3 monatherapy in Ching for adult
patients with relapsed or refractory multiple myeloma.

Jurie: The U5, FDA approved the use of DARZALEX in combination
with Rd for the treatment of adult patients newly diagnosed with
multiple myeloma who are ineligible for ASCT. The sBLA was
submitted in March and the U S, FDA reviewed the application
for approval of thas sBLA under their RTOR pilot program,

April: The Phase L AURIGA (MMY3021) study was announced
to examine daratumumab plus lenalidomide as mai ce

Subl) darstumurnab was 41.1% versus 37.1% in patients
treated with IV daraturmumab, The lower imit of the 95%
Confidence Interval (CI) for the ratio of the two met the
specfied non-inferiority crterion for this co-primarny endpoint.

treatment in patients with newly diagnosed multiple
ryeloma and ufilizes the SubQ formulation of darsturnumab.
The first patient was dosed in June with enreliment puteon a
temporarily hold in September due to a U.5. FDA request for
additional infarmation related to analytical methods included
in the study protocol,

March: The Phase Il LYW (MMY20635) study of SubQ daratu-
mumab in combinatian with Kd compared to Kd in patients
with relapsed refractory multiple myeloma who were
previously treated with intravenaus (IV) daraturnumab was
published on www.clinicaltrials.gowv,

February: Topline results from the Phase 11l COLUMBA study
(MMY3012) of SubQ versus IV dartumumab for patients with

Management'sRedew | DARZALEX

tion for DARZALEX to provide healtheare professionals the
aption to split the firstinfusion of DARZALEX over two
consecutive days.

Dara b Collaboration with Janssen Biotech, Inc.

In 2012, Genmab and |anssen Biotach, Inc., one of the
lanssen Pharmaceutical Companies of johnson & Johnson,
entered a global license and development agreement far
daratumumab. Genmab received an upfront license fee

of USD 55 million and Johnson & |ohnson Development
Corporation (JDC) invested USD 80 million to subseribe
for 5.4 millian new Genmab shares, Genmab could also be
entitled to up to USD 1,015 million in development, reg-
ulatory and sales milestones, in addition to tiered double
digit royalties between 12% and 20%.

To date Genmab has recorded USD 835 million in mile-
stone payments from Janssen and could be entitled to

receive up tea USD 180 million in further payments if
certain additional milestones are met.

The fellowing royalty tiers apply for net sales in a calendar
year: 12% on net sales up to USD 750 million; 13% on net
sales between USD 750 million and USD 1.5 billion; 16%
on net sales between USD 1.5 billion and USD 2.0 billion;
18% on net sales between USD 2.0 billion and USD 3.0
billion; and 20% on net sales exceeding USD 3.0 billion.
lanssen is fully responsible for developing and commer-
cializing daratumumab and all costs associated therewith.




Daratumumab Development Covering All Stages
Of Multiple Myeloma - Key Ongoing Trials

Disease Stage Therapy Development Phase
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Daratumumab Development: Beyond Multiple Myeloma
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Arzerra
(ofatumumab)

First Genmab Created
Product on the Market

In Short

Human CO20 menoclonal antibody
commercialized by Novartis under a license
agreement with Genmab

-a

Arzerrais avallable for certaln CLLIndications
in the U.S,, Japan and certain other territories

*

2019 net sales of Arzemra by Novartis were
USD 17 millien

Managemant's Ravl e | Arzama

Arzerra (ofatumumab) is a human 1gG1k mAb that targets an
epitope on the CD20 molecule encompassing parts of the
small and large axtracellular loops. It & commerialized by
Nowartis under a license agreement between Genmab and
Mowvartis Phama AS (see Ofatumumab Collaboration with

In the U.5., Arzerm solutien for infusion is approved for

use in combination with chlorambucil for the treatment of
previously untreated patients with CLL for whom fludar-
bine-based therapy is considered inappropriate; for use in
combination with fludarabine and cyclophosphamide (FC) for
the treatment of patients with relapsed CLL; and for extended
treatment of patients who are in complete or partial response
after at least two lines of therapy for recurment or progeessive
CLL. Itis also indicated as monotharapy for the treatment

of patients with CLL who are refractory o fludarabine and
alemtuzumab, In 2019, the marketing authorization for
Arzerrawas withdrawn in the EU and several other territorias,
Arzermais commercially available in Japan as wellas in the
U.5. and certain other teritories.

Safety Information for Arzera

The overall safety profile of Arzerm in CLLis based on ex-
posune in clincal trials and the post-marketing sefting, The
maost comman side effects for Arrerm include adverse events
associated with infusio n reactions, cytopenias, and infec-
tiors (lwer respiratony Weact infection, ingluding preumonia,
upper res piratory tract infection, sapsis, including neutrope-
nic sepsis and septic shock, herpes viral infection, urinary
tract infection).




Please consult the ful U5, Pre bing rmation, includ-
ing Bowed Warning for all the labeled safety information for
ATZRITE,

Update from First Quarter te Third Quarter

pary: The marketing authonzation for Arzarra was with-
drawn in the EU and several other temito

25,

Ofatumumab Collaboration with Novartis
Pharma AG (Novartis)

Managemant's Raview | Arzarra




Proprietary Products
in Development

&

Tisotumab
vedotin

A Next Generation
Therapeutic

In Short

= Antibody-drug conjugate (ADC), an antibody cou- a Co-developed undera licenss and collaboration
pled to a cell-killing agent, in totreat ag nt with Seattle
solid tumors

.

Fhase || petential registration study in cervical
eancer ongoing, enrsllment completed; Phase ||
clinical studies in cwarian and other solid tumors
engeing

Tisotumab vedotin is an ADC targeted to tissue factor (TF), a
protein involved in tumor signaling and angiogenesis. Based
an its high expression on many solid tumors and its rapid
internalization, TF is a switable target for an ADC approach. Ti
sotumab vedotin is in clinical development for solid tumors,
Tisotumab vedotin it baing co-developed by Genrmab and Se.
attle Genetics, under an agreement inwhich the companies
chare all costs and profits for the product on a 50:50 basis.

Fourth Quarter Updates
D or: Data from the innovaTw 201 study was published
in Climical Coneer Researetl, published onling, December 3,
2014,

innovaly 205 trial updated to include an arm with weakly
monatherapy treatment.

Updates fram First Quarterto Third Quarter
1: Expansion phase initiated in innova TV 206 study of

tisotumab vedotin as monotherapy for patients in jJapan with
recument and for metastatic cervical cancer.

Warch: First patient was dosed in the Phase Ifll innovalV 206
study of lisolumab vedotin a5 monotherapy for patients in
Japan with recurrent and/or metastatic cervical cancer.

Patient enroliment was completed in the potential registra-
tion Fhase [1innovaTv 204 study of tisolumab wedotin as a
menotherapy for patients with recurent and/or metastatic
cervical cancer who have relapsed or progressed after stan
dand of care treatment.

n




Key Trials

Disgaze Stage Development Phase
) . Preelinical i i il u
Cervical cancer Recurrent o metastatic inmavalV 206 o
mnr:msu?c B | TV 205
Solid tumors Lecally advanced
or metastatic
Lecally advanced
or metatatic Japan)
Lecally advanced
oF metastatic
+ Fully recmited

Tisotumab vedotin Collaboration with Seattle Genetics, Inc.

In September 2010, Genmab and Seattle Genetics,
Inc. enterad into an ADC collabaration, and &
commercial license and collaboration agreement
was executed in October 2011, Under the agree-
rment, Genmab was granted rights to utilize Seafttle
Genetics” ADC technelogy with its human moneclo-
nal TF antibo dy. Seattle Genetics was granted
rights to exercise a co-development and oo-com-
mercialization option at the end of Phase | clinical
development for tisotumab vedotin.

sRedew |

In August 2017, Seattle Genetics exercised its
option to co-develop and co-commercialize
tisclumab vedolin with Genmab. Under the
agreement, Seattle Genetics and Genmab will each
be responsible for leading tisotumab vedotin
commercialization activities in certain tertories.
The companies are in discussions regarding the
terrms on which we will work together to commer-
cialize tisotumab vedatin, All costs and profits for
tisotumab vedotin will be shared on a 50:50 basis.

A B

About Cervical Cancer?

Cancer

that originates
in the cells lin-
ing the cervix.

65.8%

S-year survival
rate in the U.5.°

570,000

women estimated diagnosed with and 311,000 estimated to
have died from cervical cancer in 2018, the vast majority in
the developing world.?

13,170

women esti diag d vath and 4,250 esti dic
have died from cenvical cancer in the LS. in 2019.°

Sotires:
¥ Shalistics i of C =

R

* Mational Cances Institube SEER "Cancer Stat Facks; Cervical Cances,”
i hatgea | tatbac ts el cendo hitnal,

Aoomsed December 2003,
* dilabocan 2018, Word Fact Sheet. svaiable at hitp:/ fgoo i frf
i [Ractsheets| i e {00 workd-fact sheeets. pdf.
Aocessed December 2015,
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Enapotamab vedotin
A First-in-Class ADC
Targeting AXL

In Short

.

ADCin development to
treat selld tumors

-

Phase /Il clinical stedy
for multiple sclid tumors:
angoing

Enapetamab vedolin is an ADC targeted to AXL. 2
signaling molecule expressed on many solid cancers and
implicated in tumor biology. Enapatamab vedotin is fully
aowned by Genmab and the ADC technology used with
enapetamab vedotin was licensed from Seattle Genefics.
APhase |/l clinical study of enapotamab vedotin for
wrulti plie types of solid tumo s s ongolng.

Enapotamab Vedotin ADC Technology License from Seattle Genetics, Inc.

s Review |

Update from First Quarter to Third Quarter

September: Preliminary data from the non-small cell lung
cancer (NSCLE) expansion cohort of the Phasa 11l study
of enapotamab vedotin in solid tumors was presented
during an oral session at the International Association
for the Study of Lung Cancer 2019 World Conference on
Lung Cancer {IASLC 2019 WCLC).

El
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HexaBody-DR5/DR5 . Epcoritamab
e
e (GEN1029) | (DuoBody-CD3xCD20)
= i ey i
= First HexaBody Program A Proprietary
. s N . .
in Clinical Development Bispecific Antibody
HexaBody-DR5DRS (GEN1029) isa product comprising & Epcoritamab (DuoBody-CD3XCD20) is & proprietany
Il'l Short mixture of two non-competing HexaBody antibody male- ll'l Short bispecific antibody created using Genmab's DuoBody
+ Proprietary antibody cules that target two distinct epitopes on death regeptor + Proprietary bispecific technology. Epcaritamab targats CO3, which is expressed
therapeutic created with 5 (DRS), & cell surface receplor that mediates a process antibody created with on T-cells, and CD20, a clinically wellvalidated target. A
Genrasts HoxaBod called programmed cell death. Increased expression of Genmnb's Buofod Phase I/l clinical study of 2 SubQ formulation of
technology v DR5 has been reported in several types of tumors. technology ¥ epcoritamab in B-cell malignancies is ongoing.

= Composed of twonen-
eompeting HexaBody
antibody melecules that
target two distinct DRS
epitopes

.

Phase 1/11 clinical trial in
=olid tumers ongaing

A Phase |/ clinical tial in solid tumars ks ongaing.
Update from First Quarter to Thind Quarter

st: The Phasze I/l clinical trial was puton a brief
partial clinical hold for discussions with the U.5. FDA
areund liver boxicity, After the protocol was amended
with additional provisions o mitigate liver toxicity risk
the partial hold was lifted in October and enroliment of
patients was re-opanad.

s Review |

+ Phase 1/1l clinical trial
im B-cell malignancies
ongoing

Fourth Quarter update

C o1 Initial dose-escalation data from the Fhase If1
clinical frial was presented during an ol session of the &1st
American Society of Hematology (A5H) Annual Meeting.
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DuoBody-PD-L1x4-1BB
(GEN1046)

Bispecific Next
Generation Checkpoint
Immunotherapy
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DuoBody-CD40x4-1BB
(GEN1042)

Potential First-in-Class
Bispecific Agonistic
Antibody

In Short

= Bispecific antibody
created with Genmab's
DuoBody technology

= Fhase If1] clinical trial
In selid tumers engoing

= Dewveloped in collabo-

DuoBody-PD-L1x4 188 (GEN1046) is a proprietary bispe-
cific antibody, jintly owned by Genmab and BioNTech,
created using Genmab's DuoBody technology. It is being
co-developed by Genmab and BioNTech under an agnee-
ment in which the companies share all costs and profits
for the prod ucton a 50:50 basis. DuoBody-PD-Lixa-1BB
targets PO-L1 and &-1B8, selected to block inhibitory PD-1
f PDALY axis and simultaneously activate essantial co-stim-
ulatory activity via &-1BB using inert DuoBody antibody
format. A Phase IfIl clinical study of DuoBody-PO-L1xd-168
in solid turmars is ongoing.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quanter

May: First patient dosed in the first-in-human Phase 111 irial

rv: ACTA for DuoBody-PD-L1x4-1B8 was submitted to

ration with BleNTech
of DuoBody-FD-L1is-1BB in solid tumors.
Jan.
regulatory autharities in Spain.
3 Rl | ¥ ! Y BB

In Short

+ Bispecific antibody
created with Genmab's
DuoBody technolegy

* Fhase 111 clinical trial
In selid tumers engolng

* Developed in collabo
ration with BioNTech

DuoBody-CD40x4-1B8 (GEN1042) i a proprietary bis pe-
cific antibady, jintly owned by Genmab and BioNTech,
created using Genmab'z DuoBody technology. It is being
co-developed by Genmab and BioNTech under an agree-
et in which the companies share all costs and profits
forthe product on a 50:50 basis. CD40 and 4-1BE were
seler ted as targets to enhance both dendritic cells (DC)
and antigen-dependant T-call activation, using an inart
DuoBody format. A Phase |/l clinical study of DuoBody-
CD40x4-1B8 In solid tumors is ongelng.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

ber: First patient dosed in the fist-in-human Fhass If
i trial of DuoBody-C04 Cwa- 188 in solid tumors.

W ACTA for DuoBody-CDa0ws- 18E was submitted to
regulatory autherties in the UK
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Partner Programs
Built on Genmab’s
Innovation

In addition to our two approved
products in collaboration and six
proprietary clinical projects, our
collaboration partners are running
clinical development programs with
antibodies created by Genmab or
created using our DuoBody bispecific
antibody technology.

@ E L




Ofatumumab

(OMB157)

In Short

Ofatumumab is a human IgGlk mAb that
fargets an epitope on the D20 molecule
ing parts of the small and large

* Subcutaneous formula-
tion in development to
treat relapsing multiple
selerosis (RMS)

* Positive data available
from the two Phase Il
ASCLEPIOS studies with
SubqQ ofatumumab in
RMS

Based on ASCLEFIOS
data Novartis initiated
submission to U.5.
health authoritiesin
2019

P
extracellular loops. Itis developed by No-
vartis under a license agresment between
Genmab and Novartis Pharma AG (see
Ofatumumab Collaboration with Novartis
Pharraa AG section for more information).
A SubQ formulation of ofatumumab was
investigated in two Phase Hi clinical studies
in RMS. The studies compared the efficacy
and safety of Subd ofatumumab versus
tenflunomide in patients with RMS and
were comprised of approximately 900
patients each. & Phase |Il study examining
the long-temn safaty, tolerability and effec-
tiveness of afatumurnab in patients with
RMS3 who participated in a previous study
i omgoing as is a study to evaluate the big-
equivalence of 20mg of SubQ ofatumumab
injected by either pre-filled syringe or auto-
injectorin adult relapsing M5 patients.

Fourth Quarter Update

December: Novartis initisted submission of
an sBLA to 1.5, health authorities seeking
approval of the subcutaneous formulation
of efaturmumab,

Update from First Quarter to Third Quarter

August: Novartis reported that the Phase 1l
ASCLEPIOS | Bl studies of SubQ ofatu-

Management's Review | Partner Pograms

murnal versus teriflunomide in adults with
relapsing forms of multiple sclerosis met
the primary endpoints where ofatumumab
showed a highly significant and clinically
ful reduction in th berof
confirmed relapses, evaluated as the an-
nualized relapse rate (ARR). Key secondary
endpaints including delaying the time to
oonfirmed disability progression were also
met. According to Novartis, ofatumumab
delivered sustained efficacy and the safety
profile of ofatumumab as seen in the AS-
CLEPIOS studies is in line with the obser-
vations fram prior Phase |l results. Detailed
data from these studies was subsequently
presented at the 3 5th Congress of the Euro-
pean Cornmittes for Treatment and Research
in Multiple Sclerosis (ECTRIMS) in Septem-
ber. Patients with RMS on ofaturmumab
had a reduction in ARR by 50.5% (0,11 va.
0,22) and 58,5% (0,10 v 0.25) compared
to teriflunomide (Beth studies pa0.001)
in ASCLEFIOS | & |l studies respectively.
Regarding secondary endpaints of the tials,
ofatu mursab showed highly significant
suppression of gadolinium (Gd) enhancing
T1 lesions when compared to teriflunamide
demonstrating a profown d suppression of
new inflammatory activity, Ofsturnumab
showed a relative nsk reduction of 34.4%
in 3-month confimed disability worsening
(COW) (p=0.002) and 32.5% in 6-month
CDW (p=0.012) versus teriflunomide in
pre-specified pocled analyses,

About Multiple
Sclerosis

Chronic
disorder of the central
nervaus system that disrupts.
the normal functioning of
the brain, optic nerves and
spinal cord through inflam-
mafion and fissue loss.

85%

of M5 cases are relapaing
remitting multiple s derosis
(RRMS), characterized by
unpredictable recurrent
attacks.’

2.5M

peaple affected worldwide,

53,299

diagnosded incident cases MS in 2019inthe U5, |apan

and 5 major EU markets,’

Sources;

* Datamenitor. Multiple Sclemsis Tratment, Published fgut 2016
* Globallata, EprCast Repodt Multipe Sclemss - Epidemeokny forecst

b0 2026, Published Hovember 701 7.

* GlobalData, Mudtiple Sclemsis: Epidemiology Forecast o 2028,

Paiblished November 2019




@ Teprotumumab

In Short

+ Developed and man-
ufactured by Horlzon
Therapautics, ple
(Horizon) for thyrold
eye disease (TED)

+ In 2019 a BLA submit-
ted to the U.S. FDA by
Horizon for teprotu-
mumal in active TED
received Priority Review

Tepretumumab, approved by the .S, FOM

in January 2020 under the trade name
TEFEZZA™, is a fully human antibody that
targets the Insulin-like Growth Factor-1 Re-
ceptor, a well-validated target. TEPEZZA was
developed and is manufactured by Horizon.
Horizon submitted the BLA for TEPEZZA,
which received Priofity Review, Orphan Drug,
Fast Track and Breakthrough Therapy desig:
nations from the U.5. FDA for the treatment
of TED. The medicine was created by Genmab
under a collaboration with Roche and devel-
opment of the product is now being conduct:
&d by Horizon under a license from Rache,
Under the terms of Genmab's agreement
with Roche, Genmab will receive mid-single
digit royalties on sales of TEFEZZA.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

September: U.S, FDA granted Prionty Review
to the BLA submitted by Honizon fortepro-
tumurmab in the treatment of active TED,

The U.5. FDA assigned a Prescrption Drug
User Fee Act (PDUFA) target date of March

&, 2020 to take & decision on the BLA far
teprotumumab, The BLA was submitted to
the U5, FDA in july.

February: Topline results from the Phase

Wl confirmatory trial evaluating teprotumum-
ab for the treatment of active thyroid eye
disease showed that the study met

its primary endpoint.

@ HuMax-IL8

In Short

* Human antibady in devel-
apment by Bristol-Myers
Squibb (BMS-986253)

+ InPhase I/l development
n achanced cancers

HuMazx-ILE is & high affinity Fully human an-
tibedy directed towards IL-B. IL-B has been
shown to be invelved in several aspects of
tumor development including tumor spread
(metastasis), cancer stem cell renewal and
tumar immun e-suppression,

Management's Review | Partner Pmgrams

HuMax-ILE has been shown to inhibit
these processes and to inhibit tumaor
growth in p inical lumor models,
HuMax-ALE is in development for the
treatrent advanced cancers under an
agreement with Bristol-Myers Squibb,

R Bl

About Thyroid Eye
Disease (TED)

Vision-threatening
Rare, progressive and vision-threatening
autoimmune disease!

Associated with thyroid discase,
affecting the ocular and erbital tissues

50 %

Misalignment of the eyes (strabismus) and
deuble vision (diplopia) are reported in about
50% of people with TED*

Annual incidence
is approximately 3 cut of 100,000 men
and 16 out of 100,000 womnen’

Souiroes:
+ Barrio- Bamio |, et al, Gerves:" Opbthalmopathy: VISA
EUGOGO Clissifeati il M
agesvee, Jomal o Ophtkalenapathy, 7015201 5116,
* Horizon Thempeutics, Understanding Thymid By
nithee pentics, cony
Acoessed Febnsiry 2020
* Bahin ¥, Grvess' ophehalmopathy, NEngl] Med.
H00:362:7 26,736




Camidanlumab
tesirine
(ADCT-301)
In Short
* ADCIn D under a collaboration and
license ith ADC.
+ In devel for Hodgkin ly and
solid tumors

Camidanurnab tesinne is an ADC that combines
Genmab's HuMax-TAC antibody and ADC Therapeu-
tics’ PBD-based warhead and linker technology.
Camidanumab fesinine targets CD25, whichis
expressed on avanety of hematological tumars
and shows limited expression on nommal tissues,
wxcept for regulatory Toells, which are known to be
immunasuppressive, This makes CD25 an aftrac-
tive target for antibody-payload approaches in he-
rmatological and solid turors, Camidanlurmab tesir
ineis in clinical development under a Collaberation
and License Agreement between Genmab and ADC
Therapeutics, under which Genrmab owns 25% of
the preduct rights. A Phase Il study of camidanlum-
ab tesifine to treat relapsed or refractory Hodgkin
lymphoma and a Phase | study of camidanlumab
Eesirine o treat solid tumars are ongoing.

Update from First Quarter 1o Third Quarter
August: A Phase [I trial of camidanlumal tesirine

in patients with relapsed or refractory Hodgkin
bymphoma was published on ww.clinicaltrals gov.

Management's Review | Partner Pograms

Erj JNJ-61186372

In Short

* DucBody product targeting EGFR and e MET
* Phase ] and |1l studies ongoing in NSCLC

= Developed by Janssen under the DuoBody
technology collaboration

IN|-61186372 is a bispecific antibody that targets
EGFR and cMET, two validated cancer targets. INJ-
61186372 was created under a collaboration be-
tween Genmab and janssen using Genmab's Duo-
Body technology. The two antibodies used to gen-
erate |N|-61186372 ware both created by Genmab.
Janssen is investigating IN}-61186372 in Phase |
and Ifl clinical studies for the treatment of NSCLE.

Faurth Quarter Update

October: Genmab achieved a milestone payment
for progress with the program.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarber
September: A Phase | study in combination with

lazertinib in lapanese patients with advanced
NSCLE published on v

inicaltnals gov,

|une: Updated data from Phase | study in NSCLC
preseated in an oral sesaion at 2019 ASCO
Annual Meeting.

R B
@ JN)-63709178

In Short

* DucBody product targeting CD123 and CD3
+ Phase | study In relapsed of refractory AML

* Developed by Janssen under the DuoBody
technology collaboration

INJ-63700178 is a bispecific antibody that
targets CO3, which is expressed on T-cells, and
CD123, which is overexpressed in various hema-
tolegic malignancies. |N|-63709178 may redirect
T-cells, resulting in T-cell mediated killing of
D123+ acute myeloid leukermia (AML) cells.
INJ-6370017E was created by lanssen using
Genmab's DucBody technology. IN|-62709178

is being investigated in a Phase | clinical study
for the treatrment of AML.

a1




@ JNJ-64007957

In Short

* DuoBody product targeting BCMA and CD3

+ Phaze | studies In multiple myeloma an-
nounced and ongoing

+ Developed by Janssen under the DucBody
technology collaboration

|N]-64007 957 is & bispecific antibody that
targets BCMA, which is expressed in mature B
lymphocytes, and C03, which is expressed on
T-cells. IMI-65007957 was created by lanssen
using Genmab's DuoBody technalogy. IN)-
GA0OTH5T is being investigated in Phase |
elinical studies for the treatment of multiple
myeloma.

Update from First Quarter to Thind Quarter

September: Phase Ib trial (MMY1002) of SubQ
daratumumab in combination with either |4
S5407565 or JN]-64007957 for patients

with multiple ryeloma published on
wearw.clinicaltrials.gow.

Management's Review | Partner Pograms

Erj INJ-64407564

In Short

* DuoBody preduct targeting CD3 and GPRC5D

* Phase | studies in multiple myeloma
announced and ongoing

= Developed by Janssen under the DucBody
technology collaboration

IN|-64407564 is & bispecific antibody that
targets CO3, which is expressed on T-cells, and
GPRCSD, which is highly expressed on multiple
myelama cells, IN|-64407 564 was created by
Janssen using Genmab”s DuoBody technology.
IN|-64407564 is being inve stigated in Phase

| clinical studies for the treatment of multiple
myeloma.

Update from First Quarter bo Third Quarter

September: Phase Ib trial (MMy1002) of SubgQ
daratumumab in combination with either |NJ-
64507564 ar |N|-64007 957 for patients

with multiple myeloma published on
www.clinicaltrials.gov.

R B L
@ JNJ-67571244

In Short

* DucBody product targeting CD33 and CD3

# In Phase | study for relapsed or refractory
AML or MDS:

» Developed by Janssen under the DuoBody
technology collaboration

INJ-67571244 is & bispecific antibody that
targets CD3, which is expressed on T-cells and
CD32, which is frequently expressedin AMLand
myeladysplastic syndrome (MDS), JM]-67571244
was created under a collaboration between
Genmab and |anssen using Genmab's DucBody
technology. INJ-67 571244 is being investigated
ina Phase | clinical study to treat relapsed or
refractory AML or MD5.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

luly: Genmab achieved a milestone payment for
progress with the pragram.

May: A Phase | study of IN|-67571244 in re-
lapsed ar refractory AML or MDS was initiated.




@ JN)-63898081

In Short

* DuoBody product targeting PSMA and CD3
+ I Phase | study for advanced solid tumors

+ Developed by Janssen under the DuoBody
technology collaboration

IN|-63898081 is a bispecific antibody that tar-
gets D3, which is expressed on T-cells and pros-
tate-specific membrane antigen (PSMA), which is
highly expressed on prostate adenocarcinomas.
N)-£3B5E081 was created under a collaboration
between Genmab and Janssen using Genmab's
DuoBodytechnology. |N|-63808081 is being
investigated in a Fhase | clinical study to treat
advanced solid tumars.

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

July: Genmab achieved a milestone payment
for progress with the program.

April: A Phase | study of |N]-638%8081 in ad-

vanced solid tumars was published on
weww.clinicaltnials.gow.

Management's Review | Partner Pograms

Erj Lu AF82422

In Short

* Human anti ing alph lel

# Phase | study in healthy volunteers and
patients with Parkinson’s disease

* Developed under a vith
Lundbeck

Lu AF82422 is a human antibody that targets
alpha-synuclein, a protein that is linked to
Parkinson's disease. Lu AFS2422 targets the un-
derlying biclogy of Parkinson's disease and aims
to treat the disease by slowing or stopping the
disease progression. Lu AFB2422 was invented
by Lundbeck in collaboration with Genmab. Lu
AFB2422 is being investigated in a Phase | clini-
cal study in both healthy volunteers and patients
with Parkinsen's disease.

R E L

Pre-clinical
Programs

In Short

* Broad pre-clinical pipeline of approximately
20 programs including DucHexaBody-CD37,
HexaBody-CD38 and DuoBody-CD3x5T4

Pre-clinical pipeline includes both partnered
products and in-house programs based an our
proprietary technologies

Multiple new Imvestigational New Drug
Applications (INDs) expected to be submitted
over coming years

In 2019 entered multiple strateglc
collaberations to support the expansion
of Genmab's innovative pipeline

Our pre-clinical pipeline includes naked antibodies,
immune effector function enhanced antibodies de-
veloped with our HexaBady technobagy, and bispe-
cific antibodies created with our DuoBody platform.
Anumber of the pre-clinical programs are carmed out
in conperation with our collaboration partners.

Fourth Quarter Updates

December: Entered into a strategic partnership
with CureVac AG that will combine CureVac's mRMA
technology and know-how with Genmab's propri-
etary anfibody technologies and expertise in arder
te develop differentiated mRNA-based antibody
products.




Under the terms of the agreement Genmab will provide
CureVac with a USD 10 million upfrant payment. Genmab will
also make a EUR 20 million equity investment in CureVac. The
companies will collaborate on research to identify an initial
product candidate and CureVac will contribute a portion of the
overall costs forthe development of this product candidate,
up to the time of an IND. Genmab would thereafter be fully
rasponsible for the development and commercialization of the
potential product, in exchange for undisclosed milestones
and tiered royalties to CureVac. The agreement also includes
thres additional options for Geamab to obtain commercial
licenses to CureVac's mRMA technobogy at pre-defined terms,
exercisable within a five-year period. If Genmab exercises any
of these options, it would fund all res earch and would
develop and commercialize any resulting product candidates
with CureVac eligible ta receive between USD 275 million and
USD 368 million in development, regulatory and commercial
milestone payments for each product, dependent on the
specific product concept. In addition, CureVacis eligible to
receive tiered royalties in the range frorm mid-single digits up
ta low double digits per product. CureVac would retain an
option to participate in development and/or commercializa-
tion of one of the potential additional programs under
pre-defined terms and conditions.

The first presentation of pre-clinical data for HexaBady-CD38
occurred al the £1st ASH Annual Meeting.

Hovernber: IND was filed for DuoHexaBody-CD37.
The first presentation of pre-clinical data for Ducbody-CD3x5T4

occurred atthe 4th Society for Immunotherapy of Cancer
Annual Meeting.

sRevdew | agrams

Updates from First Quarter to Third Quarter

September Entered inte a strategic collaboration agreement
with Tempus, building upon existing service agreements
between the cornpanies. Under the terms of the agreement,
the companies will also jointly work on research projects that
are identified by Genmab to explore novel product concepts
and bi rkers, For any Iting prod Genrmab will lead
all developmentand commercial activities. Tempus will be
eligible for undisclosed milestones and royalties from
Genmab and will alse have the option to fund partof product
development programs in exchange for increased royalty
payments due to Tempus under the agreement.

03: Two antibody research programs at Gilead Sciences, Inc.,
which incorporated Genmab's DucBody technology, were
concluded and the underying Research Evaluation Agree-

antibody preduct incorporating Genmab’s HexaBody
technology. Genmab will fund research and development
activities until completion of clinical procf of concept studies
in multiple myeloma and diffuse large B-cell lymphoma.
Eased on the data from these studies, Janssen may exercise
its option and receive a worldwide license to develop,
manufacture and commercialize HexaBody-CO38. Should this
oceir, Janssen will pay Genmab & USD 150 million option
exercise fee and up to USD 125 million in development
milestones, as well as a flat royalty rate of 20% on sales of
HexaBody-CO38 until a speafied time in 2031, followed by
13-20% tiered royalties on sales thereafter. Should lanssen
not exercise its option, the terms of the agreement allow
Genmab to continue to develop and commercialize Hexa-
Body-CD38 for DARZALEX-resistant patients, and in all other
indications except those multiple myeloma or amyloidosis
indications where DAREALEX is either approved or is being

ments, signed in 2014 and 2016, were terminated.

July: Entered into an agreement with BIINK Biomedical for an
exclusive commercial license to certain antibodies targeting
CD47, for potential development and commercialization inte
nowvel bispecific therapeutics created via Genmab®s propri-
etary DuoBody Platform technalogy. Under the terms of the
agreement, Genmab paid BliNK Biomedical an upfront fee of
USD 2,25 million, BlINK Biomedical is also eligible to receive
up to approximately USD 200 million in development,
regulatory and commercial milestone payments for each
product, a4 well a3 tiered royalties on net sales,

June: Entered into exclusive worldwide license and option
agreement with [anssen to develop and commercialize
HexaBody-CD38, a next-generation human €038 monaclonal

actively developed. The agreement is the cutcome of
pre-clinical research on novel CD38 targeting concepts
conducted by Genmab. HexaBody-CD38 showed encouraging
in witro complement-dependent cytotoxicity (CDC) activity in
B-cell lymphoma and leukemia, including for cells with lew
CO38 expression levels. HexaBody-CD38 also showed similar
antibody-dependent cellular cytatoxicity (ADCC) in viltro
compared to daratumumab.




(O Antibody Technologies

Antibodies are Y-shaped proteins that play a central role
in immunity against bacteria and viruses (also known as
[ As we develop i ity, our bodies genemte
antibodies that bind to pathogen structures (known as anti-
gens), which are specific to the pathogen. Once bound, the
antibodies attract other parts of the immune system to elim-
inate the pathogen. In modem medicine, we have leamed
o to create and develop specific antibodies against

tig ated with di human cells for use in
the treatrent of diseases such as cancer and autoimmune
disense. Genmab uses seveml types of technologies to create
antibodies to treat disease and has developed proprietary
antibody technologies including the DucBody, HexaBody,
DusHexaBady and HexElect platforms. Infarmation abaut
these technologies can be found in the following sections
and at http: ww.genmab. com research-and-technology/
genmab-technology.

We also use or license several othertechnologies to gener-
ate diverse libraries of high quality, functional antibodies
such as the Omnifb® transgenic mouse and rat platforms
from Ligand Fharmaceuticals, Inc. We also use or license
technologies to increase the potency of some of our antibody
therapeutics on a product-by-product basis such as the ADC
technology from Seattle Genetics. ADCs are antibodies with
potent cytotoxic agents coupled to them. By using antibodies
that recognize specific targets on tumor cells, these cytotoxic
agents are preferentially delivered to the tumor cells.

sReview | Antibody

Platform Principle Applications
DuoBody Bispecific antibodies. Dual-targeting:
LY [ 4 = Recruitment (e.g., T cells)
* Tumor heterogeneity
HexaBody lﬂf}' Target-mediated enhanced Enhanced potency:
hexamernization = Complement-dependent
%Egl; cytotonicity (CDC)
LGl = Target clustering,
outside-in signaling,
apoptosis.
DuoH exaBody Lﬂf‘u Bispecific antibodies with Dualfargeting + enhanced
@ @ target-mediated enhanced potency:
(JD hexamerization + DL
iy * Target clustering,
outside-in signaling,
apoptosis
HexElect Two co-dependent antibod- Dual-targeting + enhanced
ies with target-mediated potency and selectivity:

enhanced hexamerization

= Co-dependent unlocking
of potency

* MNew target space,
previously inaccessible

45




DuoBody Platform

The innovative DucBody technology platform generates
bispecific antibodies via a fast, versatile, and broadly
applicable process, called contrelled Fab-arm
exchange. With only minimal protein engineering the
technology allows the binding arms of two distinct
rmonaclonal antibodies to exchange, combining into
one stable bispecfic antibody, thereby retaining
regular immunoglobulin structure and function. The
DuoBody platform is also highly suitable for high
throughput generation, screening, and discovery of
bispecific antibodies in the final format.

AP

s Redew |

DuoBody Platform

Innovative Technology

for

Bispecific Antibody Therapeutics

In short

™

Bispecific antibody
tech nology platform

Patential in cancer,
autoimmune, infectious,
cardiovascular, central
nervous system diseases
and hemophilla

Commercial collabo-
rations with Janssen,
BloNTech, Nove Nordisk
and BliNK Blomedical plus
multiple research collab-
orations

The DuoBody platform is Genmab's innova-
tive platform for the discovery and develop-
ment of bispecific antibadies, Bispecific
antibodies bind to two different epitopes (or
“docking™ sites) eitheron the same, oron
different targers (also known as dual-target-
ing). Dualtargeting may improve binding
specificity and enhance thermpeutic efficacy
orbring two different cells together (for
example, engaging aT cellto kill a tumor
cell). Bispecific antibodies generated with
the DuoBody platform can be used for the
development of therapeutics for diseases
such as cancer, autoimmune, infectious,
cardiovascular, and central nervous system
diseases, and hemophilia, DucBody
rvolecules combine the benefits of bispeci-
figity with the strengths of conventional
antibodies, which allows DeoBody mole-
cules to be administered and dosed the
same way a3 other antibo dy thempeutics.

Genmab®s DuoBody platform generates
bispecific antibodies via a versatile and
breadly applicable process which is sasily
performed at high throughput, standard
bench, as well as commercial manufacturing
acale. Genmab uses the DuoBody platform to
create its own bispecific antibody programs
and the technology is also available for
licensing. Genmab has numerous alliances
for the DucBody platform including commer-
cial collaborations with lanssen, Nows
Nordisk, BioNTech and BliNK Biomedical.




Commercial
DuoBody
Product
Collaborations
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Janssen Biotech, Inc.

InJuly 2012, Genmab entered into a collaboration with |ans-
sen Biotech, Inc. to create and develop bispecific antibodies
using our DuoBody platform. Under this original agreement,
lanssen had the night to use the DuoBody technalogy to
create panels of bispecific antibodies {up to 10 DuoBody
pregrams) to mulfiple disease target combinations. Genmab
received an upfront paym ent of USD 3.5 million from Jans-
senand will potentially be entitled to milestone and license
payments of up to approximately WSD 175 million, &s well
as royalties for each commercialized DucBody product.

Urnder the terms of & December 201 3 amend ment, |ams-

sen was entitled to work on up to 10 additional programs.
Genmab received an initial payment of USD 2 million from
lanssen, Under the terms of the ariginal agreement, for
each of the additional programs that Janssen successfully
initiates, develops and commercializes, Genmalb will paten-
tially be entitled to receive average milestone and license
payments of approximately USD 151 million. In addition,
Genmab will be entitled to royalties an sales of any commer-
cialized products. All research work is funded by |anssen.

As of December 31, 2018, Janssen had exercised 14
licenses under this collaboration. Mo further options remain
for use by Janssen, As of December 31, 2019, six DuoBody
product candidates created under this collabomtion were in
the clinic.

BioNTech

In May 2015, Genmab entered an agreement with BioNTech
AG to jointly research, develop and commercialize bispecific
antibody products using Genmab's DuoBody technology
platform, Under the terms of the agreement, BioNTech will
provide proprietany antibodies against key immunomod-
ulatory targets, while Genmab provides antibodies and
access to its DucBody technology platform, Genmab paid an
upfront fee of USD 10 million to BioNTech and an additicnal
USD 2 raillion (out of a potential of USD 5 million) as certain
BioNTech assets were selected for further development.
IFthe companies jointly select any product candidates

for clinical development, development costs and product
ownership will be shared equally going forward. If one of the
companies does not wish to move a product candidate for-
ward, the other company is entitled to continue developing
the product on predetermined licensing terms. The agree-
ment alse includes provisions which will allow the parties

to opt out of joint development at key points. Genmab and
BioNTech have selected two product candidates for clinical
development, DuoBody-CD40x4-18B (GEN1042) and
DuoBody-FO-L1x4-166 (GEN10&6), both of which are now in
Phase I clinical tnals.
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Novo Nordisk

In August 2015, Genmab entered an agreement to grant Novo:
Mordisk commercial licenses to use the DuoBody technology
platform to create and develop bispecific antibody candidates
For two th ic prog The bispeafic antibodies will
targeta disease area outside of cancer therapestics. Underthe
temns of the agreement, Genmab received an upfront payment
of USD 2 million from Nowo Mordisk. After an initial penod of

BliNK Biomedical

In July 2019, Genmab entered into an agreement with BIINK
Biomedical for an exclusive commercial license to certain
antibodies targeting (04T, for potential development

and commercialization inte novel bispecific therapeutics
created via Genmab's proprietary DucBody Platform tech-
nology. Under the terms of the agreement, Genmab paid
BliMK Biomedical an upfrant fee of USD 2.25 million. BINK

exclusivity for both target inations, Novo Nordisk has

also eligible to receive up to approximately

extended exclusivity of the commerzial Beense for one targst
combination in 2018, Under the exclusive license agreermnent,
Genmab is entitled to potential development, regulatory and
3ales milestones of up to appeoxirmately USD 250 million. In
addition, Genmab will be entitled to single-digit royalties on
sales of any commercialized products. In December 2017, the

llabarstion was to include a itional five po-
tential target pair combinations and three commerdial license
options. Genmab received an upfront payment of USD 2 million
fromm Novo Nordisk and will be entitled to milestones and single
digit royalties on eventual product sales. The first clinical trial
For Mim&, a DuaBody product candidate for hemophilia being
developed by Movo Nordisk under this collaboration, was pub-
lished on v .clinicaltrials.gov in December,

sRevdew | lati

USD 200 million in development, regulatory and commer-
cial milestone payments for each product, as well as tiered
royalties on net sales.
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*¢*Hexa

HexaBody Platform
Creating Differentiated
Therapeutics

In Short

+ Enhanced potency anti-
body technology platform

+ Broadly applicable
technology that builds
on natural antibody
biology

+ Flist HexaBody prod uct
in elinical development

- HexaBody-DRE/DRS

The HexaBody technology platform is a pro-
prietary Genmab technology that is designed
toincrease the patency of antibodies, The
HexaBody platform builds en natural biclogy
and strengthens the natuml killing ability of
antibodies while retaining regular structure
and specificity. The technology allows for the
«creation of potent therapeutics by inducing
antibody hexamer formation (clusters of
sixantibodies) after binding to theirtarget
antigen on the cell surface. We have used
the HexaBody platform to generate antibod-
ies with enhanced complement-mediated
killing, allowing antibodies with limited or
absent killing capacity to be transformed
into potent, cytotoxic antibodies, In addi-
tion to complement-mediated killing, the
clustenng of membrane receptors by the
HexaBody platform can lead to subsequent

Management's Review | HexaBody Platform

outside-in signaling (e.g. in the case of

our HexaBody-DRS/DRS product) leading

to cell death. The HexaBody technology
creates opportunities to explore new product
candidates, to repurpose drug candidates
unsuccessful in previous clinical trials due

to insufficient potency, and may provide a
useful strategy in product life cycle manage-
ment. The HexaBody technology is broadly
applicable and can be combined with
Genmab's DuoBody platform (DuoH exaBody
platfarm) as well as other antibody technol-
agies. The technology has the potential to
enhance antibody thempeutics for a broad
mange of applications in diseases such as
cancer and infectious diseases. Genmab in-
tends to use the HexaBody technelogy for its
own antibody programs and the technolegy
15 also available for licensing. In addition to

multiple HexaBody research collaborations
with ether companies, Genrmab has entered
into an exclusive worldwide license and op-
tion agreement with Janssen to develop and
commercialize HexaBody-CD28, a next-

generation C038 monoclonal antibady prod-

uct incorporating the HexaBody technology.

E
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The HexaBody platform is an innovative approach for the creation
of potent therapeutics. It builds on recent insights in the natural
biology of antibodies. The technology enhances the ordered
clustering of antibodies into hexamers after they bind to their
target cells. This biological mechanism can be exploited to robustly
enhance cell Killing via complement-dependent cytotoxicity

(CDC) or agonist outside-in signaling induced by clustering. The
HexaBody platform can be combined with Genmab’s DuoBody
platform as well as with other antibody technologies.
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DuoHexaBody Platform
Combining Dual-Targeting
and Enhanced Potency

In Short

+ Antibedy technelogy
that combines DuoBody
and HexaBody platforms

+ Creates bispecific
antibodies with target-
mediated enhanced
potency

# First IND for a DuoHexa-
Body product candidate,
DucHexaBody-CD3T,
submitted in 2019

The DucHexaBody platform is a proprietany
technalogy that combines the dual-targeting
of our DuoBody technology with the enhanced
potency of our HexaBody technology, creating
bispecific antibodies with targat-mediated
enhanced hexamerization. We currently have
one proprietary bispecific antibody product
cregted with DuoHexaBody technology,
DuoHexaBody-CD37 with potential in
hematological malignancies, Following an
IND filing in November, DusHexaBody-CD37
is antici pated to be in the clinic in 2020,
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HexElect Platform
Enhancing Selectivity
and Potency

In Short

+ Antibedy technology
platform inspired by
the HexaBody platform

+ Combines dual-targeting
with enhanced selectivity
and patency

The HexElect antibody platform is Genmab's
newest proprietary technology. This tech-
nology combines two HexaBody molecules
designedto effectively and selectively hit
only those cells that express both targets by
making the activity of complexes of HexaBody
molecules dependent an their binding to

two different targets on the same cell. The
HexElect platform maximizes efficacy while
minimizing possible toxicity, patentially lead-
ing to more potent and safer products.

Management's Review | HexElect Platform
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Commitment to Building a Sustainable
and Socially Responsible Biotech

The Board of Directors and Senior Leadership at Genmab

are comrnitted to Genmab®s business-driven CSR strategy

as well as its efforts to build a sustainable organization that
meets environmental, social and governance (ESG) criteria of
relevance toits business opemtions,

Genmab’s activities are anchored in the company’s core
purpose “to Improve the lives of patients by creating and
develaping innovative antibody products,” thus creating
walue over the long term not anly forits employees and
shareholders, but also for patients who may benefit from
Genmab's innovation, Through our reports on Govemance,
C5R, and Compensation, Genmab has established a
framewark to set goals and track our parformance against
these goals. As the reporting of sustainability metrics
continues to evolve over the years, Genmab has and will
continue to adapt and improve its metrics and disclosures.
A3 a leading intemational bistechnology company, Genmab
has high standards for reporting requirements. Genmab’s
core values and vision are the foundation for its commitment
to building a sustainable and socially responsible biatech
company.

Below are some examples of Genmab's C5R & ESG initiatives:

Commitment to Business Ethics

Commitment to the Environment

Commitment te Transparency

Genmal adherss il Code of Business.
Conduct and Ethics which sats high ethical
standards of all Genmab smplogess and
th Bosared of Dinectors, and promates s
enforces the principles asound anti-bribery
and anbl-comeption; hitps
code b pavd et ethics

The

carrd of Directoss has established and
appointed a Compensation Commiltes
Audit and Finance Commities, o Hominating
and Corpomte Govermance Commities and a
Scientific Committes.

Committed o developing 2 rmune rtion
policy that incorporates enduring memu
nertion principles and & responsive to
shareholder concems., View the Genmab
Compes

abic R poat: ittps: | fingenmsl

‘Cop e AT
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and Sockally

Genmab facilities are equipped with BREEAN
(Building Researh Establish ment Emviron
mental Assessment Method) certifications
oFvarious grades.

First laboratodies inthe Netherdands to obtain
@ BREEAM Excellent centification.

Facilities in Benmark have o BREEAM Vo
Good ceni jon and the futu
have a Leadership in Energy and Emviron-
mental Design (LEED) Silver cartification,

The peoducts and conduct of noa-dinical and
clindcal trials met Danish, European, US mnd
lapanese regulations including intemations|
negquirerments (OECOSICH).

Genmiab is committed o diversity atall lewels
of thi comgianmy and stives 1o necnsit and
retain employees with the ight skills and
campatences, regardiess of gender, natio-
wality and ather

EICES.

594 1% aF waormsn and men in the workplace
52% of womsen emphoyees dinscor bevel

and atve

37.5% of wamen in senior leadership roles
1/ % Waormen Board of Directors

47 Mationalities
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Corporate
Governance

Genmab works diligently to improve its guidelines and
pelicies for corporate governance taking into account the
recent trends in international and domestic requirements
and recormmendations. Genmab's commitrment te corporate
governance is based on ethics and integrity and forms the
basis of its effort to strengthen the confidence that existing
and future shareholders, partaers, ermployees and other
stakeholders have in Genmab. The role of shareholders

and their interaction with Genmab is important. Genmab
ackpowledges that open and transparent cormmunication is
necessary to maintain the confidence of Genmab™s share-
holders and achieves this through company announcements,
invesior meetings and company presentations. Genmahb is
committed to providing reliable and transparent information
about its business, financial results, development programs.
and scientific results in a clear and timely manner,

All Danish companies listed on the Nasdaq Copenhagen are
required to disclose in their annual reports how they address
the Recommendations for Corporate Govemanee issued by
the Committee on Corporate Governance in Movember 2017,
ithe “Recommendations™) applying the “comply-or-explain®™
principle.,

Genmab follows the vast majonty of the Recommendations,
although specific sub-areas have been identified where
Genmab’s corporate gowernance principles differ from the
Recommendations as follows:

+ The Recommendations provide that according to a compa-
fy's takeaver contingency procedures, the board
of directors shall not attempt to counter a takeover bid

Management'sReview | Corperate Governance

withoutthe acceptance of the general meeting. Genmab
does not have such a restriction in its takeover contingency
procedures and retains the right in certain circumstances to
reject takeover bids without consulting the sharehaolders,
Genmab bielieves this provides the Board of Directors with
the needed lexibility to best respond to takeover bids and
to negotiate with bidders. Actions will be determined ona
case-hy-case basis with due consideration to the inferests
ofthe sharehelders and other stakehold,

The Recommendations provide that remuneration of the
board members shall notinclude share options. However,
Genmab®s compensation of the board members includes
restricted stock wnits (RSUa), which, like share aptions, are
oonsidered a form of equity compensation. Equity compen-
safion constitutes a common partof the compensation paid
to members of the board of directors in competing interna-
tional biotech companies., This is supported bya bench-
mark analysis conducted in 2019 by an independent
cempensation consultant, To remain competitive in the
international market and to be able to attract and retain
qualified members of the Board of Directars, itis consid-
ered in the bestintersst of Genmab to follow this practice,
whidh we believe is aligned to sence the shareholders®
long-term interests, Furthermare, to ensure the Board of
Directors’ independence and supenisary function, vesting
of R5Us granted to members of the Board of Directors shall
Aot be subject to fulfilment of forvardloaking perfarmance
criteria, To address concerns. raised by shareholders and
their representatives that continued service as a vesting
condition far RSU awards to members of the Board of
Directors could be a disincentive for such members to

express dissenting views and to ensure that the indepen-
dence of the memb ers of our Board of Directors cannot be
questioned, the Board of Directors is considering to amend
the BSU program.

The Recommendations provide that the total value of the
rermuneration relating to the notice perod, including
severance pay, does not excesd two years of remunera-
tion, including all compeonents of the remuneration. In the
event Genmab terminates the serice agreements with
each member of the Executive Management team without
cause, Genmab is cbliged to pay the Executive Manage-
ment member his fher existing salary (including benefits)
for one or two years after the end of the one year notice
period. Also, in the event of termination by Genmalb
funless for cause) or by & mernber of the Executive
Management as a result of a change of control of Genmab,
Genmab is obliged to paya member of the Executive
Management compensation equal to his her exi sting total
salary (including benefits and a bonus) for up to two years
in addition to the notice period. It furthemare follows
from Genmab®s warrant and R3U programs thet, in certain
“good leaver” situations, cutstanding warrants and R5Us
awarded under these programs will continue to vest,
Depending on the circumstances, one of the aforemen-
tioned events, or a combination thereof, could patentially
make the termination payments exceed two years of
rermuneration,

Genmab publishes its statutory report on Corporate Gover
nance for the financial year 2019 ¢f. Section 107 b afthe
Danish Financial Statements Act (“Lovpligtig redegarelse
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For wirk hedsledelse jf. & kabsl §107 b7
on the company’s website, including a detailed description
of the Board of Directors’ consideration in respect of all
the Recommendations. The statutory report on Corporate
Governance can be found on Genmab®s website hitps://
ir.genmab.com/corperate-governan ce,

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of Directors plays an active role within Genmab in
setting the strategies and goals for Genmab and monitoring
the operations and results of the company. Board duties
include establishing policies for stmtegy, accounting,
organization and finance, and the appointment of Executive
Management members, The Board of Directors also assesses
Genmab's capital and share structure and is respansible for
approving share issues and the grant of wamrants and RSUs.

BOARD COMMITTEES
To support the Board of Directors in its dufies, the Board of
Directors has established and appeinted a Compensation
Committee, an Audit and Finance Committee, a Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committes and a Scientific
Committes, These committees are charged with reviewing
issues pertaining to their respective fields that are due to be
considered at board mestings. Written charters specifying
the tasks and responsibilities far each of the i

GUIDELINES FOR INCENTIVE REMUNERATION

Pursuant to the previous section 139 of the Danish Compa-
nies Act (in Danish “Selskabsloven™), the board of directors
was required, before the company entered into a specific
incentive payment agreement with a memberof the board of
directors or executive management, to lay down general
guidelines governing the company®s incentive remunerstion
of such member. The general guidelines are included in the
Remuneration Principles for the Board of Directors and the
Executive Management which have been considered and
adopted at Genmab's annual general meeting. The Remuner
ation Principles can be found in their full length on our
website worw.genmab,com, The guidelines were adapted at
the 2008 annual geneml meeting and most recently amend-
#d by the annual general meeting of the company in 2019, All
incentive payments are carried out in accordance with
Genmab's Remuneration Principles.

In accordance with the newly implemented sections 139 and
139 of the Danish Companies Act, Genmab has prepared a
Rernuneration Policy regarding the remuneration of Genmab®s
Board of Directors and Executive Management. The Bemuner-
ation Policy will be presented to the shareholders and
proposed to be adopted at the Annual General Meeting in
2020, Upen ad: the R Pelicy will supersed
the Principles.

are available on Genmab's website www.genmab com.
Formare details an the work and composition of the Board

of Directors and its cormmittees, reference is made to the

statutory report on Corparate Governance.

Management'sRevew | Corperabe Governance

Compensation Report

In ce with the Genmab has
prepared a compensation report for the financial year 2019
that includes infarrmation an the total remuneration received

by each member of the Board of Directors and the Executive
Management from Genmab A5 and other group companies
for the last three years, including information on the maost
impertant content of retention and resignation armangements
and the correlation between the remuneration and company
strategy and relevant related goals (the “Compensation
Repart”™). The Compensation Report can be found on Genmab®s
website hitps://irgenmab.com/corporate-governance.

DISCLOSURE REGARDING CHANGE OF CONTROL

The Danish Financial Statements Act (Section 107 a) contains
rules relating to listed compani es with respect to certain
disclasures that may be of interest to the stock market and
potential takeover bidders, in particular in relation to
disclasure of change of control provisions.

For infermaticn an change of control clauses in our collaboration,
development and license agreements as well as certain senvice
agreements with the Executive Management and erployees,
please refer to note 5.5, Change of contrel clauses related to
our warrant and RSU programs are outlined in note 4.6,

Maore information on share capital is included in note &.7.
Unless etherwise provided in the Danish Companies Act, the
adoption of any resolution to amend Genmab Af5" articles of
association shall be subject to the affirmative wote of not less
than two thirds of the votes cast as well as of the voting share
capital représented at the general meeting, Genmab AfS"
entire articles of association can be found on our website
(www.genmab.com).







Corporate Social Responsibility (CSR)
and Sustainability Commitments

The Board of Directors and Senior Leadership at Genmab
are itted to Genmab’®s b

which focuses on four main areas:

O
M

Employee
Well-being

including health,
safety and development

=.|
e

Business Ethics

and tranaparency

Qur vision = "By 2025 our own product |

cancer tregtment and

socks-off antibodies™ =
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Environment
ncluding waste manage-
ment and recy<ling

L

Ethics

in relation to pre-clinical

and clinical studies

as transformed

have & pipeline of knockyeur-
inspires and motivates us to find new

SH)and

driven CSR strategy,

ways to improve healthcare and quality of life for patients
and their Families. We are committed to creating differentiat:
«ed antibody products that have the potential to provide new
treatment options to patients with life threatening and
debilitating diseases,

We belisve we have & responsibility to ensure our actions
netonly benefit our main stakeholders (patients, sharehold-
ers-and employees), but also society as a whole. With our
core values and vision in mind, being socially responsible

s fundamental to the way we do business at Genmab,

In camying out our business we strive to comply with all
relevant laws, standards and guidelines, We also consider
the well-being of our employees atop pricnty, and we
minimize our impact on the environment to the extent
pessible, We have high ethical standards and aim te conduct
business with companies and within countries that share our
wthics and respect the protection of internationally pro-
claimed human nghts. As we conduct business in a highly
regulated industry, we have chosen not to implement a
specific human rights policy. It is impertant to us, however,
to support and respect the protection of intemationally
proclaimed human rights through other policies that address
respansible supply chain management, ethical procedures,
health and safety procedures, and issues regarding access
to medicine. Genmab strives to only conduct clinical trials in
markets where & drug is planned to become available.
Furthermore, Genmab does not employ child labor.

Qur C5R Committes is chaired by a member of our Executive
Management Team and is compnsed of repres entatives from
our human resources, investor relations and communica-
tions, legal, Ainance and research and developrment fume-
tions, Genmab is equally committed fo building a sustainable
organization that meets environment, social and govemance
(ESG) criteria of relevance to our business operations. In
2020, our goal is to further review ESG considerations in
closer detail and integrate these into our strategic planning
and risk management process, The commities ensures that
Genmab carries out its C5R activities effectively and commu-
nicates clearly and openly about them.

Genmab publishes its statutory report on C5R for the
financial year 2019 of. Section 99 a of the Danish Financial
Staternents Acton the company®s website, including
additional infermation abeut policies, progress made duning
2019 and expected activities for 2020. Genmab has adopted
& target figure for women in the Board of Directors and a
policy regarding the propartion of genderin ather manage-
rment levels of the Genmab group. Both ofthese goals have
been met with equitable gender representation in the Board
of Directors and with women holding 52% of all director level
and above positions. In accordan ce with section 9% b of the
Danish Financial Statements A<t, Genmab discloses the
target figure, the policy and cument performance in its
statutory report on 3R for the finandial year 2019, The
statutory repert on C5® can be found at

e

firgenmab.com/corporate-social-responsib




Human Capital

Management

Employees are Genmab’s most important
resource and we strive to attract and retain
the most qualified people to fulfil our core
purpose. Genmab’s goal i3 to develop and
retain value in our own products which
could one day transform cancer treatment.
At Genmab, our core purpose, together
with our core values, guides and inspires
employess in their sveryday work.

Teamwork and respect are central pillars of
Genmab’s culture, and we therefore ensure
an inclusive, open and suppertive profes-
sional work environment across our intemas
tional locations. We believe that fostering
workplace diversity across social, education-
al, cultural, national, age and gender lines is
@ prerequisite for the continued success of
the company. We are committed to diversity
at all levels of the company and strive to
recruit empleyees with the mght skills and
competences, regardless of gender, age,
ethnicity and other differences.
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Skill, knowledge, experience and employee
motivation are essential to Genmab as a
bictech company. The ability ta onganize our
highly skilled and very experienced em-
ployees at all levels of the organization inte
interactive teams is & key factor in achieving
ourgoals and ensuring Genmab’s success,
Genmab's team is very experienced in the
pharmaceutical and biotechnology industny.

Genmab group

R 41% Male
A 59% Female

Bl L

Male/Female Ratios 2019 2018

Male Femalke Malke Feemalke
Genmab group 41% 58% 41% 5%
irector level and abowe 4E% 52% A5% 55%
Bl efirc o level 7% 61% 39% 61%
Anrual prometiors 44% 56% A4 S6%
Other Employes Infarmation 2019 2018
FIE st the end of the year LA8 3
Research and development FIE 468 323
Administrative FIE 80 54
FIE i Deriniark at the end of the pear 154 12
FTE in Hethedarwds at the end of the yesar 197
FTE in U5 at the end of the year 125 G5
FTE iim Jaapan af thie and of the year 1 -
Employes umaverd 6%
Employes absence %

* Emngloyee meover pescentage & caloulated by the FIE voluntarily leaving since the beginning of the

weardraded by the memge FIE,

# The mte of absence s measunesd as absence duee o the employes’s oam illness, pregnancy rebated sick

bz, arned o il
days in the yeas, adjusted far holidays,

e with a resgional s tandasd aversge of working

59




Our Core
Values

o irpprove the lives

patigrits by creating £nd

phovative




Risk -

Management
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Genmab has core facilities i

1fourcountries and performs re-
vilopment activits wit

d arsund the glabe. Through our acti
to avariety of risks, some of which a
115 @ a significant in

ties, we
d ourcontrol.

Lon i

5 My
oparly assessed and controlled. M
control environment, with adequate proced ures for ide
2 @nt of 5 and ar
ned to reduce such risks to
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ring to o

acceptab

ge b mitigate
any residual risk, wherever considered practicable. The Board
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eas and how we atternpt to address and miti

vironmental and ethical risks are covered in Genmab's
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@ B

Risk Related to Rlsk Areas Mitigation Rizk Trend
BIISII'I ess Identification and development of Suceeahsl prodicts, spen by i el h i var il L al di o
shve, time- corsuming clinical triaks with uncertain cutcome and formats of our antibody g v progress of l aned clincad n
and risk of Fadlure to abtain regulatory approval in one or mone develapmeant. We strive to have awell-balanced product plpeline and cotinue to identify ond
Jurisedictions sesanh for duct candi and closely markel.
Dependent on identification and develapment of new prapri. Ganmab shives io contimss its ide and development of new tec such as
wtary technobogivs and access bo new thind pary technologies,  the DuoBody, HexaBody, andl HexEhret plat 1 gain access it

such & ADC tech mology, including exposure o safety Bsues,
aswenlas other Failunes and setbods miated 10 use of such
e oF eaisting tech nokogies

Genmab faces unoertainty about the seccesslul commen ializa-
tion of product candidates, This is a result of factors including
immerse competition on the basis of costand eficacy os well as
rapid technobogical change, which may result in others discover
ing, developing or commeecializing competing products bafare
or more sucrass flly than us

Near: and mid-term prospects ane substantally dependent on
wontinued clinkcal and commercial sucoess of DARZALEX
DARZALEX i subject bo intense compatition intha mullipls
mpelona thermpy market

Expioume b procluct Eability claims relatesd o i e or misuse
of oiir prodicts and technologies

1F we are unable to manage Genmab's fstpaced growth or
build our commercialization capabilities, sur business, finan.
clal condition, and et msults nery be adversaly affected

Sl

e third party Lechniobogies such as ADC technobogy and mBNA tech nology. We dosely
Fomitor our preclinical progrms and clinicl tials to mitigate any unforeseen safity issues or

ather Eilures o selbicks i our progrietarny hialogies or
AL tec hmology.

Fram ey in the meseanch phase and tho ol potertial and risks

ane assessed toensune that final products hawe the potential to be commercially viable, Genmab

altempts o control | rishs by and T Cumet ma ket conditi u
competing products and new tachnologies and Wo potentially gain 200ess o ey 2o logies

and products that masy suppement our pipsline, Genmab stives to amsure maket asclisivity for
its cwn technokogies and products by secking pabmnt prtection.

Genmab focuses on its three-pronged strategy to develop a boad pipeline of unique best-in.
class or firstin-class antibodies with significant commercial potential. In addition, Genmab
Faintaing a sleong cash position, disciplined francial naragemaent, and a Meilsle and capital
efficient basiness modal o mitigate poteitial sethacks for DARZALEX.

It 2014 Genmsal i s license with Jaresien regarding sl
generation CD38 antibody product, HesaBody® COEE,

A prodisct liability « lim couled materally affect our business and Fnancial position and
Genmsab el mainsins prodict [kability irsumnos for our clinical tials vl sthog
coverage requieed under ap plicable lmws,

Ganmab contines to experiance significant growth in the number of owr enployess and in
the scope oF our apemtions, including the contined expansion of our prodisct pipeline and

o ] innbizal it I s Lo improve exiling
operational and fi ialspsty ileisle, Graiials musl expand, inand
mamge our growing employes base, and we expect that we may need to incmase our manage-
reend personree] b owerses our cxpanding operations.

Government restrictions on pricing, public , s
will s ot hesaltheans payor eodt containment iniliativs
Increased prassuees by govemmental and third party payors to
reduce health care costs

Risk level in redation o lnstyear: [0 wew [0 unchangrd [ wcrensed [ Decrensed

s Redew |

Ganimals stbvs b devil

st cost offective products tat my oblain price
A privstis hialth insurers.

" health cane




Risk Related to Risk Areas

(R

Mitigation

Bl

Risk Trend

Stmteg]'; I.leperﬂemoneu-sllngand newpamvshlpsmh ma[orphnr Our business may suffer if our collabamtion pannars do not devote sufficlemt moources to our
Biotech ¢ ppart i b 4 s g b it s filly ndintain, debind and emoroe their it e sl
collaborations develop and commencialize our products uronenu rights or do not otherwise have the ability to success fully develop or commercialize
aur prodicts, independently or in collabomiian with s, Our business may also suffer (fwe an:
nat abke inwe our cument establish new partnerships, Genmab strives te
bt ks Uive amd res pected collaboration partner and 1o pursue a close and open dialogue
with our partners to shaee ideas and best practioes within clinical development to increase the
likeoeliheosne] st wae resiasch our gk
Primsarily die onane contrc argani- b s ing nelatiorships o ensune  with strategic abje
zation to produce our product candidates and dependent on and servioe provider e with i . PO el perlumnm:u
clinscal researnch organizations to conduct our clincal treals This inc hudes assessment of contingency plans, euublllttofakemann sefvice peoviderns,
and costs and msoumes required to switch service providars,
Regulation Subject t axtensive reguiatony ond olhr legal To ersune compliance with regulatons and other begal rqul ircluding curmnt
< . both during clinical and post-mark Good Practices (CGLF), Clinical Practions (eGOP) and coment Good
and legislation ineluding heallvears ks and rogulations, a5 well as dal Marfsetuing Peaciices (QGMP, Genenab has etablichd 8 q uabity assurncs dapatment and

protaction regulations

Subject to strict disclosure obligations un-deinwllc:mh lws.
and regulations, including the L Market Al

ks evary effort bo stay ahsast of sgiulatory changss W legislation to enmsaire compliance., To
ensure compliance with applicable healthcare byws and mgulations, Genmab hmseﬂalilnshed
rekevant policis. snd ineleidieg il i e giiclaines

the processiig and protection of persoml data. The data protection area lswemrl by the
Company’s DFO Data Frotection Officer).

Genmb Ihaws established relevant proceduees and guidelines toarsure timely, adequite and

A a cordequince of the [Eling onthe Hasdag Global Sel_-f.l
enarket, we are subject to additional 1.5, regulatory sequire-
mants, including 115, securities kws and the U5, Foreign
Coripit Practices Act, and niy become mofe exposed 1o 1,5,
elass actions

Legislation, regulations and practices may change fram tine
Eo time

Risk levelin rebation to st year: B tew [0 tnchanged [l increased [ fecrensed

sRedew |

10 the market and athenise comply with LS. securities ks and negulatony
iR,

To prevent urwamranted (olsequm:es of new and amendad legisiation, regulations eic., Genmab
StAwes to b up to date with regulstions and pmctices by mears

of intemal, & well as exbemal, h‘p!l coursal. I.kn mLﬂrmI peoscstclures: for i nrmmmm
T b i e i wilh kg el
regulation,




Risk Related to

Risk Areas

@ B

Mitigation

Risk Trend

Intellectual
property

Finances

Management
and workforce

Cyber security

Uenendenlon ratecting own intellectual pmpeml rights to
regain our positian
W miary become inobved in Ia.wsmu. o prabect or enforce our
patents ar ather intellectual property which could result in
costly litigation and unfaverable oulcomes

Cains ey b asseried against us thatwe infringe the intellec-
sl property of thind parties could result in costly litigation and
unfavora bl cutcomes

Genmal may nesd sdditional furding

Genmab & exposed to different kinds of fimancial dsks,
including eurreney enposure and charges in imene e as
wiall as ahaniges in Banish, .S, of foreig i i ks of comph-
ance requirensants

Inability to sttract and setain sultably qualfied personmsl

Theft of intelb=ctwal prop ety fghts, sersitive business data,

personal enployes data, o private patient data, which mey e
sultim menetary lasses or fines and penalties from authorities,
would stem from the result of malicious hacking ot

Rk vl i rekation o lastyenr: [0 Mew [0 unctanged B wereased Decresed

s Redew |

Genmab fles amd prosecites patent awl-r.an-ons i optimally wuecl its. pmducls and tech-
mﬂnslcs Tor protect brade secrets and bec (wnmnh

Fe For enaploy .

Gaenmab: actively monitors thind party patent positions within owr relevant Felds to avoid vio
Lating iy third party patent rights.

Genmab was invobved, as a defendant, in o patent litigation case in the U5, relating o the
enanufactse, use and sale of DARZALEX. The plaintiif's patents ware hald imvalid ina summarny
juegment decsion inJanuary 2019, Thareafter, the parties agred i dismiss their rmspective
claims, As a result, them will be no Firther procesdings. and the case has come taa final reso-
Biiion Phistri sefir bis il 5.5 of Wi Freare sl <tabonm

ol information negarding

B G 1S fuals il protertial anc e iz Lo peedict, Genmaly's
plicy is W naainkaiin & sirong capital hase <o 6 nomallmln Imeswr.trwoeam ket confideis,
anel i continuius achamesmient of Germab's procuct pipline and busiss ingenerl

The Hnan-clnl nsks of the Ganmab group are managad centeully. Group financial ek managensat
blishest s o rikes facedd by thie Genamab group,

b set the appropriate fisk lindts and eontrols and to monitor the risks and mer\eh(elollmﬂs.

wse refer to note 4,2 ¢ For add

Tow attract and malra ourhighly sP.IIIed\-M’me,uxlndlng the membars of Genmab's Senlor Lewl

ership, PeeT— w besiedd

Genmial Strives 1o creste agood and sound working ervirorment with developneent op pofunities
-y

Forits emph Genmak has strong h high integrity and ethical behavos,

e pee 1f fied Mo, e weell e trust and beanmwork, Fhe: nolee .6 of the firancisl
stabe ments for additional infomatio rdineg s hsare b

G b el Lo xlelress expesure o oyber security threals

and s a(lwel'fwrklng b improvee the technical ability to protect against, detect and respond
o attempts toenterits 17 i tacture,




Financial
Review

The financial statements are
prepared on a consolidated

basis for the Genmab group

and are published in Danish
Kroner (DKK).




Result for the Year

Result and Guidance Latest

For 2019 (DKK million] Guidance Actual
Resveniie 5,100 5. 266
Operaling expenses (2,750 2,728
Dipermting income 2,350 2,638

Revenue was above guidance primarily due to a combination
of an additional DARZALEX milestone and USD/DKK foreign
exchange rate movements which pesitively impacted rev:

Of the revenue for 2019, DKK 3,155 million, or 59%, was
attributable to royalties, DKK 1,869 million, or 25% to
milestone payments and DKK 342 million, or 6%, to reim-
bursement income, This is cempared to DKK 1,741 million,
or 58%, attnbutable to rovalties, DKK 687 million, or 23%,
to milestone payments, DKK 348 million, or 11%, to license
fees and DKK 249 millien, or 8%, to réimbursement income
in 2018,

Royaltles
Reyalty income amounted to DKE 3,155 million in 2019

enue. Operating expenses were in line with guid
ing income was above guidance due to higher revenue. The
latest guidance was published on November 6, 2019,

REVENUE

Genmab’s revenue was DKK £,266 million in 2019 compared
to DKK 3,025 million in 2018. The increase of DKK 2,341 mil-
lion, or 77%, was mainly driven by higher DARZALEX royalties
and milestones achieved under our daratumumab collabora-
ticn with Janssen.

ce, Operat-

Split of Revenue

{DKE million)
5,366
3,025
| 3,155 W Royalties
: | W Mileskone pasments
: |
u“ | M License Fees
] B W Reitmbuts ement incone
s it
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pared to DKK 1,741 million in 2018. The increase of
DEE 1,414 million, or 81%, was driven by higher DARZALEX
royalties, which were partly offset by lower Arzerma royalfies.

Met sales of DARZALEX by Janssen were USD 2,558 million in
2019 compared to USD 2,025 million in 2018, The increase
of USD 973 million, or 48%, was driven by the continued
strong uptake of DARZALEX, Royalty income on net sales of
DARZALEY, was DKK 3,122 million in 2019 compared to DKK
1,708 millian in 2018, an increase of DKK 1,424 million. The
ineremse in royalties of 83% i3 higher than the increade in the
underlying sales due to a combination of the change in roy-
alty tiers in 2019 and positive currency fluctuations between
the USD and DKK.

Novartis” net sales of Arzerra were USD 17 million in 2019
eompared to USD 26 million in 2018, & decrease of USD 9
million, or 35%. Royalty income on net sales of Arzerra was
DKK 23 million in 2019 compared to DEK 33 million in 2018,

a decrease of DKK 10 million, or 30%. The decrease in Arzerma
net sales and resulting royalties was due to Novartis’ ongoing
transition of Arzerra to limited availability in most jurisdictions.

Milestone Payments

Milestone income was DKE 1,868 millionin 2019 compared
to DKK 687 million in 2018. The increase of DKK 1,162
million was mainly driven by higher DARZALEX milestone

R E

payments achieved in 2019, as compared to 2018. In 2019,
we recorded DKK 1,778 million (USD 26& millien) in DARZ-
ALEX milestone payments from Janssen, including (i} a WSD
150 million milestene payment related to the achisvement
of USD 3.0 killion in net sales (25 calculated on the basis of
the license agreement terms) of DARZALEX in calendar year
2019, (i} a USD 100 million milestone payment related to
the achievement of USD 2.5 billion in net sales of DARZALEX
in calendar year 2019, and (i} USD 14 million milestone pay-
rrents related to the first commercial sales of DARZALEX in
lapan in the third and fourth indications under the expanded
labels. The remaining DK 91 million included milestone
payments related to pre-clinical and clinical progress under
our DucBody collaberation with Janssen and other collabora-
tions. By comparison, in 2018, we recorded DXE 586 million
(USD 90 million) in DARZELEX milestone payments from
lanssen, including (i) a USD 75 million payment related to
achievement of USD 2.0 billion in net sales of DARZALEX in
the fourth quarter of 2018 and (ji) a USD 13 million milestone
payment related to the first sale of DARZALEX in combination
with VMP in patients with newly diagnased multiple my-
elama, The remaining DKK 101 millien induded milestane
payments related to pre-clinical and clinical progress under
our DuoBaody collaboration with Janssen and ather collabo-
rations. Milestone incame may fluctuate significantly fram
period to period due to both the timing of achievements and
the varying amount of each individual milestone under aur
license and collaboration agreements.

License Fees

There was no license fee income during 2019. License fee
income was DKK 248 million in 2018 which was driven by ()
the USD 50 million oneime payment from Movartis related
to lost potential Arzerra milestones and royaltie s due to the
transation of Arzerra to limited availability in most jurisdic-
ticns, un der the Movartis ofatumumab collaboration, (i) pay-
ment from Janssen for additional DuoBody target pairs under
the lanssen DucBody collaboration and (jii) the payment

&7




From Nove Nordisk for exten ding exclusivity of the cormmer-
<l license for a DucBody target pair under the Novo Nordisk
DuoBody collaboration.

Reimbursement Incofme

income, mainly prised of the reimb
ment of certain research and development costs related to the
development work under Genmab's collaboration agreements,
amounted to DKK 342 million in 2019 compared to DKK 245
million in 2018, The increase of DKK 93 million, or 37%,
was driven by reimbursement payments associated with our
development activities relating to tisotumab vedotin under
our collaboration with Seattle Genetics and the continued
advancement of product candidates under our collaboration
with BioNTech.

OPERATING EXPENSES
Totaloperating expenses increased by DFK 1,083 million, or 66%,
Frem DK 1,655 million in 2018 to DKK 2,728 millisn in 2019,

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses amounted to DKK 2,386
million in 2015 compared to DKK 1,421 million in 2018,

The increase of DKK 555 million, or 67%, was driven by the
advancernent of ti b vedofin and er b vedotin,
the additional investment in eur product pipeline, and the
increase in research and development employees.

Research and development expenses accounted for B7% of
the total operating expenses in 2019 and 2018.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses were DKK 342 million
n 2019 cormpared to DKK 214 million in 2018, The increase
of DKK 128 million, or 60%, was diven by growth across all
support areas including enhanced technolegy and systems,
early investment in commercial, and other areas due to the

expansion of our product pipeline.

Management's Review | Financlal Redew

General and administrative accounted for 13% of
the total operating expenses in 201 % and 2018,

OPERATING RESULT

Dperating income was DKK 2,638 million in 2019 compared
to DKK 1,380 million in 2018. The increase of DKK 1,258 mil-
lion, or 91%, was driven by higher revenue, which was partly
offset by increased operating expenses.

NET AINANCIAL ITEMS

The net financial items reflect a combination of interestin-
come, unrealized and realized fair market value adjustments
on our portfalio of marketable secusities, as well as realized
and unrealized foreign exchange adjustments,

Financaal income for 2019 was DKK 228 million, reflecting
interest and other financial income of DKK 120 million, net re-
alized and unrealized gains on marketable securities of DKK
9 million and net realized and unrealized exchange rate gains
of DKK 99 million, as compared to DKK 243 million for 2018,
reflecting interest and other financial income of DKK 62 mil-
lion, net realized and unrealized gains on fair value hedges of
DKK 2 million and net realized and unrealized exchange rate
gains of DEK 178 million.

Financial expenses for 2019 were DEK 7 million related to
interast and other financial expenses, as compared to DKK
11 million for 2018 related to realized and unrealized losses
an marketable securities.

Asa result of the above, net financial itema for 2019 were anet
gain of DKK 221 million, as compared toa net gain of DKK 232
million for 2018, The decrease in net finan dal items was driven
primarily by & decrease in net realized and unrealized exchange
rate gains driven by foreign exchange movements which posi-
tively impacted our U5, dollar denominated pertfolic and cash
holdings to & greater extent in 2008 than 2019, partly offset by
an increase in interest income due to the combination of higher
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yield and level of investrment in marketable securities in 2019
as compared to 2018, Please refer to note 4,2 for additional
information regarding foreign curmency nisk and note 4.5 for

additional information regarding the net financial iterns.

CORPORATE TAX

Corporate tax expense was DKK 693 million in 2019 compared
to DEK 140 million in 2018, comesponding to an effective tax
rate of 2d% for 2019 and 9% in 2018, The effective tax mte
increased in 2019 as the discrete tax benefit related to the
reversal of valuation allowances on defered tax assats for
Fusture taxable income was significantly higher in 2018 than
2019 In 2018, the discrete tax benefitwas DKK 268 million
as compared to DKK 29 million in 2019, Flease refer to note
2.4 for additional infermation regarding the corporate tax and
deferred tax assets including management's significant judsg-

ments and estimates.

MNET RESULT

Net result for 2019 was DKK 2,166 million compared to a net
result of DKK 1,472 million in 2018, The increase of DKK 694
rrillion, or 47%, was driven by the items described ahove,

CASH POSITION AND CASH FLOW
Liquidity and Capital Resource

Cash Position 2019 2018
(DEK million)

Carshiand cash e uivalents 3,552 533
Marketable secunties 7419 5,573
Cash position 10,971 6,106

As of December 31, 2019, Genmab's cash, cash equivalents,
and marketable secunties (cash position) amounted to DK
10,971 million. This represents a net increase of DEK 4,865
raillion, or B0%, fram the beginning of 2018, which was rainly
driven by net proceeds from the isssance of new shares in con-

[




nection with the public offering and listing of ADSs on the Nas-
daq Global Select Market of DKK 2,635 million and cur aperat-
ing imcome of DKK 2,628 million, which were partly offset by
negative working capital adjustments of DKK 1,218 million re-
lated to royalties and milestones achieved in the fourth quarter
of 2019, which were receivables as of December 31, 2019,

As of December 21, 2019, DKK 3,552 million, as compared to
DKK 533 million as of December 31, 2018, was held as cash
and cash equivalents, and DKK 7,419 million, a3 compared
to DKK 5,57% million as of December 31, 2018, was held as
liquid investments in short-term government and other deb?
instrurments,

‘We require cash to meet our operating expenses and capital
expenditures. We have funded our cash requirements since
ourinception, including through December 31, 2019, pri-
marily with equity financing, upfrent payments and royalty
and milestone payments from our parfners,

Cash and cash equivalents included short-tenm marketable
securifies of DKK 668 million at the end of December 2015,
There were no short-term marketable securities included in
cash and cash lents at the and of D ber 2018. In
accordance with our accounting policy, securities purchased
wath a matunty of less than three months at the date of
acquisition are classified as cashand cash equivalents,

Cash Flow 019 2018
DK millioah

Cash provided by (used in operating acthities 1326 1415
Cash prowided by (used in imvesting activitles {1,963 (1,778
Cash prowided by (used in) fnancing activities 3,660 (E))

Met cash previded by operating activities is primarily related to
ouroperating result, working capital fluctuations, reversal of

Management's Review | Financlal Redew

net financial items, and adjustrents related to non-cash
expenses, all of which may be highly vaniable period to period,
In 2019, the primary driver of higher cash provided by
operating activities was higher operating income,

The dhange in cash used in investing activities primarily reflects
differences between the proceeds received from sale and
matunty of ourinvestments and amounts invested, Purchases
of marketable securities exceeded sales and maturities in both
2019 and 2018, which has resulted in significant grewth in
the marketable securnties portion of the cash position,

Met cash provided by finsncing activities is primarily related to
the issuance of shares, purchase of treasury shares, exercise
of wamants and lease payments. In 2019, the primary driver
ofthe higher cash provided by financing activities was related
to net proceeds from the issuance of new shares in connec-
tion with the public offering and listing of ADSs on the Masdag
Glabal Select Market of DKK 3,635 million, and purchase of
treasury shares during 2018 of DKK 146 million, There were:
no purchases of treasury shares during 2019,

Marketable securities are invested in highly secure, liguid
and consenvative investments with short effective matunty.
As of December 31, 2019, 91% of our marketable securities
had atrple A mting, compared to 90% at December 31,
2018, The weighted average effective duration was approxi=
mately 1.1 years as of December 31, 2019 (2018: 1.4 years).
Please refer to notes 4.2 and 4.4 for additional infarmation
ncial risks and marketable securities.

regarding our

BALANCE SHEET

As of December 31, 2019, total assets were DKK 15,144
rillion, compared to DKK 8,461 million a3 of Dectrnber 21,
2018. As of December 31, 2019, the assets were mainly
comprised of the cash position of OKK 10,971 million and
receivables of DKK 3,001 million, The recesvables consist
primarily of royalties and milestones from our collabormtion

R Bl

agreements and non-interest beanng receivables, which are
due less than one year from the balance sheet date, The credit
risk on receivables is considered to be limited. Please referto

note 3.5 for additional information regarding receivables,

Shareholders” equity as of Decerber 31, 2019 equaled DKK
14,048 million compared to DKK 8,014 million at December
31, 2018, The increase was dnven primanly by the issuance
of shares and net income. On December 31, 2019, Genmab™s
equity rafio was 93% compared to 95% as of December 31,
018,







Shareholders and
Share Information

CWNERSHIP

Genmab is dual-listed on the Nasdag Copenhagen A(S

and the Nasdag Globel Select Market in the U.5. under the
symbial GMAB, Qur communization with the capital markets
complies with the disclosure rules and regulations of these
exchanges, As of Deceraber 31, 2019, the aurmber of regia-
tered shareholders totaled 65,525 shareholders holding a
total of 63,264,793 shares, which represented 97.22% of the
tatal share capital of 65,074,502,

The following shareholders are registered in Genmab’s regis-
ter of shareholders as being the owner of & minimuem of 5%
of the voting rights or a minimum of 5% of the share capital
{one share equals one vote) as of December 31, 2019: Arti
4an Partrers Limited Partnership and BladkRock, Ine,

Shareholders registered in the company’s shareholder
registry may sign up for electronic shareholder communica-
tions via Genmab’s investor portal, The investor portal can be
accessed at Genmab's website www.genmab.com,

E

Electronic shareholder communication enables Genmab to,
amang other things, quickly and efficently call general mestings.

The following chart illustrates the performance of the Genmab
share during 2019 and the geographical distribution of aur
shareholders. With regard to the perfformance of Genmab™s
ADSs, the public offering price on July 17, 2019 was USD
17.75. As of Decernber 21, 2019 Genrmab's ADSs closed at
USD 22.33, Please referto note 4.7 for additional infarmation
regarding Genmab's share capital including authorizations

to issue shares and purchase its swn

ares,

Geographleal Shareholder Distribution*

019

Wi
B penmark
W Switeerdand
mux
| etheriands
B Ligtenbourg
B Belgium
Other™™

* Based om ligaes fom the nbe el shanholder regrster per
December 31, 2018 and December 31, 2019,

= “Other” incudes shares held in other countries and shames not
ekl i pamines accounts, induding OTC taded shares,

s Redew |
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The following table shows share data a5 of December 31, 2019,

Share data Denmark

Humber of shares at December 31,2019 £1.797,002

Listing Nasdag Copenhagen
kag‘ri‘»,-;\hd l:MAB-

Inﬂw-‘)-er‘nhe‘r;?u:a . OMI P‘lor\:.hc. Lafge(:ap.lc.w.-c .

.5,
3,277,500 [represented by 32,775, 000 ADSs)

Nasdag Global Select Marken, Rew York
GMAB

Nasdag Biatech nde:

DM Copenhagen Benchmark lndex
O Copenhagen 25 Index (OMX25)

AMERICAN DEPOSITARY RECEIPT (ADR) PROGRAM

Genmab has & sponsored Level 3 ADR program with Deutsche
Bank Trust Company Americas. An ADS is a shame cerificate
representing ownership of shares in a non-1.5. corporation.
AD3Ss issued under Genmab’s ADR Program are quoted and
traded in WS, dollars on the Masdag Global Select Market

in the United States. Ten Genmab ADSs comespond fo one
Genmab ordinary share, Genmab’s ADR ticker symbol i
GMAB. For v ion an G t

INVESTOR RELATIONS (IR)

Genmab’s investor Relations and Communications depart-
mentaims to ensure relevant, accurate and timely informa.
tion is available to aurinvestors and the financial commu:
rity. We maintain anongoing dialogue with sell-side equity
analysts, as wellas majorinstitutio nal and retail sharehold-
ers. A list of the curent analysts covering Genmab can be
found at our website slong with financial reports, company
announcamants, curant prasentations, fact shaats and other
downloads, plus information for private and institutional
shangholders,

Contact:
Marizol Peron, Corporate Vice President,
Communications and Investor Relations
T:+1 609524 0065; E: mm)

For Investor Relations:
Andrew Carlsan, Senior Director, Investor Relations
T:#45 3377 9558; E: brcovm

Annual General Meeting

The annual general mesting will be held on
March 26, 2020 at 2:00 PM Local time at;
Copsenhagen Maniott Hobel

Kalvebod Brygge 5

DE-1560 Copenhagen V

Financial Calendar for 2020

Anmual GanemlMeating 2020 Thurzday,
Mamh 26, 2020
PuBblication of the Intenm Report Wednesday,
forthe first guarter 2020 May €, 2010
Publication of the Intenm Report Wednesday,

far the first balf 2020 August12, 2020

Publication of the Intenm Report
far the first mine months 2020

Wednesday,
Nowember 4, 2020







Board of
Directors
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Mats Pettersson, B.Sc.
Swedish, 74, Male

Board Chairman (Independent, elected by the General
Mhinz ting); Member of the Audit and Finance Comamiltes
First elected 2013, current term expires 2020

Special Competences

Extensive cxparience from international reseamch-basad
biotech and pharmaceutical companies. founder and CED
of S0B1 AB, Responsible for several trans forming Business

Development deals and mamber of various Exee utive man-

agemant committies al Pharmacia.

Current Beard Fositions
Member: Magle Chemoswed AB

A




Deirdre P. Connelly
Hispanic/American, 59, Female

Deputy Chairman (Independent, elacted by the Geneml

Anders Gersel Pedersen, M.D., Ph.D.
Danish, 68, Male

Board Member {Ho n-i P

(electad by the G |

Meeting); Chaimman of the Cor tioin L ltteee,
Memberof the Audit and Finance Comrmilles, and the
Mominating and Corpomte Governance Committes
Firstalected 2017, curmant term expines 2000

Speclal Competenees

More than 30 years” experience as a corporate leade rand
extensive expenience in corporate povemante as a board
rivembar, Comprehensive expenence with business tum-
around, conporate culture transformation, product launch,
and talent development. Successfully directed the launch
of more than 20 new pharmaceutical drugs. Former Presi

dent, Morth America Pharmaceuticals for Glaxo SmithKline.

Current Board Positions
Member: Macy™s Inc. and Lincoln National Corporation
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Meting; Chaimman of the Nominating and Corporate
Gavernance Committes and Member of the Sciantific
Committes and the Compensation Commiites

First edected 2003, curient tem explies 2020

Speclal Competences

B and manag t & in the pharma-
ceulical industry, including expartisa in clinical research,
developmeant, regulatory affairs and product life cycle
management. Former Executive Vics President of Research
& Developrment of H. Lundbeck AfS.

Current Board Positions

Chaiman: Aelis Farma

Dapuly Chairman: Bavarian Mordie AfS

Member: Hansa Medical AB, Bond 2 development 2 GP
limitad

Pernille Erenbjerg
Danish, 52, Female

Board Member {Independent, elected by the Ceneral
Meeting); Chairman of the Audit and Finance Commities,
Member of the Nominating and Corporate Gawernance
Commities

First elected 2015, curment term expires 2020

Speclal Competences

Senlar i and beoad BT
ance fram the talecoms, mediaand tech industries. Extan.
sive axpariance with transformation of large and complex.
companies, including digital transfarmations and digitally
bazed innovation. Comprahansive all round background
within finance including extensive exposure to stock mar-
kets, equity and debt investors, Cartified Public Accountant
background (no lorger practicing). Respansible for major
transfo rmation processes in complex erganizations includ-
ing M&A Former CEQ and President of TDC A/S. Due to her
experience and background within accounting, Pernille
Erenbjerg qualifies as an audit committee Anancial expert.

Current Board Positions

Deputy Chair: Millicom Members Nordea AB
Chair of Remuneration Committes: Millicom

Audit Committes Member: Millicom, Mordea A
Operations and Sustainability Committes Member:
MNordea AB




Paolo Paocletti, M.D.
Italian (U.5. Citizen), 69, Male

Board Member (Independeant, ebected by the General
Meeting); Chairman of the Sclentific Commiliee,
and Member of the Compensation Committes
Firstelected 2015, curent tem expires 2020

Special Campetences

Extenzive exparience in reseanch, development and com-
mercialization in the pharmaceutical industry, Successfully
conducted submissions and approvals of new cancet
drugs and new indications in the USAand in Eurape.
Respongible forseven new medicines forcancer patients
during his 10 years at GlaxoSmithKline and ane naw can-
cermedicine during his time at Efi Lilly.

Current Position, Including Managerial Fositions
Acting CEQ for GammaDelta Therapeutics Limited

Current Board Fositions
Mamber PsiCuus Therapeutics Limited, FORMA Therapeutics
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Rolf Hoffmann
German, 60, Male

Board Member {Inde pendent, ebected by the Caneral
Meating); Member of the Auditand Finance Commitiee,
and the Stientific Committes

Firsk elected 2017, current te m expires 2020

Special Competences

[Eatensive international management experience with auper-
tise in creating and oplimizing commercial opportunities in
ghobal maskets. Additional expertize in PAL management,
governance and Corporate Integrity Agreement Manags-
ment, compliance and arganizational efficiency. Over 20
aars” experience in the international pharmacoutical and
biotechnology industries at Eli Lilly and Amgen

Current Position, Including Managerial Pesitions
Adjunct Professor Strategy and Entreprenaurship, University
of North Carolina Business School

Current Board Positions

Chaimman: Biotest AG

Member: Trizell Ltd., EUSA Phama, Inc., Pambek
FPhasmaceuticals, inc. and Shield Therapeutics plc

Peter Storm Kristensen
Danish, 45, Male

Board Member (Non-independent, electad bythe emp

P

First elected 2016, curment term expires 2022

Speclal Competences

Broad legal experience within the pharmace utical indus-
iy with specialty in corporate law, secunties law, human
resources law a5 well as drafting and negotiating contracts
in genedal,

Current Position, Including Managerial Pesitions
Associate Director, Legal al Genmab




Mijke Zachariasse, Ph.D.
Dutch, 46, Female

Board Member (Non-independent, elected by the em ployess)
Firstelecled 2019, curment lerm expines 2022

Special Competences

Broad experience in people and business management in
the natural sciences sector. Specific expertize in building
strategic partnerships across sectors, financial and fund
managament, and selling research strategies in the aca-
demic sector.

Curmrent Position, including Managerial Positions
Director, Protein Production and Chemistry at Genmab
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Daniel . Bruno
American, 40, Male

Board Member (Non-independent, elected by the employess)
Firsl alected 2016, cumant tenm expires 2022

Special Competences

Cerlified Public Accountant backgmound with extensive
knowledge and experience in fnance, technical account-
irg, corporate tax, and fnancial reporting in the life
seinges industrg

Current Position, Including Managerial Positions
Vice President, Corporate Controllerat Genmab
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Senior Leadership

Jan G. |.van de Winkel, Ph.D,
Dutch, 58, Male

President & Chief Executive Gfficer

Special Competences

Extensive antibody creation and
development expertise, broad
knowladge of the bistechnalogy
industry and exgculive manage-:
ment skills.

Current Board Positions
Chairmanz Hookipa Pharma
Member: Leo Pharma,
Celdara Medical

Scientific Advisory Board:
Thuja Capital Healthcare Fund
Advizony Board: Capricom
Health tech Fund
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David A, Extwell
British (U.5. Citizan), 59, Male

Exeeutive Vices President & Chief
Financial Officer

Special Competences

Broad intemational experience
in finance, strategy and business
managemant and in-depth knows
ledge of the phammaceutical and
biotechnology industrias.

Judith Klimaveky, M.0.
Argentinian (.S, Citizen), 63,
Fermnale

Executive Vice President & Chief
Developrment Officer

Special Competences

Extensive expertise in oncolagy
drug development from eary
clinical stages through to market-

ing approval, experience in clinical
practice and leading large teams in

pharmacsulical organizations,

Current Board Positions

Mamber: Balllicum Phammacauticals

Birgitte Stephensen
Danish, 59, Fernale

Seniorvics President, IPR & Legal
Special Competences

Intellectual property and legal ex-
pertise in the bictechnology Feld,

i

Michael K. Bauer, Ph.D.
German, 56, Male

Senier Vice President, Head of
R&D Opsrations

Special Competences

Wide, international scientific and
phammacautical industry back.
ground; significant experience

in clinical drug developrent;
cross-functional and ceoss-cultural
strategic leadership.




Tahamtan Almadi, M.|
Iranian-Gemnan (.5, Citizen), 47,
Male

Senior Vice President,
Head of Oncology

Special Campetences

Significant expertise in global reg-
ulatary and clinical drug dewvelop-
rent across @ lirg spectnum from
pre-IND to life cycle management;
drug discovery and translational
rEgaanch,
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Antheny Pagans
American, 42, Male

Zenior Vice President,
Finance and Corporabe Development

Special Competences

Significant knowledge and experi-
@nte in the life sciances industry
particulady as relates Lo comporale
finance, corporate development,
strategic planning, general man-
agement, treasury, accounting and
EArpOralE gOvErnance,

Martine |. van Vugt, Ph.D.
Dutch, &9, Farmale

SeniorVice Fresident,
Chief of Stafft

Special Competences

Extensive knowledge and expe-
rignce in portfalio, project and
alliance management, identifying
and leading corporate strategic
initiatives, and business devel-
opment operations and sirategy
related to corporale transactions
and licensing.

El




Financial
Statements




Finaneial Statemants

Introduction

The financial statements in the 2019 annual report are grouped into
six sections: Primary Statements; Basis of Presentation; Results for the
Year; Operating Assets and Liab ; Capital Structure, Financial Risk
and Related Items; and Other Disclosures.

Each note to the financial statements includes information about the
accounting policies applied and significant management judgments
and estimates in addition to the financial numbers.
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Inceme Statement
(KK milion)

Resisin i aird absvilopanienl axpenses
General and adminisbo

Cperating axpenses

Oparating result

Firarcial income

Net rezult before tax
Corpome
Nt racailt

Basic net resull per share
Diluted net resalt per share

Statemueat of Comprehensive Income
Net result
Other comprehenshes income:

Amounis which will be re-clossified fo the income siefement:
Adjustmant of forelgn cumency Auctuntions on subsidindes

Tatal comprehenshve Incomae

Note

21,22

2.3,21,22
2332

4%
45

2.5
2.5

2019

5,366

(z.728)

2,638

2,166

2,172

101
3,025

(1421)
(214)

(1,645}

1,380

243
[£51]

1,612

[EEL)

1,472

2803
1303

1472

10

B3
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Asszat:
Primary oy

St t t (DEK million) Hobe 2019 2018
atements — —_— =
- ! sui g e it 22y 2 162
Consolidated - — 5 -
Recaivables 35 10

Deferred tax assots 24 386

B a la nce Fhrlien 4 .
Tatal non-current assets 1,028

Sheets
Marketable secunities A4 5573

Carshe and cetsh e ui 533

Tatal currant azcats 13,941 7433

Total assets 15,144 6,461

Shareholders” Equity and Liabilities

December 31, December 31,

(DK million) Hote 205 2018
a7 61

_ 4.7 B0

Other fsenes 92
Ratained Eamings (198}
Totul shareholders® squity 14,048 8,014
36 1

13 =

Dither payables 37 1 2
Tatal nen-current Dakilites 158 3
Corposte b payable 24 128
Lease liabilities 3 -
Orther payables 37 36
Tabul carrant lubilities 538 e
Tatal labilitias 1,096 a7
Total shareholders® equity and Uabilities 15,144% 5,461
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E

Statements of Cash Flows

CDKK milion)
Cazh flows from operating activities:

Nt rasalt bafore tax
R of firnancial i
Adjustment lor non-cash rancactions
Charnge in working capital

Cash by activities before fi Itwenz
Intenest meeived
Interest eloments of lease poy s nts

v (et received
Net cazh geaarabed by operating axthitis

Cazh Aows from imvesting sctivities:
Ivestisant in intngible assets
Imestmant in tangible assats
Markitable socurities haught
Marketable securities sold

Mot cazh used |s Investing sctivithes

Cach flows from financing activities:

Warraiils axedcised

Shares lssued for cash

Costs mlated o issuance of shares

Principal elements of lease payments.

Purchase of treasury shares

Parpment of withholding taxes on bekalf of emplopees on net settied RSUs

Nat cach from financing activities

Changes: in cash and cazh equivalesats
Cash and cash equbalents at the beginning of the period
Excharge rate adpistments

Caczh and cash equivalests atthe end of the pariod

Cash and cash equbvalents Include:
Bank cdeposits and petty cash
Shart-term marketalle securities

Cazh and cazh squlvilasts at the and of the parod

Hoitee

a5

2019

[1.933)

3440

3003

3.552

3,552

2018

1512
(232

178
(67241

925
a4
a6

1,015
[E0T]
v}
(3,521}

22

(1,778)

71)

(a34)
1,348
17

533

EEE]

533
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Statements of Changes in Equity

(KK millicn)

Balance at Dacember 31, 2017

Change in accounting policy: Adoptsan of IFRS 15

Adjisted total squity at january 1, 2018

Nt ssailt
Other compratensive iom:
Tatal comprehenzive income

Tranzactians with swners:
Exercise of waminks

Purchase of trsasury share
Share-based compensation expenses
Tax an items recogrized directly inequity

[Balance at Decemnber 31, 2018

Het result

Other compeehenshr income
Total coma rehensive income
Transactions with cwners:

Exercise of waranls

on items recognized disectly inequity
December 31, 2015

Sl
Capital

&1

&1

Share
Pramivm

7,984

T.984

Trareation
Resarees

42

a2

19
10

Pt vl
Earnings
[1,855)
151
[1,704)

1472

1,472

(146)
91
L)

199)

2166

166

@7
7]
24

2,130

Sharshokder'

Equity

6,272
151
6,423
1472
10
1,482

5
{1463
1
L

a.014

F5 L
[

iz

23
LATY
{238
147
]
24

14,048




Section 1
Basis of
Presentation

This section describes Genmab's
financial accounting policies in-
cluding management's judgments
and estimates under Intemational
Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). New or revised EU endorsed
accounting standards and interpre-
tations are described, in addition
to how these changes are expected
to impact the financial performance
and reporting of the Genmab Group.

Genmab describes the accounting
policies in conjunction with each
note with the aim to provide a more
understandable description of each
accounting area. The description of
the accounting policies in the notes
is part of the complete description
of Genmab's accounting policies.
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1.1
Nature of the Business
and Accounting Policies

Genrmab A5 is & publicly traded, international biotechnology
company specializing in the creation and development of dif-
ferentiated antibody therapeutics for the treatment of cancer
and ether diseases, Feunded in 1999, the company has twe
approved antibodies, a broad clinical and pre-clinical product
pipeline and proprietary nest generation antibody technologies,

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with IFRS a3 issued by the Intemational Accounting Standards
Board (LASE), and with the IFRS as endorsed by the EU and
additional Danish disclosure requirements forannual reports

of listed companies. Except as outlined in note 1.2, the fnan-

cial statements have been prepared using the same account-
ing policies as 2018,

Flease refer to the cvervisw below to s=e in which note/sec-
tion the detailed accounting policy is included.

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Saction 2 - Results for the Year

2.1 Revenue

2.2 Information about Geographical Areas
2.3 Saalf Costs

2.4 (Comorate and Defernsd Tax

2.5 Result per Sham:

Saction 3 - Opamtiag Azzals and Liabilities
31 Intangible Assets

3,2 Property, Plant and Equipment
33 Leases

34 Other Imvestments

3% Receivables

36 Provisions

3.7 Other Payables

Section 4 = Copital Structure, Finaneisl Risk
and Ralated ltams

4.3 Financial Assets and Liabi
a4 Marketable Securities

4.5 Financial Income and Expenses

Saction 5 - Other Disclosures

5.5 Contingenl Assets, Contingent Liabilities
and Subsequent Events

Materiality

The group’s annual report is based on the concept of mate-
riality and the group focuses on information that is consid-
ered material and relevant o the users of the consolidated
financial statements. The consolidated financial statements
censist of a large number of transactions. These fransactions
are aggregated into classes according to their nature or func-
tion and presented in classes of similar items in the conseol-
idated financal statements as required by IFRS and Danish
disclosure requirernents for listed companies. Ifitems are
individually immaterial, they are aggregated with other items
aof similar nature inthe financial statements orin the notes,

The disclosure requirements are substantial in IFRS and for
Danish listed companies. The group provides these specific
required disclosures unless the information is considered
immaterial to the economic decision-making of the readers
ofthe financial statements or not applicable.

BF




1.1 Accounting Pollcles - Contlnued

Consolidated Financial Statements

The consolidated financial statements include Genmab

AfS (the parent company) and subsidiaries over which the
parent company has sontral, The parent controls a subsidi-
ary when the parent is exposed te, or has rights to, variable
returns. fram its inwalvement with the subsidiary and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power te direct the
activities of the subsidiary. A company overview is included
in note 5.3,

The group’s consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the basis of the financial statements of the par-
ent company and subsidiaries = prepared under the group’s
accounting policies - by combining similar accou nting items
on a line-by-line Basis. On consolidation, intercormpany in-
come and expenses, intercompany recenvables and payables,
and unrealized gains and losses on transactions between the
cansolidated companies are eliminated,

The recorded value of the equity interests in the consolidated

bsidiaries is elimi with the pr ate share of the
" equity. Subsidianies are o lidated from the
date when control is transferred to the group.

The inceme statements for subsidiaries with a different function-
al currency than the group presentation curency are translated
inte the group's presentation currency at the year’s weighted
average exchange rate, and the balance sheets are translated
at the exchange rate in effect at the balance sheet date,

Exchange rate differences arising from the translation of
Foreign subsidiaries shareholders® equity at the beginning
af the year and exchange rate differences ansing a3 a result
of foreign subsidianes” income staternents being translat-
ed at average exchange rates are recorded in translation
reserves in shareholders’ equity.

Funetional and Presentation Currency

The financial staternents have been prepared in Danish Kro-
ner (DKK), which is the functional and presentation currency
of the parent company.

Farelgn Currency
Transactionsin foreign cumrencies are translated atthe exchange
rates in effect at the date of the tran saction.

Exchange rate gainsand losses ansing between the trans-
action date andthe settlerment date are recognized inthe
income statement as financial items.

Unsettled monetary assets and liabilities in foreign cur-
rencies are translated at the exchange rates in effect at the
balance sheet date, Exchange rate gains and losses ansing
between the tran saction date and the balance sheet date are
recognized in the income statement as financial iterms.

Classification of Operating Expenses

in the income Statement

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expenses primarily include
salaries, benefits and other employes related costs of our
research and development staff, license costs, manufactur
ing costs, pre-clinical costs, clinical trials, contractors and
outside service fees, amortization of licenses and rights, and
depreciation and impairment of intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment, to the extent that such costs are
related to the group’s research and development activities,

Flease see note 3.1 fora more detailed descrption an the
treatment of Genmab's research and development expenses,

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative sxpenses relate to the manage-
rent and administration of the group, This includes salanes,
benefits and other headeount costs related to management

R E

and suppadt funclions including human rescurces, informa-
tien technology and the finance departments. In addition,
depreciation and impairment of intangible assets and prop-
erty, plant and equipment, to the extent such expenses are
related to administrative functions are also included. Gen eral
and administrative expendes ars racognized in the incorme
statement in the peried to which they relate.

Statement of Cash Flow
The cash flow statementis presented using the indirect
method with basis in the net result before tax.

Cash flow from operating activities is stated as the net result
adjusted for net financial iterns, non-cash operating items
such as depreciation, amedtization, impai ment losses, share-
based compensation expenses, provisions, and for changes in
working capital, interest paid and received, and corporate tax-
&3 paid. Working capital mainly comprises changes in receiv-
ables, provisions paid and other payables excluding the items
included in cash and cash equivalents. Changes in non-current
assets and liabilities are included in working capital, if related
to the main revenue-producing activities of Genmab.

Cash flow from investing activities is comprised of cash flow
fromthe purchase and sale of intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment and financial assets as well as purchase
and sale of marketable securities.

Cash flow from finan cing activities is compnsed of cash flow
fromthe issuance of shares, if any, and payment of long-term
loans including installm ents on lease habilities. Finance
lease transactions are considered non-cash transactions.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash, bank deposits,
and marketable securities with a maturity of three months ar
less en the date of acquisition.




1.1 Accounting Pollcles - Continued

The cash flow statement cannot be derived salely from the
financial statements.

Dedivative Finanelal Instruments and Hedging Activities
Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently re-mea-
sured at their fair value, The method of recognizing the resulting
gain or loss depends on whether the demvative is designated
a3 a hedging instrument, and if 3o, the nature of the item being
hedged. Genmab designates certain derivatives as either:

1. Fairvalue hedge (hedges of the fair value of recognized
assets or liabilities ora firm commitment); or

2. Cash flow hedge (hedges of a particular risk associated
with & recognized asset of liability or & highly probable
forecast transaction).

Atthe inception of a transaction, Genmab documents the
relationship between hedging instruments and hedged
iterns, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy
for undertaking various hedging fransactions, Genmab also
documents its assessment, both at hedge inception andon
an engoing basis, of whether the derivatives that are used in
hedging transactions are highly effactive in offsetting chang-
25 in fair values or cash flows of hedged items,

Maowermnents on the hedging reserve in other comprehensive
incame are shown as part of the statement of sharehol ders”
equity. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classi-
fied &s a non-current asset or liability when the remaining
maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 manths and as
a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the
hedged itern is less than 12 months,

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of deriva-
tives that are designated and qualify as cash low hedges is

recognized in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss

Financial Statements | Basls of Presentation

relating to the ineffective portion and changes in time value
of the derivative instrument is recognized immediately in the
income staterment within financial income or expenses.

When ferward contracts are used to hedge forecast transac:
tions, Genmab generally designates the full change in fair
value of the forward contract (including ferward points) as
the hedging instrument. In such cases, the gains orlosses
relating to the effective porfion of the change in Fair value of
the entire forward contract are recognized in the cash flow
hedge resene within equity.

Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and
qualifiy as fair value hedges are recorded in the income state-
ment, tagether wath any changes in the fair value of the hedged
asset or liability that is attributable to the hedged risk,

Treasury Shares

The tatal amount paid to acquire treasury shares including
directly attributable costs and the proceeds from the sale of
treasury shares are recognized in refained eamings.,

Collaboration Agreements
lab

R Bl

a3 this would require unanimows consent of both parties

on decisions related to the relevant activities, Under these
agreements, joint clinical development may be selected on
aproduct by product basis and would result in development
cost and product ewnership being shared equally going
forward, These agreements also include provisions which
will allow the parties to opt out of joint development at key
points along the development timeline. An opt out by one of
the parties would result in loss of joint cantrol by the opt cut
party and the ather party is entitled to continue developing
the product on predetermined licensing temrns.

Duning 2017, Seaftle Genetics exercised its option to corde-
welop and co-commercialize tisotumab vedotin. All costs
and profits for tisetumab vedotin will be shared on a 50:50
basis and joint control exsts over the relevant activities,
Accordingly, only the tisotumab vedotin collaboration with
Seattle Genetics is considerad a jeint eperation under IFRS
11, “foint Arrangements.”™ Revenues, expenses, receivables,
and payakles in connection with our collaboration agree-
ments are included in the related financial statement lines
and footnotes.

h

The group has entered into vanous tion agr s

During 2019, Genmab entered into aresearch

primanly in connection with the group's rescarchand devel-
opment projects and the clinical testing of product candi-
dates. The collaboration agreements are structured such
that each party contnbutes its respective skills in the various
phases of the development project and contain contractual
terms regarding sharing of control over the relevant activities
under the agreement, No joint control exists for the group's
collaborations with Janssen and Novartis as they retain final
deqision making authonty over the relevant activities,

The group’s collabomtion agreements with BioNTech may
become subject to joint control if product candidates under
the agreements are selected for joint clinical development

cellabortion and license agreement with CureVac AG, The
strategic partnership will focus onthe research and deval-
opment of differentiated mRNA-based antibody products by
cambining CureVac's mRNA technalogy and know-how with
Genmab’s proprietary antibody technologies and expertise.

Under the terms of the agreement Genmab will provide
CureVac with a USD 10 million upfront payment. The compa-
nies will collaborate an research to identify an initial produst
candidate and CureVac will contribute a portion of the averall
costs for the development of this product candidate, up to
the firme of an Investi; | New Drug Appli Genrmab
would thereafter be fully responsible for the development




1.1 Accounting Pollcles - Continued

and cammercialization of the potential product, in exchange
for undisclosed milestones and tiered royalties to CureVac.
The agreement also includes three additional aptions for
Genmab to obtain commercial licenses to CureVac™s mRNA
technology at pre-defined terms, exercisable within a five:
year period. If Genmab exercises any of these options, it
would fund all research and would develop and commercial-
ize any resulting product candidates with CureVac eligible to
receive between USD 275 million and USD 368 millien in de-
velopment, regulatory and commiercial milestone payments

for each product, dependent on the specific product concept.

In sddition, CureVac i4 eligible to receive tisred royalties in
the range from mid-single digits up to low double digits per
product. CureVac would retain an option to participate in de-
velopment and/or commercialization of ane of the potential

additional programs under pre-defined terms and conditions.

Further, Genmab made a EUR 20 million equity investmentin
CureVac, Refer to note 3.4 for additional information regard-
ing Genmab's equity investment in CureVac.
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1.2
Mew Accounting
Policies and Disclosures

Mew Accounting Policles and Disclosures for 2019

Genmab has, with effect from January 1, 2019, implement-
ed the amendments to IFRS 9, 1A5 19, 1AS 28, IFRIC 23 and
ennual improvements to IFRSs 2015-2017. The implementa-
tion of these standards has not had a matenial impact on the
entityin the current reporting period.

Genmab has, with effect from January 1, 2019, implement-
ed IFRS 16. The impact of the adoption of the standard is
describad below.

Effective January 1, 2019, we adopted IFRS 16 using the mod-

ifed refrospective fransition methad. Under this method, all
leases ane recognized in the balance sheetas a ight-of-use
("ROU"} asset with a corresponding lease liability, except for
short term assets in which the lease term is 12 months or
less, orlow value assets. ROU assets represent our right to
use an underlying asset forthe Lease term and lease liabili-
ties represent our obligation to reake lsase payments ansing
from the lease. The ROU assetis depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight:
line basis overthe lease term. In the income statement,
lease costs are replaced by depreciation of the ROU asset
recognized aver the lease term in operating expenses, and
interest expenses related to the lease liability are dassified
in financial items. The comparative information has not been
restated and continues to be reported under the accounting
standards in effect for those penads.

Genmab determines if an arangement is a lease at inception.

Genmab leases various properties and IT equipment. Rental
contracts are typically made for fived periods.

R Bl

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and con-
tain a wide range of different terms and conditions.

Agaets and habilities ansing from a lease are initially mea-
sured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of fixed payments, less any lease incen-
tives. As our leases do not provide an implicit rate, we use
our incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at commencement date in determining the present
value of lease payments. Qur lease terms may include op-
tions to extend or terminate the lease when itis reasonably
certain that we will exercise that option_ |n detemrnining the
lease term, management considers all facts and circumstanc-
esthat create an economic incentive to exercise an extension

aphion, or not exercise a termination aption, Extension op-
tions (or periods after termination options) are only included
inthe lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not terminated),

ROU assets are measured at costand include the amount
afthe initial measurernent of lease liability, any lease
payments made at or before the commencement date less
any lease incentives received, any initial direct costs, and
restoration coats.

Fayments associated with short-tern leases and leases
of lowe-value assets are recognized on a straight-line basis
asan expense in the income statement. Short-termn leases
are [eases with a lease term of 12 months or less and low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of
affice furniture,

On adaption of IFRS 18, the group recognized lease liabili-
ties in relation to leases that had previously been classified
as ‘opemting leases’ underthe principles of 1AS 17 Leases.
Thess liabilities wers measured at the present value of the
remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessees




1.2 New Accounting Policies and Disclosures - Continued

mcremental borrowing rate as of January 1, 2019, The weight-
ed average lessee'sincremental borrowing rate applied to
the lease liabilities on January 1, 2019 was 3.7%.

The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the financial state-
ments as of |anuary 1, 2019 is shown in the table and further
described below:

January 1,
{DKK milliosh 2019
Dperating lease commitmeents disclosed
w5 at Decembar 31, 2018 184
Discounted using the group's incremental
botrowing rate of 3.7% [£¥]
(Lee): shost-term leases frcognizacd
on a steightline basis as expense [E1]
Audedf{loss): adjustments as o result of
a cliffi=ren? trsarbmenk of exbersion and
Bermdnatian options 1)
Leazs Eability mcognized at January 1, 2019 205

Thie ROU assets established at lanuary 1, 2019 on the
balance sheet was DKK 205 million. Net result decreased by
DKE & million a3 a result of adepting IFRS 16 in 2019, Cash
Flows from operating activities increased by DKK 25 million
and cash flows from finandng activities decreased by DKK 31
million a3 a result of adopting IFRS 14 in 2015,

For purposes of applying the modified retrespective approach
n adoption of IFRS 16, Genmab has used the following prac-
tical expedients permitted by the standard:

+ applied the exemption not to recognize ROU assets and

liabilities for leases with less than 12 months of lease
term from January 1, 2019, and
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+ excluded initial direct costs for the measurement of
the ROU assets at the date of initial application

There are no ROU assets that meet the definition ofnvest-
ment property.

New Accounting Policies and Disclosures
Effective in 2020 or Later
The IASE has issued, and the EU has endorsed, a number

R Bl

Accounting estimates are based on histencal expenience and
various other factors relative to the circumstances in which
they are applied, Estimates are generally made basedon
information available at the time. An example would incdlude
rmanagement’s estimation of deferred income tax assets.

Accounting judgments are made in the process of apply-
ing Genmab's accounting policies. These judgements are
typically made based on the guidance and informeation

of new standards and updated some existing standard

the majority of which are effective for accounting periods
beginning on January 1, 2020 or later. Therefore, they are nat
incorporated in the consolidated financial statements, There
are no standards that are not yet effective and that would

be expected to have s material impact on the entity in the
current or future reporting perieds and on fores ccable future
transactions.

1.3
Management’'s Judgments
and Estimates under IFRS

In prepanng financial statements under IFRS, certain prowi-
sions in the dards require rr
including various accounting estimates and assumptions,
These affect the application of accounting policies, as well
@3 reported amounts within the financial statements and
disclosures,

1t i X

Determining the carrying amount of sorme assets and liabil-
ities requires judgments, estimates and assumptions con-
ceming future events that are based on historical experience
and other factors, whidh by theirvery nature are associated
with uncertainty and unpredictability.

lable at the time of application. Examples would include
management's judgements utilized in determining revenue
recognition,

These estimates and judgments may prove incomplete orin-
eorrect, and unexpected events of circurnstances may arise,
The Genmab group is also subjectto risks and uncertainties
which may lead actual results to differ from these estimates,
both pasitively and negatively. Specific nsks for the Genmab
group are discussed in the relevant section of the manage-
rent’s review and in the notes to the financial statements,

The areas imvolving a high degree of judgment and estimaticon
that are significant to the financial statements are surmma-
rized below. Refer to the identified note s for further informa-
tien on the key agcounting estimates and judgements wtilized
in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements.

2.1 Recogrition of revenue
2.3 Valuation assumptions in Bleck-Schobes pricing model
24 Estimation of current and defered incoms tases

2.1 Estimated useful life of intangible assets

31 Copi of hand , costs
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Section 2
Results
for the Year

This section includes disclosures
related to revenue, information about
geographical areas, staff costs, taxation
and result per share. A detailed
description of the results for the year

is provided in the Financial Review
section in the Management's Review.

Research and development costs
are described in note 3.1,
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2.1 Revenue

2.1

Revenue

(KK million) 2019 2018
Rawanus:

[ 1,741
Mkt payieits 6R7
Ligerse feas 48
Raimbursement income M 245
Total 5.388 3028
Rewenue split by collaboration partner:

Janssen {DARZALEX daratumumaly & Duotody) 2,390
Nowartis (Arzerm/ofatumsmak]) IR
Othir collabartion partniors 297
Tatal 5346 3,025

Revenue may vary from period to period as revenue compris-
es royalties, milestone payments, license fees and reim-
bursement of certain research and development costs under
Genrmab's collaboration agreements.

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Genmab recognizes revenue when its custorner obtains confrol
of promised goods or services, in an amount that reflects the
consideration that the entity expects to receive in exchange for
those goods or serdces, To determine revenue recognition for
arrangements that Genmab determines are within the scope of
IFRS 15, Genmab performs the following five steps: (i) identify
the contract(s) with a custornes; (u identify the pedarmance
obligaticns in the contract; (i) determine the transaction price;
(iw) allocate the transaction price to the performance obliga-
tions in the contract; and () recognize revenue when (oras)
the entity satisfies a performance obligation. We only apply the

five-step model to contracts when itis probable that the entity
will collect the consideration it is entitled to in exchange for
the goods or senaces it transfers to the customer. At contract
inception, once the contract is detemined to be within the
scope of IS 15, we assess the goods or services promised
within each contract and identify, as a performance obligation,
and assess whether each promised good or sendce is distinet,
We then recognize as revenue the amount of the transaction
price that is allocated to the respective perfarmance obligation
when [or as) the performance cbligation is satisfied.

Royalties: License and collaboration agreements include sales-
based royalties including commercial milestone payments
based on the level of sales, The license has been deemed to
be the predominant itern to which the oyalties relate under
our licanse and eollaboration agreements. As a result, Genmakb
recognizes revenue when the related sales occur,
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2.1 Revenue - Continued

lest ¥ Atthe inception of each ar

that includes milestone payments, Genmab svaluates whether
the achievement of milestones are considered highly probable
and estimates the amount to be included in the transaction
price using the most likely amount method. IFit is highly
probable that a significant revenue reversal would nat eccur,
the associated milestone value is included in the transaction
price. Milestone payments that are not within the control of
Genmab orthe license and collaboration partner, such as

latary approvals, are not idered probable of being
achieved until those approvals are received. The transaction
price ia then allocated to sach performance obligation ona
relative stand-alone selling price basis, for which Genmab
recognizes revenue as or when the performance obligations
under the contract are satisfied. At the end of each subse-
quentreporting period, Genmab re-evaluates the probability of
achievement of such development milestones and any related

recognizng revenue from nen-refundable, upfront fees, Under
all of Genmab*s existing license and collaboration agres-
ments the license to functional intellectual propery has been
determined to be distinet from other pedormance sbligations
identified in the agreesment.

Reimbursement Income for RED Senvices: License and collab-
oration agreements include the reimbursement or cost shanng
for research and development services and payment for FTEs
at contractual mtes. RED services are performed and satisfied
overtime given that the customer simultaneously receives and
eonsumes the benefits provided by Genmab and revenue for
RED services is recognized over time rather than a point

in time.

E Managements judgments and Estimates
Evaluating the criteria for revenue recognition under license and

constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its esti f th all
transaction price, Any such adjustments are recorded on a
cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect revenue and
eamings in the period of adjustment. Under all of Genmab's
existing license and collaboration agreements, milestone pay-
ments have been allocated to the license transfer performance
obligation.

License Fees for Intellectual Property: IF the license to
Genmab’s functional intellectual property is determined to be
distinct from the other performance obligations identified in
the arangerment, Genmab recognizes revenues from non-re-
fundable upfront fees allocated to the license at the paint in
time the license is fransfered to the licensee and the licensee
is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that
are bundled with other promises, Genmab utilizes judgment
to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation
to determine whether the combined peformance obligation is
satisfied over fime or 8t & pointin time and, if over tirme, the
appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of
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! agresments requires management’s judgement to
assess and determine the following:

# The nature of performance obligations and whether they
are distinct or should be combined with other performance
abligations to determine whether the performance
obligations are satisfied over time or ata pointin tirme.

Anassessment of whether the achieverment of milestone
payrments is highly probable.

The stand-alone selling price of each perfornance obliga-
tion identified in the contract using key assumptions which
may include forecasted revenues, development timelines,
reimbursement mtes for personnel costs, diswount rates and
probabilities of technical and regulatory success,
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2.2 Information about Geographical Areas

2.2
Information about
Geographical Areas

The Genmab group is managed and operated as one busi-
ness unit, which is reflected in the organizational structure
and internal reporting. Mo separate lines of business or
separate business enfities have been identifed with respect
to any of the product candidates or geographical markets and
no segment information is cerrently disclosed in the internal
reporting.

Accordingly, it has been concluded that it is not relevant to
include segment disclosures in the financial statements as
the group”s business activities are not organized on the basis
of differences in related product and geographical areas.

E Accounting Policles

Geographical information is presented for the Genmab
group"s revenue and non-current assets. Revenue is attribut-
ed to countries on the basis of the location of the legal entity
holding the contract with the counterparty and operations.
Non-current assets compnise intangible assets and property,
plant and equipment,

(DEK millioak

Dtk
Hatherdands
usA

fapan

Total
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Han-current Nen-current

Revenus Aszets Revesus Accets
2019 2018

5,166 2025 454

- - 167

- - 1

5.360 To7 3,025 632

E
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2.3 Staff Costs

2.3
Staff Costs

{DKK millioah

Weages and salaries
Share-based compermsation
Defined contribution plans
Db socil secuity costs
Govarmment grnts

Tetil

Staff costs are Iscluded in the lscoms statemant as follows:

Research and development expenses
General and administrative expernses
Govermment grants related to research and development axpenses

Total
doverage susber of FTE
Humber of FTE at year sad;

Fleass referto note 5.1
Board of Directors an.

Management.
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for additional information regarding the remuneration of the

651

&71
548

2018
71
24

(L]

324
122
56

313
377

Gowernment grants, which are a reduction of payroll taxes

in the Netherlands, amounted to DEK 96 million in 2019

and DKK 86 million in 2018, These amounts are an offset to
wages and salanes and research and development costs in
the table above. The increase in 2019 was primarily due to in-
creased research activities in the Netherdands combined with
ahigher level of grants provided by the Dutch government.

B Accounting Policies

Share-based Compensation Expenses

Genrmab has granted restricted stock units (RSUs) and war-
rants to the Board of Directors, Executive Management and
employees under various share-based compensation pro-
grams. The group apphes IFRS 2, according to which the fair
wvalue of the warrants and R5Us at grant date is recognized a3
an expense in the income statement over the vesting pericd.
Such compenaation expensss represent calculated values
of warrants and R5Us granted and do not represent actual
cash expenditures. A corresponding amount is recognized in
shareholders® equity as both the warrant and R5U programs
are designated as equity-settled share-based payment trans-
actions,

Government Grants

The Dutch Research and Development Act “WBS0™ provides
compen sation for a part of research and development wages
and other costs through a reduction in payroll taxes, WBSQ
grant amounts are offset against wages and salaries and
resednch and development costs,




2.3 Staff Costs - Continued

@ Management’s Judgments and Estimates.
Share-based Compensation Expenses

In accordance with IFRS 2 “Share-based Payment,” the fair
value of the warrants and RSUs at grant date is recognized as
an expense in the income statement over the vesting peried,
the period of delivery of work. Subsequently, the fairvalue is
not remeasured.

The fairvalue of each wamant granted during the year is calcu-
lated using the Black-Scholes pricing model. This pricing model
raquines the input of subjective assumptions such as:

The expected stock price wolatility, which is based upon
the historical volatility of Genmab's stock price;

The risk-free interest rate, which is determined as the
interest rate on Danish government bonds (bullet issuesh
with a matunty of five years;

.

The expected life of warrants, which is based on vesting
terms, expected rate of exercise and life terms in the
current warrant program,

These assumptions can vary over time and can change the
Fair value of future warmants granted.

Valuation Assumptions for Warrants Granted
in2019and 2018

The farr value of each warrant granted dunng the year is
calculated using the Black-Scholes pncing model with
the following assumptions:
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Welghted Average 2019 2018
Fairvalii: perwarrant on grant date w661
Share price 1,0%4.66
Exercise price 103466
Expescted dividend yiald 0%
Expecied stock price volatility A1
Bisk free interest ate .01%)
Expected life of warants 5 years

Based on a weighted average fair value per warrant of DKK
425.80 (2018: DKK 386.61) the total fair value of warrants
granted ameunted to DKK 131 million (2018: DKK 102 mil-
lion} on the grant date.

The fair value of each RSU granted during the yearis equal to
the closing market price on the date of grant of one Genmab
AJS share. Based on a weighted average fair value per RSU
of DKK 1,511.70 (2018: DKK 1,033.95) the tatal fair value of
RSUs granted amounted to DKK 176 million (2018: DK 106
million) on the grant date.

E
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2.4 Corporate and Deferred Tax

2.4
Corporate and Deferred Tax

Taxation — Income Statement & Shareholders' Equity

Corporate tax consists of cument tax and the adjustment of
deferred taxes during the year. The corporate tax expense far
2019 was DKK 692 million compared te DKK 140 million in
2018, The conporate tax expense in 20019 was due to curment
and deferred tax expense of DEK 722 millien partially offset
by the reversal of valuation allowances on deferred tax as-
sets related to future taxable income, resulting in a discrete
tax benefit of DEK 29 million, The corporate tax expense

in 2018 was due to cument and deferred tax expense of
DKE 207 million partially offset by the reversal of valuation
all on deferred tax assets related to future taxable

mcome, resulting in a discrete tax benefit of DKK 268 million.
In 2019, a current tax benefit of DEK 24 million was recorded
directly in shareholders’ equity, which was related to sxcess
tax benefits for share-based instruments. In 2018, a current
tax benefit of DKK 24 millian and & deferred tax banefit of
DKE 66 million recorded directly in shareholders® equity,
which was related to excess tax benefits for share-based

DIKK millioa 2019 2018
Currant b on result i 161
Addjustenent to de ferrd b 254 ASH
Adjisteent Lo valsation allowarnss {4%h 475
Total tax for the period in the income statement 693 140

A reconciliztion of Genmak's effectve tax rte relative to the Danish statutony tax e is s follows:

{DKK millioah 2019 2018

Bt result before tax 1,612
Compated 22% (2018: 22%) 629 355

T affect of:

Recognition of praviously unrecognized tax losses and '
deductible temporary differences. {15} 267y instruments.
Hon-deductible expenses fron-taxable income and other permanent differences, et 75 53

Al other (] [i1]
Total tax effect 4 218
Total tax for the period s the iscome statement L1x] 150
Total tax for the period la sharvholders” squity 24} (89)
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2.4 Corporate and Deferred Tax - Continued

Taxation - Balance Sheet
Significant components of the deferred tax asset are as follows:

{DEK miliioa)

Taxdeductible bsses
Share-Based Instrments
Capitalized R&D Costs
Other tempory differences

Waluation allowance

Tota| defarred tax s=ets

Genmab records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred
taxassets to reflect the net amount that is more likely than
notto be realized, Realization of our deferred tax assetsis
dependent upon the generation of Future taxable income,
the amount and timing of which are uncertain, The valua-
tion allowance requires an assessment of both positive and
negative evidence when defermining whetherit is more
likely than not that deferred tax assets are recoverable; sudh
@ssessment is required on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis,
Based upan the weight of available evidence at December
31, 201%, Genmab determined that it was more likelythan
not that & portion of our deferred tax assets would be real-
izable and consequently released a portion of the valuation
allowance against net defered tax assets and during the
fourth quarter of 2019 recorded a discrete tax benefit of DKK
29 million (2018 DKK 268 million). The decision to reverse a
portion of the valuation allowance was made after manage-
ment cansidered all available evidence, both positive and
negative, including but not limited to our historical operating
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18

653
118

784
(394)
388

(3510

139

results, income or loss in recent periods, cumulative income
inrecent years, forecasted eamings, future taxable income,
and significant risk and uncertainty related to forecasts. The
release of the valuation allowan ce resulted in the recognition
of certain deferred tax assets and a decrease to corporate tax
expense.

As of December 31, 2019, we had gross tax koss camy-for-
wards of DKK 1.6 billion for income tax purposes, &s com-
pared to DKK 2.6 billion in 2018, The reduction was drven
prirnarily by the utilization of all remaining tax loss camy-
Forwards available for our parent entity, Genmab AJS. The
DKK 1.6 billion in gross tax loss carry-forwards as of Decem-
ber 31, 201% can be camied forward through varicus periods
through 2038,

E

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Corporate Tax

Corporate tax, which consists of cument tax and the adjust-
ment of deferred taxes for the year, is recognized inthe
income statement, except to the extent that the tax is attrib-
utable to items which directly relate to shareholders” equity
orother comprehensive income.

Current tax assets and liabilities for current and prior peniods
are measured at the amounts expected to be recovered from
of paid to the tax authorities,

Deferred Tax

Deferred tax is accounted forunder the liability methad which
requires recognition of defermed tax on all temporary differences
between the camying amount of assets and liabilities and the
tax base of such assets and liabilities. This incudes the tax
value of tax losses camed forward.

Deferred tax is calculated in accordance with the tax regulations
in the individual countries and the tax rtes expected to be in
Force at the time the deferred tax is utilized, Changes in defermed
tax as aresultof changes in tax rates are recognized in the
income staternent.

Deferred tax assets resulting from tempornary differences, includ-
ing the tax value of losses to be carned forward, are recognized
only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available agamnst which the differences can be utilized,




2.4 Corporate and Deferred Tax - Continued

@ Management’s Judgments and Estimates.

Deferred Tax

Genmab recegnizes deferred tax assets, including the tax
base of tax loss camy-forwards, if management assesses
that thess tax assets can be offset against positive taxable
incame within a foreseeable Future. This judgment is made
on an ongoing basis and is based on nememnus factors,
including actual results, budgets, and business plans for the
coming years.

Realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon anum-
ber of factors, including future taxable eamings, the timing
and amount of which is highly uncertain. A significant portion
of Genmab's future taxable income will be driven by future
events that are highly susceptible to factors outside the con-
trol of the group including commercial growth of DARZALEX,
specific dinical cutcomes, regulatory approval, advan cement
of our product pipeline, and others. In 2018, we fully released
the remaining valuation allowance on defered tax assets for

our parent entity, Genmab AfS. Genmab intends to contin-

Tuah I ificant

ue ining a againsta ug

2.5
Result Per Share

(KK million)

Net rezult

(5hares)

Avarage number of chaes outstanding
Avarage number of treasury shares

Average numb er of shares sxcl. reszury shares
Awerage rumber of share-bas ed irstruments, dilation

of shares,

Basic nel fesiill pes shar
Dbluted et result per share

Inthie calculation of the diluted net result per share for 2019,
299,573 warrants (of which 748 were vested) have baen
excluded as these share-based instruments are outofthe
mioniey, compared to 177,269 warrants (of which 64,703
were vested) for 2018,

Ac tii

portion of its deferred tax assets related to its subsidi

until there is sufficient evidence to support the reversal of all
or some additional portion of these allowances. The Campa-
ny may release an additional part of its valuation allowance
against its deferred tax assets related to its subsidianes. This
release would result in the recognition of certain deferred tax
assets and a decrease to income tax expense forthe perod
such release is recorded,
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Policies

Basic Net Result per Share

Basic net resclt per share is calculated as the net result for
the year divided by the weighted average number of out-
standing ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares,

2018

1472

018
61,383,972
(116,466)

41,267,506
rrARY

42,044,957

2403
2373

Diluted Net Result per Share

Diluted net result per share is calculated as the net result for
the year divided by the weighted average number of out-
standing ordinary shares, excluding treasury shares adjusted
farthe dilutive effect of share equivalents,
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Section 3
Operating
Assets

and Liabilities

This section covers the operating as-
sets and related liabilities that form the
basis for the Genmab group's activities.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are in-
cluded in note 2.4. Assets related to the
group’s financing activities are shown in
section 4.
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3.1 intangible Assets

3.1

Intangible Assets
ADEK million)

2019

Cost per January 1

Licenzas, Rights, and Patants

Total Intangibls Azzats

Aclelitions for the year =
Disposals for the year = =
Exchange rate adjwstment
Cost at Decambar 31 897 a97
Accumulated amartization and impaimment per farary 1 (328
Amonization lor the year =9
Disposals for the year o S
Exchange rte adjustment

and o bar 31 427 (427)
Carrying smount at Becembar 31 570 470
018
Cost per Januany 1 392 ELE
Aelelitione For the year 406 406
iz posals for the year - -
Exchange rabe adjustmant = =
ozt st Decem ber 31 796 w8
ecwmulated amorti zation and impaimment per fnuang 1 [#l4] (L5
Amnontization for th y (60) ()
Disposals for the year - -
Exchonge mbe adjustment - -
Accumulated amartization and Impalrmanst per December 31 (328) (328)
Carrylag smount at Decomber 31 470 470
Depreciation, amertization, and impaiments
are included in the income statement as follows:
ADKK milion) 2019 e
Research and development expenses. 28 &0
Generl and administmthe expenses =
Total 99 &0
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3.1 Intangible Assets - Continued

There were no impairment losses recognized in 2019 or 2018,

In December 2019, Genmab entered into a research collabo-
ration and license agreement with CureVac AG. The strategic
partnership will facus on the research and development of
differentiated mRNA-based antibody products by combining
CureVac's mRNA technology and know-how with Genmab’s
proprietary antibady techaologies and expertise. Genmab
wall provide CureVac with a USD 10 millien upfront payment
and a ELR 20 million equity investment (Refer to Hote 3.4

for details on the equity investment). The companies will
collaborate on research to identify an initial preduct candi-
date and CureVac will contribute a portion of the overall costs
for the development of this product candidate, up fo the time
of an | New Drug Appli Genmab would
thereafter be fully responsible for the development and
commercialization of the potential product, in exchange for
undisclosed milestones and tiered royalties to CureVac, The
agreement also includes three additional options for Genmab
to obtain commercial licenses to CureVac’s mRMA technology
at pre-defined terms, exercisable within a five-year period,

If Genmak exercises any of these options, it would fund all
research and would develop and commercialize any resulting
product candidates with CureVac eligible to receive between
UsD 275 million and USD 368 million in development, regu-
latory and comrmercial milestone payments for eadh product,
dependent on the specific product concept, In addition,
CureVac is eligible to receive tiered royalties in the range from
rmid-single digits up to low double digits per product, The
camying amount of the intangible asset related to the CureVac
agreement was DKE 67 million as of December 31, 2019, The
intangible asset is being amorized on a straight line basis
through December 2026,
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In |uly 2018, Genmab entered into a research collaboration
and exclusive license agresment with Immatics Biotechnal-
ogies GmbH (Immatics) to discover and develop next-gener-
ation bispecific immunotherapies to target multiple cancer
indications. Genmab received an exclusive license to three
proprietary targets from Immatics, with an option ta license
up to two additional targets at predetermined economics.
Under the terms of the agreement, Genmab paid |mmatics
an upfront fee of USD 54 millien and Immatics is eligible to
receive up to USD 550 million in development, regulatary
and commercial milestone payments for each product, as
well as tiered royalties on net sales, The carmying amountof
the intangible asset related to the Immatics agreements was
DKK 274 million as of December 31, 2019 and DKK 223 mil-
lion a3 of December 31, 2018, The intangible asset is being
amaortized on a straight line basis through July 2025.

The group has previcusly acquired licenses and nights to
technology ata total cost of DKK 152 million, which have
been fully amortized during the pernod from 2000 to 2005,
The licenses and rights are still in use by the group and con-
tribute to our research and development activities.

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Research and Development

The group currently has no intemally genemted intangible
assets from development, as the critena for recognition of
an asset are not met as described below.

Licenses and Rights

Licenses, rights, and patents are initially measured at cost
and include the net present value of any future payments,
The net present value of any future payments is recognized

as a liability. Milestone payments are accounted for as an
increase in the cost to acquire licenses, rights, and patents,
Genmiab acquires licenses and nights primarily to get access
to targets and technologies identified by third parties.

Depraciation

Licenses, nghts, and patents are amortized using the stright-
line method aver the estimated useful life of fve to seven years.
Amortization, impaimment losses, and gains or losses on the
disposal of intangible assets are recognized in the income state-
rnent as research and development costs, general and adminis-
trative expenses or discontinued operations, a3 appropriate.

Impairment

If circumstances or changes in Genmab™s eperations indicate
that the camying amount of non- current assets in a cash-gen-
erating unit may not be recoverable, management revisws the
asset for impairment.

Management’s judgments and Estimates
Research and Development

Intemnaily Generated Intanglble Assets

According to the 1AS 38, “infangible Assets,” intangible
mssets ansing from development projects should be recog-
nized in the balance sheet. The criteria that must be met for
capitalization are that:

* the development project is clearly defined and identifiable

and the attributable costs can be measured reliably during
the development period;
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3.1 Intangible Assets - Continued

the technological feasibility, adequate resources to com-
plete and & market for the product or an internal use of the
preduct can be documented; and

+ management has the intent to produce and market the
product or fo use it internally,

Sudch an intangible asset should be recognized if sufficient
eartainty can be documented thatthe future incame from the
development project will exceed the aggregate costof produce
tion, devel , and sale and admini ion of the product.

A development project involves a single product candidate
undergoing a high number of tests to illustrate its safety
profile and its effect an human beings prior ts obtaining the
necessary final approval of the product from the appropriate
authorities. The future economic benefits associated with the
individual development projects are dependent on obtaining
such approval. Considering the significant niskand duration
of the development period related to the development of
biolegical products, management has concluded that the
Future economic benefits assocated with the individual proj-
ects cannot be estimated with sufficient certainty until the
project has been finalized and the necessary final regulatory
approval of the product has been obtained. Accordingly,

the group has not recognized such assets at this time and
therefore all research and development costs are recognized
inthe incame statement when incurred, Total research and
development costs amounted to DKK 2,386 millien in 2013,
compared to DEK 1,521 million in 2018,
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Antibody Clinkcal Trial Material Purchased

for Use in Clinlcal Trials

According to cur accounting policies, antibody clinical trial ma-
terial (antibodies) for use in clinical trials that are purchased
from third parties will only be recognized in the balance sheet
at cost and expensed in the income statementwhen con-
sumed, if all eriteria for recognition as an asset ane fulfilled.

During both 2019 and 2018, no antibodies purchased from
third parties for use in clinical trials have been capitalized,
&s these antibodies do mot qualify for being capitalized as
inventory under either the “Framework™ to IAS[IFRS or 1AS 2,
“Inveniories."

Faas dluded that the purchase of antibodies
From third parti s cannot be capitalized as the technical feasibil-
ity is not proven and no sltemative use exists. Expenses in con-
nection with fantibodies are expensed as incurred,

Estimation of Useful Life

Genmab has licenses, nghts, and patents that are amortized
overan estimated wseful life of the intangible asset. As of
Decernber 31, 2019, the carrying amount of the intangible as-
sefs was DKK 870 million (2018 - DKK 470 million). Genmab
estimates the useful life of the intangible assets to be at least
seven years based on the expected obsolescence of such as-
sets, However, the actual useful life may be shorter or longer
than seven years, depending on the development risk, the
probability of suceess related to the development of & clinical
drug as well as potential launch of competing products,




3.2 Property, Plant and Equipment

3.2

Property, Plant and Equipment

ADKE million

2019

Castat Januany 1

Addditions for theyear
Trareiirs btwsen the chrde
Dispasaks for the year
Exchange rte adjustment

Imprevements Fumbhure and Fixtures

Costat December 31 6
Accumulated depreciation and impaimmentat jamsary 1 (]
Depreciation far the yesar {6)
s posalks fos the year -
Exchange mte sdjustment -
Ao takl i s -
,.
o at n (14)
Carrying amoust at bscembar 31 B4
2018
Castat Janaany 1 i}
Additions for the year Fl
Trarsfars betwean the chsses 82
D posaks for the year T3]
Exchange rate adjustment -
Costat December 31 95
al Jssnusany 1 I3
Depreciation for the year (]
s posals for the year &
Exchange rte adjustment -
o Tath n s
Carrying amcust at Dscambar 31 a7
{DKK milliaak
- i p— i thel

Resemrch and development expenses
Geperal and administrative expenses

Total
Financial Statements | Gperating Assets and Liablities

13 follows:

Construstion

Total Bropacty,
Plast and Equipment

249
FY

13
nz
(125)

(28)
12

(151}

2018
26

Capital expenditures in 2019 and 2018 were primarily related
to the expansion of our facilities in the Netherlands and the
United States to suppert the growth in our preduct pipeline,

E Accounting Policles

Property, plant and equipment is mainly comprised of lease-
hold improvements, assets under construction, and equip-
paent, furniture and Rxtures, which are measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation, and any impairment losses.

The cost is comprised of the acquisition price and direct
casts related to the acquisition until the asset is ready for
use, The present value of estimated liabilities related to the
restoration of sur offices in connection with the termination
ofthe lease is added to the cost if the liabilities are provided
For. Costs include direct costs, salary related expenses, and
coats to subcontractons.,

Depraciation

Depreciation, which is stated at cost net of any residual
walue, is calculated on a straight-line basis over the expected
useful lives of the assets, which are as follows:

Equipment, Fursiture and Fixtures
Computur Equipment
Leazshold Imp rovements

55 years
Byear

5 yesars o the kesese e, ifshorter

The useful hives and residual values are reviewed and adjust-
ed if appropriate on a yearly basis, Assets under construction
are not depreciated.
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3.3 Leases

Impaimment

If circumstances or changes in Genmab's operations indicate
that the carrying ameount of non-current assets in a cash-gen-

erating unit may not be recoverable, management reviews the
asset for impairment.

The basis for the review is the recoverable amount of the
massts, determined as the greater of the fair value less cost
to sell or its value in use, Value in use is calculated as the net
present value of future cash inflow generated from the asset.

I the carmying amount of an asset is greater than the recov-
erable amount, the asset is written down to the recoverable
amount. An impairrment loss is recognized in the income
staternent when the impairment is identified,

3.3
Leases

The group has entered into [ease agreements with respect
to office space and office equipment.

The leases are non-cancelable for vanous penods up to
2032
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Amounts recognized in the balance sheet
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to
leases:

Amounts recognized in the statement of comprehensive income
The statement of comprehensive income shows the following
amounts relating to leases:

Decembar31,  December31,
(DK millicn) 2019 2018
Right-of-use azcets
Proparties 173 -
Equipment 4 -
Tatal right-of-use azsets 177 -
Laazs liabilities
Current 26 -
Naii-ciifrent 155 -
Tatal lease labilities L} =

There were no additions to the right-of-use assets in 2019,

The total cash outflow for leases in 2019 was DKK 38 million.
See the table below for activities for leas e liabilities in 2019:

Dacambar 31,  December3l,
ORE milliar) 019 2018
Depreclation charge of
right-of-ize azsets
Properties 7 =
Equipment 1 -
Total depreciation charge of
right-of-uze assets 26 -
Tt i 7 =

i
Experse melating b shor o leases. 6 -

Interest expense isincluded in net financial items and ex-
penses relating to short-term leases are included in operating
expenses in the statement of comprehensive income,

December 31, Cazh flows, Othar December 31,

(DKK millicn) 2018 nat changes* 2019

Lease liabilities, due after 1 year 181 28] 12 155

Lease liabilities, due within 1 year E2 = 2 26

Tabal lsasa labilities 205 (33) 14 181
* Dher changes include non-cash movents, mdsding sccnsed inteeest eagense which

e presented o5 operating cnsh Aows in the stabenent of cash Rows wiven paid,
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3.3 Leases - Contnued

Future minimum payments under our leases as of December
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, are as follows:

(DK pil e 2019 2018
Payment dus

Less than 1 year U 31
1 o 3years i 65
Moz than 3 years, but less

than % years 2 a5
Mo than 5 years 93 106
Tokal 6 247

During the second quarter of 2019, Genmab A[S's subsid-
iary Genmab US, Inc,, entered into a lease agreement with
respect to office and laboratory space with a commencement
date in March 2020 and is non-cancellable until August
2031, The total future minimum payments over the term of
the lease are approximately DEK 215 million and &stimated
capital expenditures ta fit out the space are approximately
DKK 176 million of which DKK 42 million have been incurred
and capitalized as of Decernber 31, 2015,

During the third quarter of 2019, Genmab A/S's subsidiary
Genmab BM, entered into a lease agreement with respect to
office and laboratory space with a commen cerment date in
February 2022 and is noncancelable until January 2032, The
total future minimum payments cver the term of the lease are
approximately DKK 90 million and estimated capital expendi-
tures to it out the space are appraumately DKK 70 million,

Flease refer to note 1.2 for disclosure of the impact of adop-
tion of IFRS 16 on our consolidated financial statements.
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The comparative information has not been restated and
continues to be reported under the accounting standards
in effect for those penods.,

ﬂ Accounting Pallcles

All leases are recognized in the balance sheet as a nght-of-
use ("ROU") asset with a corresponding lease liability, except
For short tern asasts in which the lease term i 12 months or
less, orlow value assets. ROU assets represent our ight to
use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabili-
ties represent our obligation to rake lsase payments anising
from the lease, The ROU assetis depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-

certain that we will exercise that option. |n determining the
lease term, management considers all facts and circum stanc-
es that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension
option, or not exercise a termination option, Extension op-
tiens (or periods after termination options) are only included
in the lease term if the lease is reasonably certain to be
extended (or not temninated).

ROU assets are measured at cost and include the amount of the
initial measurement of lease liability, any lease payrnents made
at or bafore the commencement date less any lsade incentives
received, any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.

line basis over the Lease term, Inth
lease costs are replaced by depreciation of the ROU asset
recognized over the lease term in operating expenses, and
interest expenses related to the lease liability are classified
in financial items.

Genrmab determines if an amangement is & lease at inception.

Genmab leases vanous properties and IT equipment, Rental
contracts are typically made for fixed periods. Lease terms
are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions.

Assets and liabilities ansing from a lease are initially mea-
sured on a present value basis, Lease liabilities include the
net present value of fixed payments, less any lease incen-
tives, As cur leases do not provide anamplict rate, we use
our incremental bomowing rate based on the information
available at commencement date in determining the present
value of lsase payments, Our lease terms may include op-
tions to extend or terminate the lease when itis bl

with short-tern [eases and leases of
lowevalue assets are recognized on a straight-line basis as
an expense in the income statement. Short-tern leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less and low-value
assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office
Fumiture.

3.4
Other Investments

The Group™s other investments consist of a DKK 149 million
(EUR 20 million) investrnent in CureVac AG, the developer of
mRMA technelogy, which was entered into on December 19,
2015, This investment is also a strategic partnership that
will Focus on the research and development of differentiated
mRMA-based antibody products by combining CureVacs
mRNA logy and know-how with Genmab's proprietary
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3.5 Recelvables

antibody technologies and expertise, The investment in
CureVac AG is recorded at fair value through profitand loss,
This investment represents 2.2% ownership of CureVac
AGand is recorded at a fair value of DKK 148 million as of
December 31, 2019,

The payment related to this investment has not been made
as of December 31, 2019 and is recorded within other
payables, Flease refer to note 3.7 for additional information
regarding other payables.

B Accounting Policies

Qther investments are measured on initial recognition at fair
walie, and subsequently at fair value, Changesin fair value are
recognized in the income staternent under financial items,

Receivables

(DKK millioah 2019 2018
Receivabibe rlated 1o

collabomtion agreemsants 1,266
Intenest meceivabibes C}
Dbt feciivalides ¥ £t
P payim & its 62 19
Tatal 3,001 1,337
Hon-cumrent meeivables 11 10
Current receivables 2,950 1,327
Total 3,001 1,337
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During 2019 and 2018, there were no losses related to
receivables and the credit risk on receivables is considered to
b limited. The provision for expected credit losses was not
significant given that there have been no credit losses over
the last three years and the high-quality neture (top tier life
science companies) of Genmab™s customers are not likelyto
resultin future default sk,

The receivakles are mainly comprised of royalties and mile-
stones from our collabomation agreements and non-interest
bearing receivables which are due less than ane year from
the balance sheet date.

Flease referto note 4.2 for additional information about

interest receivables and related credit risk,

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Receivables are designated as financial assets measured
atamortized costand are initially measured at fair value or
transaction price and subsequently measured in the balance
sheet at amortized cost, which generally corresponds to nom-
inal value less expected credit loss provision.

Genmab utilizes a simplified approach to measuring expect-
ed credit losses and uses a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all receivables, To measure the expected credit losses,
receivables have been grouped based on credit nisk charac:
teristics and the days past due.

Prepayments include expenditures related to a future finan-
cial year, Prepayments are measured at nominal value,

3.6

Provisions

(DEK million) 2019 2018
Provisions per January 1 1 1
Ackfitions during the year 1 =
Usi=d eluriryg Uhis yesar = =
Releasad duging the year - -
Tatal at Decomber 31 2 3
Mon-curment prostsions 2 1
Current provisions = =
Total at Dacomber 31 2 1

Provisions include contractual restoration obligations related
tooour lease of offices. In determining the fair value ofthe
restoration obligation, assumptions and estimates are made
in relation to discounting, the expected cost to restore the
offices and the expected timing of those costs.

The majority of non-current provisions are expected to be
settled in 2022,

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Provisions are recognized when the group has an existing
legal or constructive obligation as a result of events occur-
ring prior to ar on the balance sheet date, and it is probable
that the utilization of economic resources will be required to
settle the obligation, Provisions are measured at manage-
ment's best estimate of the expenses required to settle the
obligation.




3.7 Other Payables

A provision for onerows contracts is recognized when the

expected benefits to be derived by the group from a contract
are lower than the unavoidable cost of meeting its obligations
under the contract. The provision is measured at the present
walue of the lewer of the expected cost of temminating the con-
tract and the expected net cost of continuing with the contract,

‘When the group has & legal obligation to restore our office lease
n connection with the termination, a provision is recognized
comesponding to the present value of expected future costs.

The present value of a provision is calculated using a pre-tax
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
walue of money and the risks specific to the sbligation, The
ncrease in the provision due to passage of time is recog-
nized as an interest expense.

3.7

Other Payables

KK millionih 2019 2018
Liabilities relatid o eollaboration

agreements L
Staffcast linbilites k.
Db lEabilities mn3
Accaiis payabile 69
Total st Decembar 31 40 318
Haon-cumrent other payables 1 2
Curment other piayables B3y 316
Totul at Decembar 31 540 318
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B Accounting Policies
Qther payables are initially measured at fair value and subse-
quently measured in the balance sheet atamortized cost,

The current ather payables are compnised of liabilities that
are due less than one year from the balance sheet date and
are in general not interest bearing and settled on an ongoing
basis during the financial year.

Mon-current payables are measured at the present value of
the expenditures expacted to be required to settle the obliga-
tion using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assess:
ments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the liability due to passage oftime
is recognized as interest expense.

Staff Costs Liabilities

Wages and salaries, social security contributions, paid leave
and banuses, and other employee benefits are recognized
inthe financial year in which the employee pefomnms the
assocated work,

Termination benefits are recognized as an expense, when the
Genmab group is committed demanstrably, without realistic
possibility of withdrawal, to a forrmal detailed plan to termi-
nate employment.

The group’s pension plans are classified as defined contri-
bution plans, and, accordingly, no pension obligations are
recognized in the balance sheet, Costs relating to defined
contribution plans are included in the income statement in
the peried in which they are accrued and outstanding contri-
butions are included in other payables.

Accounts Payable
Accounts payable are measured in the balance sheetat
amortized cost.

Other Liabllities

Other liabilities primari ly includes accrued expenses related
to cur research and development project costs,
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Section 4

Capital Structure,
Financial Risk
and Related
ltems

This section includes disclosures related
to how Genmab manages its capital
structure, cash position and related risks
and items. Genmab is primarily financed
through partnership collaborations.

Financial !

4.1 Capltal Management

4.1
Capital Management

Genmab’s goal is to maintain a strong capital base so as to
rnaintain investor, creditor and market confidence, and a
continuous advancement of Genmab's preduct pipeline and
business in general.

Genmab is primarily financed through partnership collabora-
tion income and had, as of December 31, 2019, a cash po-
aition of DKK 10,971 million compared to DKK 6,106 million
asof December 31, 2018. The cash position supports the
advancement of our product pipeline and operations.

The adequacy of our available funds will depend on many
factors, including continued growth of DARZALEX sales, prog:
ress in our research and development programs, the mag-
nitude of those programs, our commitments to existing and
new clinical collabortors, ourability to establish commercial

and licensing amangements, our capital expenditures, market
developments, and any future acquisitions. Accordingly, we
may require additional funds and may attempt to raise addi-
tional funds through equity or debt financings, collaborative
agreements with partrers, or from other sources.

The Board of Directors monitors the share and capital strue-
ture to ensure that Genrmab's capital resources suppart the
strategic goals, There was no change in the group™s approach
to capital management procedures in 201%.

Meither Genmab &/5 nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to
extemally imposed capital requirements.




4.2 Financlal Rlsk

4.2
Financial Risk

The financial risks of the Genmab group are managed centrally.

The overall nsk management guidelines have been approved
by the Board of Directors and includes the group’s invest:
rment policy related to our marketable securities, The group's
risk management guidelines are established to identify and
analyze the nisks faced by the Genmab group, to setthe ap-
propriate risk limits and controls and to moaiter the Asks and
adherence to limits. It is Genmab’s palicy not to actively specu-
late in financial risks. The group's financial Ask management is
directed solely against monitoring and reducing Anancial risks
which are directly related to the group’s operations.

The primary objective of Genmab’s investment activities is

to preserve capital and ensure liquidity with a secondary
objective of maximizing the income derived from security in-
westments without significantly increasing risk. Therefore, our
investment policy includes among other items, guidelines and
ranges for which investments (all of which are shorterterm in
nature) are considered to be eligible investments for Genmab
and which investment parameters are to be applied, mcluding
maturity limitatiens and credit ratings. In addition, the policy
includes specific diversification criteria and investment limits
to minimize the risk of loss resulting from over con centration
of assets in a specific class, issuer, cumrency, country, or eco-
normic seckor.

Currently, our marketable securties are administrated by two
external investment managers. The guidelines and investrment
managers are reviewed regularly to reflect changes. in market
conditions, the group's activities and financial position. In
2016, the investment policy was amended te increase the
investment limits for individual securities and reduce the
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percentof the total portfolio required to have a maturity of less
than one year. The changes were made as aresult ofthe higher
wvalue of our marketable secunties portfolic and reduced need
for short duration securities.

Inaddition to the capital managementand financing risk men-
tioned in note 4.1, the group has identified the following key
financial isk arems, which are mainly related to aur maketable
secunties portfolio:

+ credit nsk;
+ foreign cumency nisk; and
= interest rate risk

Al our marketable securities are traded in established
rnarkets. Given the current market conditions, all future cash
inflows including re-investments of proceeds from the disposal
of marketable securities are invested in highly liguid and con-
servative investments. Please refer to note 4.4 for additional
information regarding marketable securities.

Cred|t Risk

Genmab is exposed to credit risk and lasses on our market-
able secunties, and bank deposits, The maximum credit
exposure related to Genmab's cash pasition was DKK 10,971
millien as of December 31, 2019 compared to DXK 6,106
millicn as of December 31, 2018. The maximum credit
exposure to Genmab's receivables was DK 3,001 million

a3 of December 21, 2019 compared to DKK 1,337 million
asof December 31, 2018.

Marketable Securities
To manage and reduce credit risks on our securities, Genmab's

policy is to ensure only securities from investment grade
issuers are eligible for our portfolios. Mo issuer of marketable
secunties can be accepted if it is not assumed that the credit
quality of the issuer would be at least equal to the rating
shown below:

Category SEF Moody's Fitch
Sheaet-temm Al P1 F1
Lotg-term [ A3 A

Qur eurrent portfalio is spread over & number of different
secunties and is conservative with a focus on liquidity and
secunity. As of December 31, 2019, 91% of our marketable
secunties had atriple A-rating from Maody's, S&F, or Fitch
compared to 90% at December 31, 2018, The total value of
marketable securities including interest receivables amount-
ed to DKK 7,553 million at the end of 2019 compared to DKK
5,591 million at the end of 2018,

Bank Deposits

To reduce the credit risk on our bank deposits, Genmab
pelicy is only to invests its cash deposits with highly rated
financial institution s. Currently, these financial institutions
have a short-term Fitch and S&P rating of at least F-1 and A-1,
respectively. In addition, Genmab maintains bank deposits at
& level necessary to support the short-term Funding require-
ments of the Genmab group. The total value of bank depasits
including short-term marketable securities amounted to DKE
3,552 million a3 of December 31, 2019 compared to DKK 5332
million at the end of 2018, The increase was due to higher
short-term marketable securities classified as cash and cash
equivalents driven by timing and working capital needs as of
December 31, 2015,




4.2 Financlal Rlsk - Continued

Receivables

The credit risk related to our receivables is not significant
based on the high quality nature of Genmab®s customers. As
disclosed innote 2.1, Janssen is Genmab™s primary customer
inwhich receivables are established for royalties and mile-
stenes achieved.

Forelgn Currency Risk

Genmab's presentation curmency is the DKK; however,
Genmab’s revenues and expenses are in a number of differ-
ent currencies. Consequently, thers is a substantial risk of
exchange rate fluctuations having an impact on Genmab’s
cash flows, profit loss) and/or financial position in DEK.

The majority of Genmab®s revenue i3 in USD, Exchange

rate changes to the USD will result in changes to the trans-
Lated value of future net result before tax and cash flows.
Genmab's revenue in USD was 97% of total revenue in 2019
as compared to 95% in 2018.

The foreign subsidianes are not significantly affected by
cumency risks as both revenues and expenses are primarily
settled inthe foreign subsidiaries’ functional cumencies.

Assetsand Liabilities in Forelgn Cumrency

The most significant cash Aows of the group are DKK, EUR,
USD and GBPand Genmab hedges its currency exposure

by maintaining cash positions in these currencies. Jur total
rmarketable securities were invested in EUR (12%), DKK
(23%), USD (64%) and GBPF (1%) denominated securifies as
of December 31, 201%, compared to 16%, 30%, 53%, and
1%, as of Decernber 31, 2018,
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Based on the amount of assets and liabilities denominated
in EUR, USD and GBP as of December 31, 2019 and 2018,

a 1% increase/decrease in the EUR to DKK exchange rate
and a 10% increase/ decrease in both USD to DKK exchange
rate and GBP to DKK exchange rate will impact our net result

befare tax by approximately:

Bl

(DK rillicn)

2018

EUR
use
GEP

i bk

= e mnabysis assumes that all othe
== Thee rnovements in the i

in part

Benm deash, urities, rece

1%

%
1%
1%

tiana curmency of the entity diffors fmm the curmncy that the manetry e s denominated in,

Impact of
Chasgein
Exchange

Rate™

1
1,083

d liabilities) vhvere the func-




4.2 Financlal Rlsk - Continued

Accordingly, significant changes in exchange rates could
cause our net result to fluctuate significantly as gains and
lzsses are recognized in the income statement. Qur EUR
exposure is mainly related to our marketable securities,
contracts and ether costs denominated in EUR. Since the
intreduction of EUR in 1999, Denmark has committed to
maintaining a central rate of 7.46 DKK to the EUR. This rate
rruy Auctuate within & +/- 2.25% band. Should Denmadk"s
policy towards the EUR change, the DKK values of our EUR
denominated assets and costs could be materially different
compared to what is calculated and reported under the
existing Danish policy towards the DKK/EUR,

The USD currency exposure was mainly related to cash de-
posits, marketable securities, and receivables related to our
collaborations with |anssen and Novartis. Significant changes
inthe exchange rate of USD to DKK could cause the net result
to change materially as shown in the table above. In prior
years, Genmab has entered into dervative contracts to hedge
a portion of the associated currency exposure of royalty pay-
ments from net sales of DARZALEX by Janssen, As of Decem-
ber 21, 2019, there were no denvatives cutstanding.

The GBP currency exposure is mainly related to contracts
and marketable securities denominated in GBP.

Interest Rate Risk

Genmab’s exposure to interest rate risk is primarily related
tothe marketable secunties, as we cumently do not have
significant interest beanng debts,
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Marketable Sacurities

The securities in which the group has invested bear interest
rate risk, as a change in market denved interest mtes may
cause fluctuations in the fair value of the investments. In ac-
cordance with the objective of the investment activities, the
particlio of securities is monitored on a total return basis.

To control and minimize the interest rate dsk, the group
maintains an investment portfolio in a vanety of securities
with a relatively short effective duration with both fixed
and variable interest rates.

As of Decemnber 31, 2019, the portfolic has an average
effective duration of approximately 1.1 years (2018: 1.4
years) and no securities have an effective duration of more
than 9 years (2018: 8 years), which means that a change in
the interest rates of one percentage point will cause the fair
value of the securities to change by appreximately 1.1%
[2018: 1.4%). Due to the short-term nature of the current
investments and to the extent that we are able to held the
investments to matunty, we consider our current exposure
to changes in fair value due to interest rate changes to be
insignificant compared to the fair value of the portfalio.

Maturity Profile Marketable Securities

(DK millior)  W2009 02020 W20 HM022 02003
2,880
1,574
505 401
2018 138 75
L -
3,891
2,150
T
493
2019 | . L

2024+




4.3 Financlal Assets and Llabilitles

4.3
Financial Assets and Liabilities

Categories of Financial Assets and Liabilities
ADKE millioak
Catagory

Financial assets at fair value through profitor loss.
Markitabli soruritios.
Dither lamves tments

Flnanel th

Recoivables ox, prepyments
Cash and cash squivakents

n d ot amortized cozt

s prayablis
Lease Liabilities

FairValue Measurament

Marketable Securities

All fair market values are determined by reference to exter-
nal sources using unadjusted quoted prices in established
rrarkets for our marketable securities (Level 1),

Hate 2019 2018
A 7.419 5573
14 149 -
15 1,318

EXE]
3.r (318}
33 -

Other Investments

The Group's other investments consist of a DK 149 million
investment in CureVac AG, the developer of mRMNA technology,
which was entered into on December 19, 2019 (Level 3).

DKK millioaih Note

Azzetz Maszured at Fair Value
Marketable sacurithes A4
Dither lnwestmernts T4
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2018
Lovel2

2019

Lowel 2 Level 3 Lawel 1 Level 3

7419 - - 5,573 - -

145 - - =

ﬂ Accounting Policies

Classification of Categories of Financial Assets and Liabllities
Genmab classifies its financal assets held into the Following
rmeasurement categones:

* those to be measured subsequently at fairvalue (either
through other comprehensive income, or through
profit or loas), and

* those to be measured at amortized cost,

The classification depends onthe business model for manag-
ing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash
Flows,

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or other comprehensive income,

Genmab reclassifies debt investments when and only when
its business model for managing those assets changes.

Further details about the accounting policy for each ofthe
categories are outlined in the respective notes.

Fair Value Measuremant

The Genmab group measures financial instruments, such
as marketable secunties, 2t fair value at each balance sheet
date. Management assessed that financial assets and ha-
bilities measured at amortized costs such as bank deposits,
receivables and other payables approximate their canying
amounts largely due to the short-term maturities of these
instruments.




4.3 Financlal Assets and Llabilitles - Continued

Fairvalue is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paad to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measerement date, The
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that
the fransaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes
place either:

+ |nthe principal market for the assetor liability, or

* Inthe absence of a principal market, in the most advanta-
geous market farthe asset or liability.

The principal or the most advantageous market must be
accessible by the Genmab group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assurnptions that market participants would use when pric-
ing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants

actin their econormic bestinterest,

The Genmab group wses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximizing the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimizing the use of
unobservable inputs.
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For financial instruments that are measured in the balance
sheet at fair value, IFRS 13 for financial instruments requires
disclosure of fair value measurements by level of the fallow-
ing fair value measurement hierarchy for:

* Levell - Quoted prices [unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

* Level 2 = Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either
directly (that is, as prices) of indirectly (that is, derived
from prices)

Level 3 — Inputs forthe asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs).

For assets and liabilities that are recognized in the finan-

cial statements on a recurring basis, the group determines
whether transfers have occurred batween levels in the

hi Hy by ing ¢ ization (based on the lowest
level input that is ssgnificant te the Fair value measurement
23 a whole) at the end of each reporting pericd. Any transfers
between the different levels are carried out at the end of the
reparting period, There have not been any transfers between
the different levels during 2019 and 2018,

E




4.5 Marketable Securities

4.4
Marketable Securities

LKK o 2019 2018
Costat January 1 4,195
Addiliore: for the year 1521
Disposals for the year (2,227)
ozt st Decemnber 31 5494
Falevalue adjustment at Janusry 1 zo)
Fairvalue adjustment For the year 199
Fairvalus adjustmant at December 31 2 e
Wat Bosk value ot Deceenbor 31 7.419 5,573
Nt Boak valus In pareentage of cost 101% 101%
Markwt Avarage Markat Average

Value Effective Share Waluw Effactive Share
{OKE millionk 2019 Duratien % 2018 Durstion %
Kimgdom of Denmark bonds and tressury bills 1.4 S04 1.54 "
Danish mortgage- backed securities 2.3 17% 1,177 258 2%
DEEK portfolio 20 3% 1,685 .39 0%
EUR partfalia
European govemment bonds and treasury bills 1 17 a5 138 16%
USD portfolie
W5 gordernenent bonds and treasury bills: 4,778 0.6 6% 938 .84 53%
GBP pertiolia
UK govemment boncs and treasuny bills 1% i .55 1%
Total portfolia 7.419 1.07 100% 5,573 139 100%
Markatable securitios 7419 5,573
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Interest Income

Total interest income amounted to OKK 120 million in 2019
compared to DKK $3 million in 2018, The increase was due
to the combination of higher yield and level of investmentin
marketable securities in 2019 as cormpared te 2018,

FairValue Adjustment

The total fairvalue adjustment was an expense of DEK 40
million in 2019 compared to income of DKK 199 million in
2018. Fair value adjustments were primarily driven by foreign
exchange movements and the timing of maturities and pur-
chases of marketable securities.

Please refer to nate &.2 for additional information regarding
the risks related to our marketable securities,




4.5 Marketable Securities - Continued

B Accounting Policies

Marketable securities consist of investments in securities
with a matunty greater than three months at the time of ac-
quisition. Measurement of marketable securities depends an
the business model for reanaging the asset and the cash low
characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement cate-
gories into which the group classifies its debt instruments:

+ Amortized cost:
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash
Aows, where those cash flows rep aalely pay
of principal and interest, are measured atamortized cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest
rate method, Any gain or loss arnising on derecognition
is recognized directlyin profit or loss and presented in
ather gains/(losses), together with foreign exchange gains
and lesses, Impaimment losses are presented as
a separate line item in the statem ent of profit or loss.

.

Fairvalue through profit and loss (FVPL):

Assets that do not meet the critenia for amortized cost

or A0 are measured at FVPL A gain orloss on a debt
investment that is subsequently measured at FUFL s
recognized in profit or loss and presented net within other
gains/{losses) in the period in which it anises.
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Genmab's portfolio is managed and evaluated on a fairvalue
basis in accordance with its investrent guidelines and the
information provided intemally te management. This busi-
ness model does not meet the criteria for amortized costor
FWOC and as & result marketable secunties are measured

at fair value through profitand loss. This classification is
consistent with the prior year's classification.

Genmab invests its cash in deposits with major financial

institutions, in Danish mortgage bonds, and notes issued by
the Danish, European and Amenican governments, The secu-
rifies can be purchased and sold using established markets,

Transactions are recognized at trade date,

E




4.5 Financlal Income and Expenses

4.5
Financial Income and Expenses

(KK milliosih

Financlal incoma:
I sband other Brandial income

Realized and unrealized gains on marketable securities (Fairvalee through

income statement], net
Realiped and unmalized girs on firvalue hedges, net
Realized and unmealized exchange mte gains, net

TotalFinazcial incoma

Flnameclal axpanzes:

Irtere st and ather Brancial cxpenses

Realized ard lized losses on 1
{Fair vaslue throaigh the income statementl, net

Total inancial axpances.
Nat Finasclal itama

Interest and other Brancial income on
Financial assets measired ot amortized cost

Interest and other financial expenses on financial
liabilities measured st amortized cost

Reelized and unrealized exchange rate gains, netof DKK 9%
million in 2009 were driven by foreign exchange movements,
which positively impacted our USD denominated portfolio and
cash holdings. The USD strengthened against the DK during
2019, resulting in realized and unrealized exchange rates
gains.
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2019 2018
128 62

3 =

2

L] 178
228 243
1

T 1

m 232
22 ]

Maore specifically, the USD DKE foreign exchange rate increased
from £.5213 at Decemnber 21, 2018 to £.6759 at December 31,
2019.

Flease referto note 8.2 for additional information on foreign
currency risk.

B Accounting Policles

Financial income and expenses include interestas well as
realized and unrealized exchange rate adjustments and real
ized and unrealized gains and losses on marketable secun-
ties (designated as fair value through the income statement),
and realized gains and losses and write-downs of ather
secunties and equity interests (designated a3 available-
for-sale financial assets),

Interest and dividend income are shown separately from
gains and losses on marketable securities and other securi-
ties and equity interests,

Gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion of a cash
fow hedge and changes in time value are recognized im-
rmediately in the income statement a3 part of the Anancial
income or expenses.




4.6 Share-Based Instruments

4.6
Share-Based Instruments

Restricted Stock Unit Program

Genmab A/S has established an R5U program (equity-settled
share-based payment transactions) as an inzentive for all
the Genmab group™s employees, members of the Executive
Management, and members of the Board of Directors,

R3Us are granted by the Board of Directors in accordance
with authorizations given to itby Genmab A/S' shareholders
and are subject to the incentive guidelines (Remuneration
Principles) adopted by the geneml meeting.

Under the terms of the RSU program, RSUs are subject to

a cliff vesting period and become fully vested on the first
banking day of the month following a period of three years
from the date of grant, If an employes, member of Exscutive
Management, or member of the Board of Directors ceases
their employment or board membership prior to the vesting
date, all R5Us that are granted, but not yet vested, shall lapse
automatically.

However, if an employee, a member of the Executive Manage-
ment or a member of the Board of Directors ceases employ-
rment or board membership due to retirement or age limita-
tion in Genmab AJS' articles of association, death, senious
sickness of seriows injury then all R5Us that are ganted, but
notyet vested shall remain outstanding and will be settled in
accordance with theirterms,

In addition, foran employee or & member of the Executive
Management, RSUs that are granted, but not yet vested shall
remain cutstanding and will be settled in accordance with
their terms in instances where the employment relationship
is terminated by Genmab without cause.
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Within 30 days of the vesting date, the holder of an R5U
receives one share in Genmab A/S for each RSU. In jurs-
dictions in which Genmab as an employer is required to
withhold tax and settle with the tax authority on behalf of the
employes, Genmab withholds the number of RSUs that are
equal to the monetary value of the employee’s tax obligation
From the total number of R5Us that otherwise would have
been issued to the employes upon vesting (“net settle-
ment”). Genmab AfS may at its sole discretion in extraordi-
nary circumstances choose to make cash settlement instead
of delivering shares,

The REU program contains anti-dilution provisions if changes
occurin Genmab's share capital prior fo the vesting date
and provisions to accelerate vesting of RSUs in the event of
change of control as defined in the RSU program.




4.6 Share-Based Instruments — Contlnued

RSU Activity in 2019 and 2018

Humbar of RSUz
Numbarof Held by Formar
Muriberal  RSU2 Hald by the Wuarrs bear of Mambars of the
REU= Hold by the Exmscutive RSUzHeld  Board of Directors Total
Board of Diinectors L t phoy and R5Us
Outstanding at January 1, 2018 14,320 B3.857 S5.4T5 5,304 168,044
Granted* 5. 2T4 18,020 79,395 - 102639
Settbed (#.425) (35,7251 - {3000 (ar.asd)
Trwiis fi i) - = (3,358) 3,358 -
Cancelled - = (1,466 2,865) (4,331
Dutstandlag st Decombar31, 2015 20,127 66,152 130,046 2,577 218,902
Qutstanding at january 1, 2019 20,127 66,152 130,046
Granted* B 25793 87,168
Satthed
TransFerred - 8,355
Cancelled = = -
Ditstandiag &t Decamber 31, 2019 19,953 71,865 08,859 6,230 307,907
= k505 held by the Board of Dirctors inclisdes BSUs g plorpoee o Mhpmbiers s employ L A5 o its s bidiares,

Flease referto note 5.1 for additional information regarding
the number of R3Us held by the Executive Management and
the Board of Directors

The weighted average fair value of RSUs granted was DKK
1,511.70 and DKK 1,033.95 in 2019 and 2018, respectively.

Financial Statements | Capital Structure, Fimancal Risk and Related Ihems

Warrant Program

Genmab A/5 has established warrant programs (equity-set-
tled share-based payment transactions) as an incentive for
all the Genmab group’s employees, and members of the
Execufive Management.

‘Warrants are granted by the Board of Directors in accor-
dance with sutharizations given to it by Genmab AfS'
sharehaolders,

Warrant grants to Executive Managerent are subject to the
incentive guidelines (Remuneration Prnciples) adopted by
the general meeting.

Under the terms of the warrant programs, warrants are

granted at an exercise price aqual to the share price on the
grant date. According to the warrant programs, the exercise
price cannot be fixed at a lower price than the market price
at the grant date. In connection with exercise, the warrants
shall be settled with the delivery of shares in Genmab A/S.

The warrant programs contain anti-dilution provisions if
changes occurin Genmab’s share capital prior to the war-
rants being exercised.

Warrants Granbed from August 2004 until April 2012
Under the August 2005 warrant program, warrants can be
exercised starting from one year after the grant date. Asa
general rule, the warant holder may only exercise 25% of
the warrants granted per full year of employment or affilia-
tion with Genmab after the grant date.




4.6 Share-Based Instruments — Contlnued

However, the warrant holder will be entitled to continue to
be able to exercise all warrants on a regular schedule in
mstances where the employment relatienship is terminated
by Genmab without cause.

In case of a change of contral event as defined in the
warrant programs, the warmant holder will immediately be
granted the right to exercise all of his [her warrants regard-
less of the Fact that such warrants would otherwise only
become fully vested at a later point in time. Warrant holders
who are no langer employed by or affiliated with Genmab
will, however, only be entitled to exerase such percentag:
s as would otherwise have vested under the terms of the
warrant program.

Warrants Granted from April 2012 until March 2017
Following the Annual General Mesting in April 2012, a new
warrant program was adopted by the Board of Directors.
‘Whereas warrants granted under the August 2004 wamrant
program will lapse on the tenth anniversary of the grant
date, warmnts granted under the new Apnil 2012 warrant
program will lapse at the seventh anniversary of the grant
date. All other terms in the warrant programs are identical.
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Warrants Granted from March 2017

In March 2017, a new warrant prograrm was adopted by the
Board of Directors, Whereas wamants granted under the
April 2012 warrant program vested annually over a four year
period, warrants granted under the new March 2017 warrant
program are subject to a Jiff vesting period and become Ful-
ly wested three years from the date of grant. All other terms.
in the warrant programs are id entical.

E
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4.6 Share-Based Instruments — Contlnued

Warrant activity in 2019 and 2018

Niisnbar of Waminks
Hald by Former
Number of Humber of Membars of the
Warrantz Held Warrantz Held NHumberof Executive Mansgement, Weighted
by the Beard By the Exssutive ‘Warrants Held Board of Directors Total Avarage
KK millicr) of Birectors t by and ‘Warrants Exarcise Price
Quistandiag st jasuary 1, 2018 92,242 559,737 574,295 293,912 1,518,186 436,00
Granted* 3,161 50,464 122,882 - 276,507 1,034.66
Exierised (20,925) (130,000) 6,883 (114,089) (311,897 241.34
Expiricd - - - (17,875) (37,875) 25376
Cancelled - - 4,582) 017,129 (21,711) P40.01
Transfirs = - (29,624) 19,624 - -
Quistanding at Decomber 31, 2018 THATE 480,201 Toe,088 162,443 1,423,210 59214
Exercisable at yeor end Lo vy 355,347 297,028 152,743 BOSBAS 20508
Exercisabbe warmmn s in the money at year erd 60,68 0,775 2115 148, 701 #0779 130.4%
Quistandiag at jasuary 1, 2019 Toe,088 162,443 1,423,210
Granted* 28 19
Exercised 7 i
Explred - - -
cancellsd - - -
TransFars (314 - (93,944) = =
Outstendliag st Decombar 31, 2019 62,334 347,801 B58.973 1,413,624 862.03

Exisreisabibe at year and
Exercisable warmants in the monsy at year end

* W rants held by the Board of Directors includes wamants grnted o employes-elected Boand Menbe

Please refer to note 5.1 for additional information regarding As of December 31, 2019, the 1,413,624 oulstanding war- Far exercised warrants in 2019 the weighted average share
the number of warrants held by the Executive Management rants amounted to 2% of the share capital (2018: 2%). price at the exercise date amounted to DKK 1,267.%2 (2018:
and the Board of Directors. DHK 1,206,11).
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4.6 Share-Based Instruments — Contlnued

Weighted Average O Warrants at I ber 31, 2019 Welghted Average Warrants at D ber 31, 2018
Humber of ‘Welghted Humbaer of Humber of Welghted Humbarof
Exarcice Wamants Average Remaining Warrants  Exercice Warrants Average Remaiaing ‘Warmnts
Price Grant Date mding  ContractuslLife (in years) bl Price dl [ i (im yoarz) Exwrcizable
i) (KK
i October 14, 2011 75325 279 1525
4041 June 22, 2011 BEH7E 248 85,975
375 October 14, 2011 1.79 5,950 45,24 April 25, 2012 1,000 0.32 1,000
adual 2011 148 80,205 ab.ra Jume: 2, 2010 85,000 142 85,000
Ab.ja 2010 0.4 85,000 55.85 Al 6, 2011 8,500 227 8,500
2011 127 LS00 G660 Decentber 9, 2010 37,750 1.0 37750
6,60 2010 0.94 35,500 G750 October 14, 2010 3,250 1.79 3,250
67.50 2010 0.7 3,250 665 April 21, 2010 5450 131 S50
665 2010 0.31 5,325 7925 October 9, 2017 5,000 0.78 5,000
147.50 2013 0.30 500 BOLSS December &, 2012 111,750 0.93 111,750
199,00 L2013 0.45 1,000 00 Jamuary 31, 2013 1,375 1.08 1,375
290,00 , 2014 111 2,750 12875 Dckober 8, 2009 5,075 0.77 5,075
22040 2014 179 17,750 14750 April 17, 2013 S0 1.30 IS0
FI5.30 2014 1.45 #6525 174,00 June 17, 3009 25,000 LT 25,000
27550 2013 0.9% 137,059 199,00 Juiwe 12, 2012 1,000 1.45 1,000
2013 0.78 3,665 21000 Febnary 10, 2014 3,088 211 3088
2014 1.096 S0,986 23040 Delober 15, 2014 33,800 279 33,800
2015 234 8,100 22530 June 12, 2014 11 245 1978
» 2015 2.45 2575 235.90 Decentber 6, 2013 175047 153 175,047
2015 2.0 21,000 23050 Octabar 10, 2013 50 1.78 7,850
+ 2016 321 8,390 23400 April 15, 2009 6, 100 029 6,100
2015 73,162 FITA4D December 15, 2014 o, 45 R 20,945
2018 - A66.20 March 26, 2015 11,061 3.24 6,664
7018 - 62350 Jume 11,2015 6,350 345 3,912
07 = 636.50 Ockober 7, 2015 24,500 ES 16,250
2018 - B15.50 March 17, 2016 14,837 4.21 6,262
016 14,089 919.50 December 10, 2015 B0, 874 3.9 57,880
2016 62,190 262.00 Jume 7, 2018 14,714 LEL] -
June 6, 2019 = 1,025.00 December 10, 2018 210,437 6.4 -
March 29, 2019 = Decamber 15, 2017 133,637 506 =
L2019 - Sepember 21, 2018 IL16 L] =
2018 - Octoher 6, 2016 15,450 477 9,725
20146 13,763 2,903 December 15, 2016 A6, 560 A 43,655
October 11, 2019 62,848 - Apil 10, 2018 14,954 628 -
March 28, 2017 8,736 = Jiisw: 9, 2016 14,438 444 6,711
1,408,040 June B, 2017 5,151 - March 28, 2017 BT 524 =
1,424 00 Febnsry 10, 2017 1,526 P Jume: 8, 2017 Sedi4 EEL] -
142700 wch 29, 2017 8,400 - Febmnaory 10, 2017 1,606 511 478
143200 2017 17,501 = March 2, 2017 8,400 525 =
1,615.040 2019 155,011 - Dctober 5, 2017 17,501 576 -
B&2.03 1413625 505 638,248 1,423,210 3.7 857,865
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4.7 Share Capltal

4.7
Share Capital

Share Capital

The share capital comprises the nominal amount of the
parent company’s erdinary shares, each ata nominal value of
DKE 1. All shares are fully paid.

On Decernber 31, 2019, the share capital of Genmab A/S
comprised 65,074,502 shares of DKK 1 each with one vote,
There are no restrictions related to the transferability of the
shares. All shares are regarded as negotiable instruments
and do not confer any special fights upon the holder, and
no shareholder shall be under an obligation to allow his/her
shares to be redeemed.

Unfil April 10, 2023, the Board of Directors 13 authornized to
increase the nominal registered share capital on one or more
accasions by up to nominally DKK 7,500,000 by subscription
of new shares that shall have the same rights as the existing
shares of Genmab. The capital increase can be made by cash
or by non-cash payment and with or without pre-emption
rights for the existing shareholders. Within the authorizations
to increase the share capital by nominally DEE 7,500,000
shares, the Board of Directors may on one or more occasions
and without pre-emption rights for the existing shareholders
of Genmab issue up to nominally DEK 2,000,000 shares to
employees of Genmab, and Genmab®s subsidiaries, by cash
payment at market price or ata discount price as well as by
the issue of bonus shares, No transferability restrictions or
redemption obligations shall apply to the new shares, which
shall be negotiable instruments in the narme of the holder
and registered in the name of the holder in Genmab's Reg-
isterof Shareholders. The new shares shall give the right to
dividends and other rights as determined by the Board in its
resclution to increase capital,
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R Bl

Qn July 17, 2019, the Board of Directors partly ised the
autharity in accordance with the authorization described
above, to increase the share capital without pre-emption
rights far the existing sharehalders by nominally DRK
2,850,000, Additionally, on July 17, 2019, the Board of
Directors partly exercised the authority to increase the share
capital without pre-emption nghts for the existing sharehold:
ers by nominally DK 427,500, The remaining amount of the
suthorization is thus DKK 4,222,500,

Until March 17, 2021, the Board of Directors is authorized by one
OF frione is3ues to raise loans againat bonds of other Anancial
instruments up toa masimum amountof DKK 3 billion with anght
For the lender to convert his/her daim to a maximem of nominally
DKK 4,000,000 equivalent to 4,000,000 new shares bl

M by decision of the General Meeting on March 29,
2019 the Board of Directors is authonzed to issue onong or
more accasions additional warrants to subscribe Genmab A4/5'
shares up to a nominal value of DEK 500,000 to Genmab A[S"
employees as well as employees of Genmab A/S" directly and
indirectly owned subsidiaries, excluding executive manage-
ment, and to make the related capital increases in cashup to a
nominal value of DKK 500,000, This authonzation shall remain
in force for a period ending on March 28, 2024,

Subject to the rules in force at any time, the Board of Direc-
tors may reuss of reissue lapsed non-exercised warrants,
itany, provided that the reuse of reissue occurs undes the
same terms and within the time limitations set out in the

thenzation to issue .,

loans), Convertible loans may be raised in DKK orthe equivalent
in Foreign currency (including US dellar {USD) or eurc (EURJL The
Beard of Directors is also authonzed to effect the consequential
increase of the capital. Convertible loans may be mised against
payment in cash or in other ways, The subscription of shares shall
be with or without pre-emption rights for the shareholders and
the convertible loans shall be offered at a subscription price and
conversion price that in the aggregate at l=ast comesponds ta the
rnarket price of the shares at the time of the decision of the Board
of Directors, The time limit for conversion may be fixed foralonger
period than frve (5) years after the mising of the convertible loan.

By decision of the general meeting on Apnl 9, 2014, the
Board of Directors was authorized to issue on one or more
occasions warrants to subscribe Genmab A5 shares up te
a nominal value of DKK 500,000, This authonzation shall
remain in force for a period ending on April 9, 201%. Further,
by deaision of the general meeting on March 28, 2017, the
Board of Directors was authorized to issue on ene or more
‘occasions warrants to subscribe Genmab A/5" shares up to
a nominal value of DKK 500,000, This autherization shall
rernain in force for a period ending on March 28, 2022,

aul

As of December 31, 2019, a total of 246,327 warrants have
bean issued and a total of 3,988 warrants have been reissued
underthe March 28, 2017 authorization, and a total of 283,262
warmants have been issued and a total of 76 warmants have bean
reissued under the March 29, 2019 authorization. A total of
370,381 warmants remain available for issue and a total of 7,883
warrants remain available for reissue as of Decernber 31, 2019,

By decision of the general meeting on March 17, 2016, the
Board of Dimectors was authorized to repurchase Genmab

AfS' shares up to & nominal value of BEK 500,000 (500,000
shares), This authanzation shall remain in force for a penod
ending on March 17, 2021. In addition, by decision of the gen-
eral meeting on March 29, 2013, the Board of Directors was
authonzed to repurchase Genmab AfS" shares up to a nominal
value of DK 500,000 (500,000 shares). This authorization
shall remain in force for a penod ending on March 28, 2025,

As of December 31, 2019, a total of 225,000 shares, with a
neminal value of DKK 225,000, have been repurchased under
the March 17, 2016 authorization. A total of 775,000 shares,
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with a nominal value of DEE 775,000, remain available fo
repurchase as of December 31, 2019,

Share Prémiun

The share premium reserve is comprised of the amount
received, attributable to shareholders’ equity, in excess of
the neminal ameunt of the shares issued at the parent com-
pany’s offerings, reduced by any extemal expenses directly
attributable to the offerings. The share premium reserve
can be distnbuted.

Changes in Share Caplital durlng 2013 to 2019

The share capital of DKK 65 million at December 31, 2019
is divided into 65,074,502 shares at a nominal value of
DKE 1 each,

Number of Share Capital

Shares (KK million)

December 21, 2013 51,755,722 518
Shares issised forcash 4,600, D0 A
Exafcise of warmnts 611,687 6
December 31, 2014 56967419 TR
Exscise of warants 2560 B404 X6
Descombar 31, 2015 59,531,263 LT
Exercise of wamants B18,793 o8
Dacember 21, 2014 40,350,056 &0
Exircize of warrants B15,618 LER]
December 31, 2017 61,165,674 61.2
Exreisi of warnts 311,897 0.3
December 21, 2018 41,497,571 &1.5
Shares isswed for cosh 3,277,500 33
Execise of warants 95,431 o3
Dacember 31, 2019 65,074,502 651

Financal Statements | Capital Structure, Financial Risk and Retated ihems

On July 22, 2019, gross proceeds from the 1ssuance of new
shares amounted to USD 506 million (DKK 3,368 million)
with & corresponding increase in share capital of 2,850,000
ordinary shares or 28,500,000 ADSs. The underwnters exer-
cised in full their option to purchase an additional 427,500
ordinary shares or 4,275,000 ADSs bringing the total shares
issued to 2,277,500 and total gross proceeds of the offering
ta USD 582 million (DXK 3,873 million), which was comple-
ted on |uly 23, 2019,

During 2019, 295,431 new shares were subscribed ata price
of DKK 21,75 to DEK 1,424.00 in connection with the exercise

of warrants under Genmab™s warrant program.

During 2018, 311,897 new shares were subscribed ata price

Treasury Shares

Share  Proper-
Capital tion of Cost
Numbar (DEK Sharm IDKK
of Shares  million) Capital (%) millioa}
Sharsholding at
Dacamber 31, 2017 100,000 o1 0.2 118
Purcharse of
treasury shares 125,000 o1 2 146
Shares used for
Funding RS0 Program (47,4501 - ©.1) 563
Sharsholding at
Decamber 31,2018 177.550 .2 o3 08
Shares used for
funding BSU Program {13,628 = & {16}
Shamholding at
Decomber 31,2019 163,921 0.2 LE] 192

of DKK 40,41 to DEK 1,232.00in connection with the exercise
of warrants under Genmab”s warrant program.

During 2017, 835,618 new shares were subscribed ata price
of DKK 21. 75 to DKK 1,232.00 in connection with the sxer-
cise of warrants under Genmab's warrant program,

During 2016, 818,792 new shares were subscribed ata price
of DKK 31. 75 to DKK 636.50 in connection with the exercise
of wamrants under Genmabs warrant pregram.

During 2015, 2,563,844 new shares were subscribed ata
price of DKK 26,75 to DKK 365.00 in connection with the
exercise of warmants under Genmab's warmant program.

During 2014, 611,597 new shares were subscribed ata prce
of DKK 26.75 to DKK 234.00 in connection with the exercise
of warrants under Genmab®s warrant program.

On January 24, 2014 Genmab completed a private placement
with the issuance of 4,600,000 new sharas,

Genmakb: has two authorizations to repurchase shares as of
December 31, 2019, The first authorization, granted an March
17, 2016, authonzes the Board of Directors to repurchase up to
a tetal of 500,000 shares (with a nominal value of DKE 500,000)
and shall lapse on March 17, 2021, The second avthorization,
granted on March 2%, 2019, authorizes the Board of Directors to
repurchase up to an additional 500,000 shares (with a naminal
walue of DKK 500,000) and shalllapse on March 28, 2024. The
authonzations are intended to cover obligations in relation to
the RSU program and reduce the dilution effect of share capital
increases resulting from future exercises of wamants,

During 2018, Genmab acquired 125,000 of its own shares, ap-
proximately 0.2% of share capital, to cover its obligations under
the RSU program, The total amount paid to acquire the shares,
including directly attributable costs, was DKK 146 million and
has been recognized as a deduction o sharehalders” equity,
These shares are classified as treasury sh d are presented
within retained eamings as of December 31, 201% and 2018,
The shares were acquired in accordance with the authenza-
tion granted by the Annual General Meeting in March 2016,
There were ne acquisitions of treasury shares in 2019,
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Section 5
Other
Disclosures

This section is comprised of various
statutory disclosures or notes that

are of secondary importance for the
understanding of the Genmab group’s
financials.

Financfal Statements | Other Disclosures

5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management

5.1

Remuneration of the Board of Directors

and Executive Management

The total remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management is as follows:

(KK million)

Wagiss sl salaries
Share-based compensation expenses
Defined contribution plans

Tatal

The reruneration packages for the Board of Directors and

Executive Management are described below in further detail.

The remuneration packages are denominated in DKE, EUR,
orUSD, The Compensation Committes performs an annual
review of the remuneration packages. All incentive and vari-
able remuneration shall be considered and adopted at the
company”s annual general mesting,

019 ms
]

32

1

51 &7

In meeordance with Genmab®s accounting policies, descrbed
in note 2.2, share-based compensation isincluded in the
income statement and reported in the remuneration tables in
this note, Such share-based compensation expense rep-
resents a calculated fair value of instruments granted and
does not represent actual cash compensation received by
the board members or executives, Flease refer to note 4.6
for additional information regarding Genmab's share-based
coamp en sation programs.




5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directars and Executive Management - Continued

Remuneration to the Beard of Directors

Purpess and
Link to Strategy

Annuel beard basefes  Ensure Genmab can
and feus for committes  siteact qualilicd

work individuals o the
Board of Directors

Share-Bazed Share-based irstas-

Companzation mants comstiute a
common part of the

emmiErtion paid o
enambers of the Boatd
of Directors in compes:
ing intermational biotech
and biophasmaceutical
companies, The use of
share-based instru.-
mients eralsles Gienmab
o remain competitive in
the Intemational market
and to be able to attrct
and retain quialified
memnbers of the Board
of Directors. on a contin-
wons basis,
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Padformance

Matries

To ensure the Board

of Birctors Indepen-
denee and supervison
Tunction, vesting of
festricted Sock uiils
{R5Us) granted to
members of the Board
of Directors shall not be
subjectto fullfiment of
forward-looking perfor-
nEEne criteria.

Opporhinkty Changes
Compared to 2018

Barcic board Fee of DKK 400,000 = Deputy Chaiman meeives double and Chalmean receives Hone

triphe

Audit and Fnance Committes mambarship basic fee of DKK 100,000 with Chaimman recakving Hone
Fre of DKK 150,000 plus a fea per meating of DEK 10,000

e L i basic fee of KK 80,000 with Chaiman receiving fee None
of DKK 120,000 plus & fee per meating of DEK 10,000

g anel : il membership bagic fee of DKE 50,000 with More
Chaiman recelving fee of DKK 100,000 plus o fee par meating of DEK 10,000

Scientific Committes membership bsic fe of DKK 100,000 with Chaimman receiving fee of Mo
KK 120,000 plis a fee per meeting of DKK 10,000

A navw mamber of the Board of Directors may be granted RSUs upon election comesponding Hone
o a value {af the time of grnt) of up to four (4) times the faed annual bose fee,

I adclition the membess of the Board of Directors may be granted RSUS cormsponding o a Mors
watlie (b the time of grant) of up toone (1) times the fxed snnial base fee, fof thie Chaiman the

watlwa shall be af up to two (2) times the fixed annual base fee and for the Deputy Chaiman the

walwe shall be of up o one point fve (1.5) times the fxed annual base fee onan anneal basis.

The share-based compensation expense for 2019 of BKE 5 million shown below includes the
amortization of the non-cash share-based com pensation expense relating to share-based
instruements grantesd ever several yeare. Following an amendment of the guidelines for incen
tive- based remuneration of the Board of Dinectors and Executive Management by the general
meeting in 2014, share-based compensation gmnted o board members may enly be in the
form of RSUs, Floase nefisr to f ian meganding the “Humber of RSUs
hedd™ Al

ifmibar of wa rraiit
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management - Continued

{DKK millio

Mals Petiersson
Arrders Gersel Pedersen
Pernille Erenbjerg
Pack Paolett
FalfHoffmann

Deeircloe P. Conrwelly
Patar Stoam Kiislensen®
Rick Hibbert**

Daaiel |. Bruro®

Mijloe 2acharinsse®

Tatal

= Emplayee ebected baard membes

Baze
EBoard fae

Shan-based
Committes Compansatien Base
Fosz: Expences 2019 Board Fes

1.2
o5

== Stepped down from the Boand of Directors at the Annual Genen | Mesting in March 200%

Flease refer to the section “Beard of Directors” in the Management's Review for additional information regarding the Board of Directors.
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directars and Executive Management - Continued

Remuneration to the Executive Management
Purpess and
Link to Strategy

Baze Salary ReRect the individual®s

skills and experiance,
role and resposibiities

Pancion and Provide a framsework to
Other Banefits sivvee for retirement

Provide customary ben-
afits including cor and
tee phine allawaris

Provide sign on bonus
Tor e execulive nen-
agement

Prowvick tax equalization
paymant for executive
managemant

Padormance
Matres

Ay incrise bas e
bisth o Eelivicual il
compaiy perlonmaie:
s well as benchmark
analysis

Noae

Ach of

Oppartunity

Fizise

Fiued amount or pescentage of base salary

A new member of the e xecutive marageme it mary nece b @ Sign-on payment upon engagement
subject to-certain claw back provisions.

CEO peceivid EUR 0.5 million and CFO seceived USD0.1 million payments for tax equalization
for the higher tx mte in Denmeark versus their resident countries of the Nethedands and the
United States.

Annual Cazh Benus ulives b
achleve key objectives
on an sl b s
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predetermined and
well-defined annual
miletarms

607% 1o 100% of annual gross salaes depandant on their position.

Extraardinary bonus of a maximum up to 15% of thelrannusl gross solanes, based on the
occurnence of certain special svents o achismements.

In 201, the curmnt Executive Monagemant team reorived a total cash bonus of DEK 15 million
(201 8: DEK 11 million).

Change:
Compared ta 2018

Effisctive, Farmarny 1, 20149, bage
salary increased by 2% lor the
CEC ard CFO, and 10% fos the
€00 in lecal cumency (F018: 3%
FarCED, CFO and O

None

Hone

Mo

CED received tax equalization
payment in 2019
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directars and Executive Management - Continued

Remuneration to the Executive Management
Purpess and Padarmance Oppartunity
Link to Strategy Matrics

Share-Based I L i Limkd b's e main rube, thae naenl o the execulive

Companzation ot thee karggie e firsancial and SUrte. ahane | i ponding i B Lt o grant) of ug o Four {4) tines
aligned to strategy and  gic priorities as an e b b - calou lated 3 i L

creation of shamholder  incentive to increase payment, in the year of grant.

Change:
Compared o 2018

Thie members of the executive
nanageTenl miy o an aimal
biasis be prated shane-based
instruments comesponding toa

vl
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the Futum value of the
comparny butako in
recognition of past
contri b utions and
accomplishments

varlue: {at the time of grant) of up
Lo owsr tisnes thee member's annual
base salary (2018: two times the
member's annual sikan

Hotwithstanding the abows, inno saent mey e value (3 the time of grand of shane based
instruments granted to a member of the sxecutive monagement on an anaual basts excead
DRE 2% million. Annual grant of share- based instnaments to membars of the executive manage-
et i used primarily a5 anincentive o inonease the Tuluee value of the compamy bul abko

iy recognition of past comributions and accomplishmants.

a afth hy iy bee P —

tuments upon engagement or promotion

The share-based irstruments graned to the members of the executive management may be in The propostionsl valise ofthe

the Foren of e tricted stock units or a combination of nsstricted stock onits and warrants (oplions watrrants miny nob exoeed 25% of
s subeseribes for shanes in the comgpamyl. B members of the excculive manageme it an granted Uhie okl value at th tine of grant
acom bnation of restricted stock un thi I valise of the warmnts (201 8: S0%).

maxy not exceed 25% of the total value (at the tme of gront), Vesting of restricied stock units

Al warrants grantisd b e bers of the exective mangensent iy bis sobject o Ralfilmem

of farward-lockir i i Ly the Baaeed o i

Thie share-based compansation experse for 2009 of KK 33 million shown below incledes the
amsartiration of the non.cash share based compensation axperse ribsting 1o shane- basod irstr.
ments gmnted over several years, In 201, 25,793 RSUs were granted o the Executive Manage-
ment, with a total firvalue of DKE 42 million (2018: 50,464 warants and 16,02 0 RSUs, with a fair
wanluis aF DK 357 millliori). Theime wesns no wemanits grartic o thie Executin: Management in 2019,
Pt elfier 1o mobi 4.6 for

Hurnber of B! i

ditianal information rgarding th

“Mumber of v rrants h
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directars and Executive Management - Continued

Remuneration to the Executive Management

Purpese and Padfarmance Opportunity Changes
Link to Strategy Matrics Compared to 2018
I L Hoawr Each mermber of thee Executive Maragement shall be requinsd 1o hokda number of Genmab ASS More
mant For members of e this Barge s b i e ponding 10 U valee of such enmlers amnual base salas:
the Executive MERSEF aligned Lo stralegy and
ot creation of shareholder »  The number of shames s hall be fixed % ofth it as, o
vl membier of the Executive Mansgrment
= My be buil up overa fve (5) year pedod from the date of employment of promotion
®  For curmarnt mee mibeers of the Executive Management, the numbearof shares i finally fixed ot the
date of sdoption of these Remuneration Principles. (April 10, 2018)
& The Board of Directars sy divenge fram this shanshobfing requirement
The Compary shall be ertitled to mclabm in full of in part variabde components of rmunestion paid
torthe memberof the Esecutive Maragement on the basis of data, which proved to be misstated
Warranis grantec o thy s, of this Lin et o an
s (2] year bock-in perod upon vesting
Dafined Annusl  Share-based G il )
Contribution Qthar Cazh  Compensation In the event Genmab terminates the service agreements with each
2019 Base Sulary Plans Benefits Boaus Expeaces Total member of the Executive Management team without cause, Genmab
(DKK million) is obliged to pay the Executive Officer his existing salary for ane or two
Janvan de Winkel " . e years ﬂ.ﬂer Fhe end of the one year notice period. However, in the event
vl A, Entwell 0.9 12 8.0 of termination by Genmab (unless for cause) or by a member of Execu-
Judith Klimovsky - 11 a7 tive Management as a result of a change of control of Genmab, Genmab
E 12 o5 147 1.8 407 15 obliged to pay a member of the Executive Management a compen-
sation equal to his existing total salary (including benefits) for up to
e years in addition 1o the notice perad, It furthermore fallows from
2018 Genmab’s warrant and RSU programs, that in certain “good leaver™ sit-
Jan v e Winkal 71 1.2 0.2 6 134 283 uations outstanding warrants and R5Us awarded underthese progmams
Dawwid A Eatbel 39 0.2 14 21 8.1 5.7 will continiue to vest which could petentially make the termination pay-
ladith Klimenky 36 o1 0.2 21 54 1n.y ments exceed two years of ration. In case of the termination of
Total 146 1.5 1.8 106 274 55.9 the service agreements of the Executive Management without cause, the

Flease refer to the section “Senior Leadership” in the Management's Review for additional information
regarding the Executive Management
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total impact on sur financial pasition is estimated to appraximately DKK
46 million as of December 31, 2019 (2018: DKK 42 million). Flease refer
to note 5.5 far additional information regarding the potential impact in
the event of change of control of Genmab.
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management - Continued
Humber of Ordinary Shares Owned and Share-Based Instruments Held

December 31, December 31, Warket Valus
Number of Ordinary Shares Owned 1018 Aequired Seld Transfers 019 (kK millior)*
Board of Dlrsctarz
Mats Pettersson 24,800 izor - = 12,007 Af4
Auders Gersel Pedersen 8,000 g = = 8718 12.9
Perndie Erenbleeg 2,700 478 o S 3178 a
Fack Paok:it 3,337 arg (SR - 333 4.9
Rolf Hoffmann 1,050 = = = 1.050 1.6
Dreirdee B, Connally 2,200 = = = 2,200 3.3
Pater Stom Kriston - 500 (3000 - 200 0.3
Rick Hibbart®® - - - - - =
Mijka Zachaniasse - = - - - =
Dl | Bruro = = = = = =
Total 42,087 9,381 (Fray - 50,690 751
Exscutive Management
I i Winkel 662,400 6,084 - - [ 9904
Darvid A Eatwarll 30,825 49,426 - - 80,261 1189
Judith Klimoweky = = = = = =

693,225 55,520 - o T4B,T45 1,199.3

Tatal 735312 64,901 (778) - TIR435 1,184.4
* Mark lue s based on the afthe parent comgany's shames on the HASDAC Copenhagen A5 al the balance sheet date or the bst tading day pior o te balance sheet date.

== Steppesd dews I the Boand of Direciors a8 the Annual Gerser | Messtirg in March 2019,
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management - Continued

Blsck- Walghtad
Scholes Average
Value Wamasts Exercize Price
December 31, December 31, Grantad in Outstanding
Number of Warrants Held 2018 Granted Exersized Expirad Transfers 0e 08 Warrants

Board of Dlrsctars {DKK million)
Mats Pettersson 16,250 - B25a) - - 20,000 - 225,90
Ancers Gersel Pedersen 29,000 = (9,000} = = 20,008 = 13316
Perndie Erenbleeg = = = = = = = =
Packs Paoletti - - - - - = = =
ol f Hoffman - - - - - - - -
Deindse F. Connelly = - - = = = - -
Pater Stom Kristensen® 2,515 164 (sod) - - 2,383 [ 18,96
Rick Hibbart®* BFE - - - R - - -
Mijke Zacharinsse® - 151 - - 557 08 o2 1,352,742
Daniel |. Brura® 15,837 2,20 - - - 19,043 L4 1,018.68
ThA4TE 3.825 (35.750) & (319) 62,334 1.8 487.7%

Exscutive Management

1z ikl 108,068 - n2,400) - - 65,664 - 1,060.39
David A Eatwell 135,201 - {50,000} - - 245,201 - 264,91
Judith Elimoesky 533 - - - - 36,932 = 1.118.99
480,201 = (132.400) = = 347,800 = 505.80
Total 554,679 3.925 (148.150) = 319) 410,135 1.8 503.05

* Each emploges-elected Boand Memiber was grnted warants as an empioyes of Genmmab ASS or its subsidiaies.
== Shepped down fom e Board of Disectoes ot the Anoual Geesml Mestieg in March 2019,
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5.1 Remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management - Continued

Dacambar 31,

Number of RSUs Held 2018 Grantad
Board of Directors
Mals Pettersson 3,298 495
Auwlers Garal Padercan 2278 247
Parmille Eranbjerg 1649 247
Pack Pacltt 1649 247
Rolf Halfmann 1,850 247
Deirdre P Connelly 3094 Ers ]
Peter Stom Kistensen® 1481 351
Rick Hibbert®* 1439 =
Mijle 2achariasse® - 36
Dandel 1. Brna* 4,340 1,157

20,127 3,708
Executive Management
Jaain vanin che= Winikse | IL505 15479
Danvid A, Entwell 20,068 =
Tudith Elimoveky 12,579 10,114

46,152 25,793
Total 06,279 29,501
* lEacl et Bord

S of its

wplorpese of G ]
== Steppeed down from the Boand of Directors at the Annual Geren| Mesting in March 2019,

Financial Statements | Other Disclasares

Sattled

(11,387)
7,693

(19,080)
(21,711)

Tranzfars

(1439
188

(1.251)

(1.251)

Dacamber 31,

FaleValus RSUs

2019  Granted in 2019

72,885

92,610

249
16,7
[

AT

i A7 RSAS a5 & meniber of the Board af Disectors. Thee sensining RSUs wene gented as an

R Bl

Following Genmab A/S" Annual General Meeting on March
29, 2019, the Board of Directors is comprised of five inde-
pendent directors, one nen-independent director, and three
employee-elected directors, Mats Pettersson, Dr. Anders
Gersel Pedersen, Deirdre P. Connelly, Pemille Erenbjerg, Rolf
Hoffraann and Dr. Paole Pacletti were re-élected to the Board
of Directors for & one year periad, Peter Storm Knstensen,
Mijke Zachaniasse and Dan Bruno were elected to the Board
of Directors by the employees for a three year period. Dr,
Rick Hibbert stepped down from the Board of Directors. The
reclassification of the employee elected board members”
shares and share-based instruments is shown in the trans-
ferred column of the tables abowve. The Board of Directors
eonvened and constituted itselfwith Mats Pettersson as
Chairman and Deirdre B Connelly as Deputy Chairman.

Other than the remuneration to the Beard of Directors and
the Executive Management and the transactions detailed in
the tables above, no ather significant transactions with the
Board of Directors or the Executive Management took place
during 2019,
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5.2 Related Party Dsclosures

5.2
Related Party Disclosures

Genmab'"s related parties are:

= the parent company’s subsidiaries
* the parent company’s Board of Directors, Executive Manage-
rment, and close members of the family of these persons,

Transactions with the Board of Directors

and Executive Management

Genmab has not granted any loans, guarantees, or other
commitrnents to or on behalf of any ofthe members of the
Board of Directors or Executive Management,

Otherthan the remunemtion and cther transactions relat-
ing to the Board of Directors and Executive Management
described in note 5.1, no other significant transactions have
taken place with the Board of Directors orthe Executive
Management during 2019 and 2018,

5.3
Company Overview

Genmab A(S (parent company) holds investments either
directly or indirectly in the following subsidiaries:

5.4
Commitments

Guarantees and Collaterals
There were no bank guarantees & of December 31, 2019 or 2018,

Other Purchase Obligations

The group has entered into a number of agreements primarily
related to research and development activities. These short
term contractual obligations amounted to DXK 564 million

ma of December 31, 2019, all of which is due in less than twe
years (2018: DKK 787 million),

We also have certain confingent commitraents under our
license and collaboration agreements that may become due
for future payments. As of December 31, 2019, these contin-
gent commitments amounted to approximately DXK 9,520
million (USD 1,426 million) in patential future development,
regulatory and commercial milestone payments to third parties
under license and collaboration agresments forour pre-clinical
and clinical-stage development programs as compared to DKK
5,595 million (USD 858 million) as of December 31, 2018,
These milestone payments generally become due and payable
only upen the achievement of certain development, clinical,
regulatory or commercial milestones. The events triggering
such payments or obligations have not yet occurred.

I addition to the above obligations, we enter into a variety
of agreements and financial cormmitments in the nomal

Ownership Gwaership

and Wotes  and Voles
Hame Domicile 201% 018
Genmal By, Uipech, the Hetheslands 100%
Genmab Hokding BV, Utrecht, the Netherlands 100%
Genmab US, Inc. Hew Jersey, USA 100%
Genmal KK Tokyo, Japan -
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course of The terms generlly allow us the option to
cancel, reschedule and adjust our requirements based on our
business needs prorto the delivery of goods or pedarmance
of services, ITis not possible to predict the maximum potential
amaount of future payments under these agreements due to the
conditisnal nature of our obligations and the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular agreement.
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5.5
Contingent Assets, Contingent
Liabilities and Subseguent Events

Contingent Assets and Liabilities

License and Collaboration Agreements

We are entitled to ial milestone and [t
on successhul commercialization of products developed un-
derlicense and collaboration agreements with our partners.
Sinee the size and timing of such payments are uncertain
until the milestones are reached, the agreements may qualify
as contingent assets. Howewver, it is impossible to measure
the value of such contingent assets, and, accardingly, no
such assets have been recognized.,

As part of the license and collaboration agreements that
Genmab has entered into, once a product is developed and
commercialized, Genmab may be required to make milestone
and royalty payments, It is impossible to measure the value
of such future payments, but Genmab expects to genemte
Future income from such products which will exceed any mile-
stone and royalty payments due, and accordingly no such
liabilities have been recegnized,

Derivative Financlal instruments

Genmaks has entered inte an Intemational Swaps and Denw
atives Association master agreement. The master agreement
with Genrmeb's financial institution countenparty also includes
a credit support annex which contains. provisions that require
Genmakb to post collateral should the value of the derivative
Liabilities exceed DKK 50 million (2018; DEK 50 million), As of
December 31, 2019 and 2018, Genmab has not been required
to post any collateral. There were no cutstanding receivables
related to derivative financial instruments as of December 31,
2019 or 2018,
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5.5 Contingent Assets, Contingent Liabillties and Subsequent Events - Continued

In additian, the agreement requires Genmab to maintain a
cash position of DKK 258.5 million at all times or the counter-
party has the right to terminate the agreement. Upon termi-
nation, the DEK S0 million (2008; DKK 50 million) threshold
amount is no longer applicable and the value of the derivative
liability, if any, could be due to the counterparty upon request,

Legal Matter - MarphoSys Patent Infringement Complaint

In April 2016, MorphoSys flled a complaint at the U.5, District
Court of Delavare against Genmab and Janssen Biotech, Inc.
for patent infingerment based on activities relating tothe
manufactune, uss and sale of DARZALEX in the United States,
which was subsequently amended to include two additional
MaorphaSys patents. In addition, a further claim by Janssen
and us that the three MorphoSys patents were unenforeeable
due to i le conduct by M wasincluded in the
case, On January 25, 2019, the Distict Court ruled on summary
judgment that the thres MorphoSys patents were invalid for
tack of enablement, MorphoSys had the opportunity to appeal
the District Court"s decision. On January 31, 2019, MorphaSys
dismissed its infringement claims against us and Janssen, and
we and Janssen, in tum, dismissed our inequitable conduct
claims against MorphoSys. As such, there will be no further
proceedings in the case,

Change of Control

Inthe event of a change of contral, change of contral clavses
are included in some of our collaboration, development and
license agreements as well as in sendce agresments for certain
employees,

Collaboration, Development and License Agreements

We have entered into collaboration, development and license
agresments with external paries, which may be subject to
renegotiation in case ofa change of control event in Genmab
AJS, However, any changes in the agreements are not expect-
ed to have significant influence on our financial position,
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Service Agresments with Executive

Management and Employees

The senviceagreements with each memberofthe Executive
Managementmay betermi abwithnelessthan12
months® noticeand by the memberofthe Executive Management
with nalessthan sixmonths natice. Inthe eventofa changeof
controlof Genmab, the termination notice dueto the member
ofthe Executive Managementis extendedto 24 months. Inthe
eventoftermination by Genmab (unless for cause)orbya mem-

R Bl

Subsequent Events

Mo events have sccurred subseguent to the balance sheet
date that could significantly affect the financial statements
asof December 31, 2015,

ﬂ Accounting Policles

Contingent Assets And Liabilities

Contingent assets and liabilities are assets and liabilities
that arose from past events but whose existence will enly

berof Executive Managementas aresult of achange of control
ofGenmab, Genmabis obliged to paya memberofExecutive
Managementa compensation equalte his sxistingtotal salary
(including benefits) foruptotwo years in addition to the nofice
period. in caseofa change of control eventandthe termination of
Service agr tsoft tive Management, the total im-
pacton ourfinancial position is estimatedto approximate ly DRK
106 million ascfDecember31, 2019{2018: DKK 98 millien).

In addition, Genmab has entered into service agreements
with 22 (2018: 26) current employees according to which
Genmab may become obliged to compensate the employess
in connection with a change of control of Genmab. If Genmab
asa result of a change of control terminates the service
agreement without cause, or changes the working conditions
to the detnment of the employer, the employee shall be enti-
tled to terrinate the employment relationship without further
cause with one month's notice in which case Genrmab shall
pay the employee a compensation equal to one-half, one or
two times the employee’s existing annual salary (including
benefitsl, In case of the change of contrel event and the
termination of all 22 senvce agreements the total impact on
our financial position is estimated to approximately DKK 75
rillion a3 of December 31, 2019 (2018: DKK 81 million),

Please refer to note &.6 for additional information regarding
ehange of contral clauses related fo share-based instruments.
granted to the Executive Management and employees.

be confirmed by the occurrence o non-occumrence of future
events that are beyond Genmab”s control,

Contingent assets and liabilities are not to be recognized in
the financial statements, but are disclosed in the notes.

5.6
Fees to Auditors Appointed
at the Annual General Meeting

DK million) 2019 2018
PricewaterhouseCoopers

Audit services 19 1.1
Audit mekated services 23 0.1
Tax i VAT 2 fvices o5 LiE
Othar services 2 L5
Tetal 7 .7

Fees for other services than statutory audit of the finanaal
statements provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers Statsauto-
riseret Revisionspartnerselskab amounted to DKK 5.2 million
(DKK 0.6 million in 2018). Other sénices than statutory audit
of the financial statements comprise senvices relating to
Genmab's PO on the Nasdagq in the U.5., tax and VAT com-
pliance, agreed-upen procedures, opiniens relating to grants,
educational trining and accounting advice.
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5.7 Adjustments to Cash Flow Statement

5.7
Adjustments to Cash
Flow Statement

(DEK millionk Mate

Adjustnents for
mon-cash transactions:
Deprisciation, amartization

and impaiment 31,32
Share-based compen-

sation experses 23,46
Other

Total adjustments for

son-cash tranzactions
Changes in working capitat

Receivalles
Other payables

Total changes in werking capital
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2019

(1,218)

2018

91

179

{res)
134

634)

5.8
Collaborations and
Technology Licenses

Qur Collaborations

We enter inte collaborations with bictechnology and
pharmaceutical companies to advance the development and
commercialization of our product candidates and to supple-
mient our internal pipeline. We seek collaborations that will
allow ws to retain significant future participation in product
sales through either profit-shasing or royalties paid onnet
sales. Below is an overaew of some of our collaborations that
hawe had a significant impact or that we expect may in the
near terr have a significant impact on our Anancial results.

Collaboration with Janssen (Daratumumab, DARZALEX)

In August 2012, we entered into a global license, develap-
ment, and commerdialization agreement with Janssen far
daratumumab (marketed as DARZALEX For the treatment of
MM}, Underthis agreement, Janssen is fully responsible for
developing and commercializing daratumumakb and all costs
associated therewith, W receive tiered royalty payments
between 12% and 20% based on |anssen’s annual net
praduct sales, The reyalties payable by lanssen are limited
intime and subject to reduction on a country-by-country
basis for customary reduction events, including upon patent
expiration or invalidation in the relevant country and upon
the frst commercial sale of a biosimilar product in the
relevant country (for as long as the biosimilar product
remains for sale in that country). Pursuant to the terms of
the agreement, Janssen’s abligation to pay royalties under
this agreement will expire on & country-by-country basis on
the later of the date that is 13 years after the first sale of
daratumumab in such country orupon the expimtion of the
last-to-expire relevant product patent (as defined in the
agreement] covering daratumumab in such country.
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We are also eligible to receive certain additional payments in
connection with developmeant, regulatony and sales milestones.

Sales of DARZALEX have grown since it récived its first
rarketing approval in the United States in 201 5. In the fourth
quarter of 2019, we moved from the 18% royalty tier (applica-
ble to net sales exceeding USD 2.0 billien in a calendar year}
to the royalty tier of 20% on the portion of net 2019 sales
exceeding USD 3.0 billion. The total amount of petential
milestone payments under the contract is approximately USD
1,015 rillion, and to date, we have recorded approximate by
WSD 835 million in milestane payments fram |anssen and
could be entitled to receive up to USD 130 million in further
payments if certain additional milestones are met.

Collaboration with Novartis (Ofatumumab)

Ofatumumab is commercialized by Novartis under a oo-
develapment and coll ion ag tuith us, which
itacquired from GSK in 2015, Under the agreement with
MNowartis, we are entitled to royalties of 20% of worldwide
net sales of ofatumumab for the treatment of cancer and
10% of worldwide net sales for non-cancer treatments, as
well as certain potential regulatory and sales milestones, of
which only certain sales milestones remain. Novartis is fully
responsible for all costs associated with developing and
commercializing efatumumab.

Collaboration with Seattle Gel cs (Tisoturmab vedotin)

In October 2011, we entered into a license and collaboration
agreement with Seattle Genetics, In August 2017, Seattle
Genetics exercised an option it was granted pursuant to this
agreement toe co-develop and co-commercialize tisotumab
vedotin with us. All costs and profits for isotumab vedetin
will be shared on a 50:50 basis,

Qur cost-sharing arangement with Seattle Genetics in
respect of the co-development and co-commercialization of
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5.8 Collaboratlons and Technelogy Licenses - Contlnued

tisoturmnab vedatin is such that, frem time to time, one partner
rmay be required to bear certain costs in furtherance of the
collaboration for which it would be entitled to seek reim-
bursement of 50% of the costs from the other partaer, Such
reimbursements may not be immediate or may be offset by
other costs incurred or profits received by one or both
partners. As a result, we may incur costs for which we are not
ultimately responsible, and this may affect our working
capital, liquidity and availability of resources for ather
projects. On the other hand, we may also be respansible for
reimbursing Seattle Genetics in respect of the portion of its
apending in furtheran ce of the collaboration for which we are
responsible, In addition, we record all development expenses
incuned by us in connection with this collaboration as

i and development , wiivile reimby
received from Seattle Genetics related to such development
expenses are recorded in revenue as reimbursement income.

p

Collaboration with BioNTech (DHGEM?‘-PD =Lixg-1BE

and DucBody-CDyoxg-188)

In May 2015, we snterad an agresment with BioMTech o
jointly research, develop and commercialize bispecific
antibody products using our DuoBody technology platform
and antibodies. If BioNTech and us jointly select any product
candidates for clinical development, development costs and
product ownership will be shared equally going forward. Ifone
of the companies does not wish to move a product candidate

forward, the other company is entitled to continue developing

Qur cost sharing arrangement with BiaNTech is similarte
the one with Seattle Genatics described abowve with respect
o tisotumab vedotin,

In:Licensed Technology

While not material in 2018 or in 2019, in the future, our
results and financial condition could be affected by mile-
stone payments and royalties related to technology we have
licensed or acquired, This includes payments under our asset
purchase agreement with IDD Bistech in connection with
our development of HexaBody-DR5/DRS, our ADC license
agresment with Seattle Genstics in connection with our
enapotamab vedotin antibody and our res earch, collabo-
ration and exclusive license agreement with immatics to
discover and develop next-generation bispecific immuno-
thempies to target multiple cancer indications.

Collaboration with CureVae

During December 2019, Genmab entered into a research
collaboration and license agresment with CureVac AG. The
strategic partnership will focus on the research and develop-
ment of differentiated miNA-based antibedy products by
combining CureVac's mRNA technology and knowhow with
Genrmab’s propristary antibody technologies and expertise,

Under the terms of the agreemant Genmab will provide
CureVac with a USD 10 million upfront payment. The compa-

the product on predeterrined licensing terms. The agreerment
alsa includes provisions which will allow the parties to opt out
af joint development at key paints. Tws product candidates
are cumently in develapment in connection with this agree-
ment, DuoBody-PD-L1x4-188 and DuoBody-CD40x4-1BB,

'We submitted CTAs for these products in 2019 and dosed

the first patient in a Phase |/l study for DuoBody-PD-L1x4-
1EE in May 2019 and doaed the first patient in a Phase /Il

for DuoBody- CD&0xG-1 B8 in September 2019.
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nies will coll on research to identify an initial product
candidate and CureVac will contribute a partion of the overall
costs forthe development of this product candidate, up to
the time of an investigational New Drug Application. Genmab
would thereafter be fully responsible forthe development
and commercialization of the potenteal product, in exchange
for undisclosed milestones and tiered royalties to CureVac,
The agreement alse includes three additional options for
Genrmab fo obtain commercial licenses to CureVac's mRNA
technology at pre-defined terms, exercisable within a five:
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year period, If Genmab exercises any of these options, it
would fund all research and would develop and commercial-
ize any resulting product candidates with CureVac eligible to
receive between USD 275 million and USD 268 millicn in de-
welopment, regulatory and commercial milestone payments
for each product, dependent on the specific product concept.
In addition, CureVac is eligible to receive tiered royalties in
the range from mid-single digits up to low double digits per
product, CureVac would retain an option to participate in de-
velopment and/or commercialization of one of the potential
additional programs under pre-defined terms and conditions.
Fuither, Genmab made a EUR 20 millisn equity investment in
CureVac, Referte note 3.4 foradditional information regarding
Genmab's equity investment in CureVac.

Collaboration with Immatics

In July 2018, Genmab entered into a research collaboration
and exclusive license agreement with Immatics Bistechnalo-
gies GmbH {Immatics) to discoverand develop next-gen eration
bispecific immunotherapies to target multiple cancer indica-
tions, Genmab received an exclusive licen se to three propri-
etary targets from Immatics, with an option to license up to two
additional targets at predetermin ed economics., Under the
terms of the agreement, Genmab paid Immatics an upfront fee
of USD 54 million and Immatics is eligible to receive up to USD
550 million in development, regulatary and commercial
rilestone payments for each product, as well as tiered
royalties on net sales,
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Income Statement

(D KK millioan)

wl devel ol sxpenses
sinistrtive axperses

Operating expenzes
Oparating result

Profit { Loss) in subsidiaries, net of e
Firaneial i

Firmne iz

perses
Net result before tax.
Corposte bax

et result

Statemest of Comprehensive income
Met result
Othercomprehenzive income:

Ampunrs which will
Adjustment of fos

1 ourrency Misctuati

Total comprehensihve income

rssifiied Fo fhe income sfrem

15
12
12

2,168

2,168

2018
3,081

(1,298)
(20}

1,518)

1,523

1,472
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Assets

Dacombar 31,
(KK million) Mate 201%
Intargilsli addets 3 421
Property, plant and equipment & 2
Right-of use assats 7 4
lvestments in subsidiaries 15 653
Recelvables 9
Deferred tx assets 4
Other irwe stserits ]

Total aon-cunrent assets

Receivalles

Marketable seciities 1

Cash and cash equialents

Tatal current assats 13,665
Total assets 15,011

Shareholders” Equity and Liabilities
December 31,
CDKK o) Mate 09

Share cpital

Share premium
Oth
Retained Eamings

PR

Tatal sharshalders” equity

Provisions

Lizasa lihilitie i

Other payables 10

Tatal men-curnent liabilities 26
Corporate tax payable Ll

Payable to subsidiares 10 30
Lease liabilities 7 2
Other payables 10 a7
Tatal current Habillthes 937
Total liabilities 963
Takal wquity and Habilith 15,011

Dacambar 21,
2018

44%
1

1,152
1,330
5573

ags

7.381

6,533

December 31,
2018

128

208
518
519

8533
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Staternents of Cash Flows

(D KK milkion)

Cazhk flaws from sparating activities:

ezt bafore tax

Net
Reversal of fimancia

e
Adjustment for non-cash teansactions
Change inworking capital

Cazh genaratad by sparating mctivities bafors financial itens

Iritenesl ficenvd

Interest elamants of lease payments
It e il

Corpombe baxes {paidfnesived

Netexzh gonarated by oparsting setivities

Cash flovws from lnvesting setivithes:
Ienvesbmsent in intangibhe asols
Iewestmeent in tanglble assets
Trnsictions with subsidianes
Markitable secusities bought
Marketable secusities sold

Mot cash uzed in investing sctivithes

Cash flovws from finsncing sckivities:
|

ice of 5 hares
Principal elements of lease payments
Purchase of treasury shares
Paymantof i 05 on bahalf

net satiled RSl

Nateazh from Rnancing activitias

Changes in cash and cash equivalents

Carsh aarvd caxsh equiviakents at the begirming of the period

Excharmge rate scljustme

Cazh and cach squivalsats st the and of the pesicd

Cazh and cach equivalests Inchude
Bank deposits and petty cosh
Short-term marketalle securities

Cash and cach equivaleats at the end of the pesiod

Hote

2019

[2.229)

3174

018

1,636
(23
19
146
(6681

1,001
Ah

ah

1,091

(258
(&1
(2]
(35211
2221

(2,773)

T

(146)

(71)

{rs3
1,220
11
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Statements of Changes in Equity
KK million)

Balance at Decembar 31, 2017

Change in accounting policy: Adoption of IFRS 15

Adjusted totsl squity ot jenusry 1, 2015

Net result
Other compreh

teive ncome

Tatal comprehensive inceme

v compersation experts
Ta o items recognized directly in equity

Enlance at Decembar 31, 2018

Nt piesult
Dither comprefens

Tatul camprahanzive inesme

income

Exefeise of warrants

Shares tssued for cosh

Expenses mlated to capital increases
Share based comperssation ¢
Net selement of 505

Tax on itens recagnized directly in equity

Balance at Decembaer 31, 2019

TS

Distribution of the year's result

Share
Capital

&l

&1

Share
Premium

7.504

7.984

64
HEFD
i238)

11,755

The Board of Directors proposes that the parent company’s 2019 net income of
DKK 2,166 million (2018: netincome of DKK 1,47 2million) be camied forward to

nextyear by transfer to retained eamings,

Tranzlation
Reserves

B2

Ratiined Sharsholders”

Earnings
(1,655}

151
i1.704)

1472

1472
{146}
%1

a9

(198)

2,166

2,188

147
(@
4

2.130

Equity
6272

151
6,423

1,472
0]

1,482
75
(1461
91
Lt

8,014

2,166
3

2,172

[
3BT
(238)

147

(9

FLl

14,008




1
Accounting Policies

The financial statements of the parent company have been
prepared in accordance with the International Finan cial
Reparting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union
(Elhand further disclosure requirements in the Danish
Financial Statements Act.

Except for the implementation of IFRS 16, the accounting
policies are unchanged from the prioryear.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the parent cornpany recognized lease
liabilities in relation to leases that had previously been
dassified as ‘operating leases” under the prinaples of IAS 17
Leases, These liabilities were measured at the present value

of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lesses’s
ncrermental barowing rate a5 of Janary 1, 2019, The weighted
average lessee’s incrernental bomowing rate applied to the lease
liabilities on January 1, 2019 was 3.0%.

The impact of the adoption of IFRS 16 on the financal state-
ments as of jJanuary 1, 2019 s shown in the table and futher
desenbed below:

Jasusry 1,
(DKK millionk 2019
Operating kase commitments

disclosed as o December 31, 2014 ar
Discounted usiing the paents's

in remanitsl bormowing rate of 3.0% (e}
Loase (Eubility recognized at january 1, 2019 45

Financlal Statements for the Parent Compamy

The ROU assets established at January 1, 2019 on the
balance sheet was DEK 45 million, Net result decreased by
DEK 1 millicn as a result of adapting IFRS 16 in 2019, Cash
flows from operating activities increased by DKK 12 million
and cash flows from financing activities decreased by DKE
12 million as a result of adopting IFRS 16in 2019,

The parent company accounting policies are the same as
thase applied for the Group, with the additions mentioned
below.

Supplementary Accounting Policies for the Panent Company
Investments in Subsidiaries

The equity method is used for measuring the investments in
subsidiaries, Under the equity method, the investmentin a

subsidiary is recognized on initial recognition at cost, and the

carrying amount is i ord d o ize the

parent company’s share of the profit or loss of the investment

after the date of acquisition. The parent company’s share of
profit or loss is recognized in the parent company’s profit or
loss, The parent company's share of other comprehensive
income arising from the investment is recognized in other
comprehensive income of the parent company.

Share-based Compensation Expenses

Inthe financial statements for the parent company, expenses
and exercise proceeds related to employees in the subsidiar-

ies are allocated to the relevant subsidiany where the em-
ployes has entered an employment contract,

Flease refer to note 1.1 in the consolidated financial state-

rments for a deacription of the accounting policies of the group.

Please refer to note 1.2 in the consolidated financial state:
rnents for a deseription of new accounting policies and
disclosures of the group.

Flease refar to nate 1.2 in the consolidated financial state-

ments for a descrption of management’s judgments and
estimates under IFRS.
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2

3

E

Revenue Staff Costs
DK millio 2019 2018 {pxK million 2019 e
Euvenue: Wagns and salaries 14 105
Rayalties 1,741 Share-based compensation 21 23
Milestone payments 687 Defined contribution plans 11 r
Liceriee fees a8 Other social security costs 12 1
R

pimbursement incoma 65 el . 136
Tokal 3,041

Staff costz ars included in the income statemeat as follows:
Iresen ORRZAX daramat & Do 2350  Msearh snddasopmant expences e
3 2 7 3 .
Heanarrtis (Arrermfafat munmab) X el Bind TG ton i st - 2
iher collaboration parners 33 Tetl 198 138
Total 5,392 3,041 Avarage numbar of FTE 136 s
: 1
Flease referto note 2.1 in the consclidated financial statements for additional information B bee of FTE S year eac Cal L
regarding revenue of the group. Please referto note 2.2 inthe consolidated financial staterments for additional infarmation
regarding staff costs of the group.
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4
Corporate and Deferred Tax

Taxation - Balance Sheat
Significant components of the deferred tax asset are as follows:

Taxation — Income Staterment & Shareholders’ Equity
DIKK milliga)
Current tax on result

Adjustement Lo e
Adfjustrant to valatio

NI

Total tax for the period i the iscome statement

A neconciliatbon of Genmi s effec e tax rbe nelative
Danish statutory tax rabe is a5 follows:

(DK millionk

Ml misult befone tax

Computed 22% (2018: 22%)

Tax offect of:

Recognition of previously unmcognized tax losses and
adeducti rmporny diffennces

Non-deduclibb experses /mon taxabl income and
other permanent differences, net

Allother

Total tax effect
Total tax for the period in the income statement
Total tax for the perlod | sharehelders’ aquity

Financial Statements for the Parent Company

2019

(24)

2018
161
255

(252)

164

2018

1,636
360

(2a0)
a4
194}
1e4
185)

(DKK milliom) 2019

Tax deductible losses
Share-Based Instruments. 64
Capitalized R&D Costs
Other temporary diffenences

45
Waluation allowance >

Total deferred tax assets &5

Flease refer to nate 2.4 in the consolidated financial statements for additional information

regarding comporate and deferred tax of the group.

s

261
aF

340

340
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5 Licanzaz, Rights, Total
(K million) and Patunts Intangible Aszats

Intangible Assets 2019

Cost per January 1

Additions for the year
Disposals for the year
Exchang rate adjistment - -

Lozt at Decembar 31 B20 820

Aceumulated amortization and impaimment per a1
Amortization for the year {
Impalrment for the year o >
Disposals for the year

Exchang rale adjistrment - -

Aecumulated amortization and impairmeat per December 31 (397} (387)
Larrying amount ak December 31 423 423
018
Lost per a1 37 3ar
Aelditions for the year 98 398
Disposals for the year - -
Exchange rate adjsstment - -
Cost at Pecomber31 T45 T45
Aecimulated anortization and impaiment per January 1 (2500 {2503
Amontization far the year [L¥i] G
Impatirment for the year = =
Disposals for the year - -
Exchange rate adjsstment = =
smortization and impsi 31 (302) (302}
Carrylag smount at Decamber 31 443 443
Depreciation, amortization, and impaiments are included in the as follows: 2019 2018
(DK million)
Research and developrment experses 5 52

General and sdministrative expenses. - -
Tetsl 5 52

Please refer to note 2.1 inthe consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding intangible assets of the group.
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6 Leasshald Equipmant, Tokal Proparty,
Improwemasts Fumiture and Fixtures  Plastand Equipment
Property, Plant

and Equipment Costat January 1 4 20

Additions for the year o 5 5

Disposals for the year (# (53]

Cost at Decambar31 4 23

Accumulated depreciation and ik ok Jrnary 1 {1

Depreciation for the year =

Disposats for the year - 2 2
lath t Bar31 (1 (14) (15)

Carrying smoint at Decembaer 31 3 L] 12

2018

Costal January 1 2 7 19

Additiors for the year 2 ] ]

Disposals for the year - (1] (1

Cost at Decembar31 4 k) 2%

Accumulated depeeciation and impalement ot fanuany 1 & (n {n

Depreciation for the year [§1] 2 (%3]

Disposats for the year = 1 1

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at Decembar 31 [eV] 1z (13}

Carrying smoint 4t Decembaer 31 3 ] 1

(DR mnilliaig) 2019 018

Dapreclation, smortization, and impal mentz are incladed In the lncome statement & follows:

Research and development expenses : 2

General and administrtie: expensis. 1 1

Tatal & 3

Please referto note 3.2 in the consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding prop erty

merit of the group.,

plant and equip-
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7
Leases

The parent company has entered into lease agreements with respect to office space and office
equipment. The leases are non-cancelable for various periods up to 2022,

Amounts recognized in the balance sheat
The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases;

Interest expense is included in net financial items and expenses relating to short-term leases
are included in operating expenses in the staternent of comprehensive income.

Future minimum payments under cur leases as of December 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, are as follows:

December 31, December 31,
{DKK millioah 019 016
Right-akuse iszets

Propriiaes 14 -
Total right-of-use assets 14 -
Leass liabilities

Cusrent 12 -
Hon-curent 23 =
Total laazs liabilities 35 -

There were no additions to the right-ofuse assets in 2019,

Amgunts re d in the st t of corr income

The statement of comprehensive income shows the following amounts relating to leases:

December 31,  December 31,
(DKE millon) 2019 2018
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets
Proparties 1 =
Total depreciation charge of right-cf-uze assels 11 =
Intarect mxpenze 1 -

Financlal Statements for the Parent Compamy

December 31, December 31,
COKK mnillicn) 09 2018
Payment dus
Litss tham 1 year 12 1
1 1o 3 years 24 25
Mo than 2 years, but [ess than 5 years - n
Monis theam 5 yiars = s
Total 36 ur

Please refer to note 3.3 in the consolidated financial staternents for additional information

regarding leases of the group,

8
Other investments

Flease refer to note 3.4 to the consolidated financial staternents for additional information on
other investments af the group.
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9
Receivables

(KK million) 2019 018
Recaivables sebated 1o collabomtion agreaments 2,849 1,266
Receivables from subsidiaries 42 40
Interest recaivables 4 18
DHber necivishle 11 F
Prepayments i 3
Tatal 2962 1,334
Hon-cumrent mceivables [ &
Cwrrent recabables 2976 1,330
Tatal 2982 1,334
Please refer to note 3.5 in the consolidated financial statements for additional information
regarding receivables of the group.

Other Payables

{DKK millioa 2019 2018
Liahilitses related o eollaboration sgrements. 8 &
Staffcost liahilites 14
Dk abilities 152
Fayable to subsidiasies 180
Accaums payable 38
Total st Decembar31 390
Hon-currant ather payables 1 2
Cusreril alher payablies 852 108
Total at Dacembar 31 as3 390

Flease refer to note 3.7 in the conselidated financal staternents for additional informatian

regarding other payables of the group,

Financial Statements for the Parent Company

1l
Marketable Securities

Flease refer to note 4.4 to the consolidated financial staternents
for additional information on marketable securities of the group.

12
Financial Income and Expenses

(KK millicn) 2019
Fizanclal income:

Interest and othes Brancal income 120
Interest from subsidiaries L]
Realized and unrealized gains on marketable securities

(fairwalue through the income s ttement), net L]

Realived and unnealized gairs on Leir value hedges, mel
Realized and unmealized exchange mie gains, net

Total financisl income 238
Financial sxpenzes:
Interest and othes financial expenses. 1

Realized and unrealized losses on marketable securities
(fair value through the income statement), et -

Total financial axpanzes 1
Mat fimancial ftems 237

Interest and other financial income on
firmncial assets maasured at amortized cost 12

Interest and other Anancal expenses on Ainancial
lialsilities measinsd &1 amortioed cosl -

Please refer to note 4.5 in the consolidated financial staterments for additional information

regarding financial income and expenses of the group.
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Remuneration of the Board of Directors
and Executive Management

The tofal remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management is as follows:

(DKK milliony 2019 2018
Wegees and salaries 106 9
Share-based compensation expenses & &
Total 18 7
The remuneration of each of the Executive Management is described below:
Defined Amnusl  Sharebased

Coatribution Other Cash  Companzation
019 Ease Salary Plans Banefits Bonus Expenses Total
{DKK milliosh
Jourw v che Winked 0.7
Dawvid A Eatwall 0.4 - - -
Judith Elimovsky 0.4 = = y 16
Tetil 1.5 = S 1.5 33 8.3
2018
ADKE millioak
Jainvain chis Winikel 0.7 = = 1.1 1.3 xa
Danvid A, Entwell 0.4 - - - 0.8 1.2
Jadith Klimenvsky 0.4 g e 5 0.6 1.0
Total 1.5 - - 11 2.7 53

Remuneration of the Board of Directors for the parent s the same a3 disclosed in note 5.1 in

the consolidation financial statements,

Flease refer to nate 5.1 in the consalidated Anancal staterents for additional information

reganding the remuneration of the Board of Directors and Executive Management,

Financlal Statements for the Parent Compamy

14
Related Party
Disclosures

Genmab A5’ related parties are:

+ the company’s subsidianes
+ the company’s Board of Directors, Executive Manage-
ment, and close members of the family of these persons,

Transactions with subsidiaries

Genmab BV, Genmab Holding BM, Genmab US, Inc. and
Genmab K.K. are 100% (directly or indirectly) owned subsid-
iafies of Genmab AfS snd are included in the consolidated
financial staternents. They perform certain research & de-
velopment, general & administrative, and management ac-
tivities on behalf of the parent company. Genmab BV, owns
the HexaBody technelogy and the parent company performs
certain research and development activities related to the
HexaBody technology on behalf of Genmab BV, All intercorm-
pany transactions have been eliminated in the consolidated
financial staternents of the Genmab group.

150




15

Investments in Subsidiaries

Genmab A5 (parent company) holds investments either directly or indirectly in the following subsidiaries:

Bl

(KK milliosh 2019 018
Tranzactions with subsidiaries;

e Sleleatesni:

Senvice fee income %
Senvice fee costs {546)
Firsncial income 9 1
Balances with subsidiaries:

Cusrent receivables L 40
Cument payakles ¥ (160}

Genmab A/S has placed at each subsidiary’s disposal a cred-
it facility (denominated in lozal currency) that the subsidi-
ary may use to draw from in order to secure the necessary
Funding of its activities.

Flease referto note 5.2 to the consolidated finan cial state-

ments for additional information regarding transaction s with
related parties of the group.

Financial Statements for the Parent Compamy

Gweership and  Gwnarship and

Hame Domisile Vetes 2015 Votes 2018
Genmal B, Uirecht, the Hetherands 100%
Genmak Halding BV, Utrecht, the Nethermnds 190%
Genmah WS, Inc. Hirws Jersey, USA 100%
Genmab K.K. Tolkyo, Japan -
(DK million) 2019 08
Cost per Januany 1 560
Additions =
Costper Decembar 31 560
Walue adjustments fansarny 1 (2]
Profit/ (kss) in subsidiarias, net of L {118)
Exchange mte adjustment 10
Walue adjustrents par Decenbar 31 (355) (206)
tefin par n 653 354
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Commitments

Guarantees and Collaterals.
There were no bank guarantees as of December 21, 2018 or
2018

Other Purchasa Obligations

The parent company has entered into a number of agreements
primarily related to research and development activities
carried out by Genmab. In the parent company, the contractual
obligations amounted to DKK 438 million (2018: DKK 787
rrillion).

‘We also have certain contingent commitments under our li-
cense and collaboration agreements that may become due for

commitrents amounted to approximately DKK 8,322 million
(15D 947 million} in potential future development, regulatory
and commercial mile stone payments to third parties under
license and collaboration agreements for our pre-clinical and
clinical-stage development programs as compared to DEK
4,871 million (USD 747 million) as of December 21, 2018.
These milestone payments generally become due and payable
only upen the achievement of certain development, clinical,
regulatory or commercial milestones. The events triggering
such payrents of obligations have not yet occurmed.

In addition to the above obligations, we enterinto a variety
of agresments and financial cormmitments in the nomal

future payments, As of December 31, 2013, these g

Financlal Statements for the Parent Compamy

course of . The terms generlly allow us the option to

cancel, reschedule and adjust our requirements based on our
business needs prior to the delivery of goods or perfomance
of services. It is not possible to predict the maximum potential
armount of future payments under these agreements due to the
canditional nature of our obligations and the unique facts and
circumstances involved in each particular agreement.

Flease refer to note 5.4 in the consolidated financial state-

ments for additional information regarding commitments of
the group.
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Fees to Auditors Appointed at Adjustments to Cash
the Annual General Meeting Flow Statement
(DK millioa) 2019 2018  (DXK million) Hote 2019 018
PricewaterhoussCoopers farnon=cash {
Audit senvices 7 08  Deprecimtion, smorization and inpairment EN 9% 55
Anclit related sonvices 0.0 Shae based compensation exparses 3 147 o
Tk and VAT senvices o4 , ) .
Dther services. 0.4 Tetal adjustm i ol
Total 69 1.4 Changes s working capital;
Receivables (1.6400 (r6)
Othir payabilis 100 94
Fees for ather services than statutory audit of the financial staterments provided by Price- Total changae In workleg capltal [1,240) (868}

waterhouseCoopers Statsautoniseret Revisionspartnerselskab amounted to DKK 5.2 million

(DK 0.6 million in 2018). Other senvices than statutory audit of the financial statements

comprise services relating to Genmab's IPO on the Nasdag U.5., tax and VAT compliance, Plaase rafer fo note 5.7 in the cons. nancial statements for additional information
agreed-upon procedures, opinions relating to grants, educational training and accounting regarding adjustments to the cas atement of the group.

advice.

Flease refer to note 5.6 in the consclidated financial statements for additional information
regarding fees to auditors of the group.
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Directors’ and Management’s
Statement on the Annual Report

The Board of Directors and Executive Management have Inour opinion, the Consolidated Financial Statements and the results forthe year and of the financial position of the Group

todey considered and adopted the Annual Report of Genmab Parent Company Financial Statements give a true and fair view and the Parent Company as well as a description of the most

A5 for the financial year 1 January to 21 December 2019, of the financial position at 31 December 2019 of the Group significant risks and elements of uncertainty facing the Group
and the Parent Company and of the results of the Group and and the Parent Company.

The Annual Report has been prepared in accordance with Farent Company operations and cash Aows for 2019,

Intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by We recommend that the Annual Report be adopted at the

the EU and further requirements in the Danish Financial In our opinion, Management's Review includes atrue and fair ~ Annual General Meeting.

Statements Act. account of the development in the operations and financial

circumstances of the Group and the Parent Company, of the Copenhagen, February 19, 2020

Executive Management Board of Directors
o~ .

fort— 2t ey — . .
Janvan de Winkel Mats Pettersson Delrdre Connelly Pernille Erenbjerg
{President & CEQ) (Chairman) {Deputy Chairman)

J ) ! —
N Yoo ety A goned frotosce- es 7 &5

David A. Eatwell Paolo Paolett] Anders Gersel Pedersen Milke Zachariasse Daniel |. Bruno
(Executive Vice President & CFO) (Employee elected) (Employes elected)

=y T
A B o Wivdeen <o
Judith Klimovsky Peter Stom Kristensen
(Executive Vice President & CDO) (Employee alscted)
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the sharehclders of Genmab AfS

Our opinion

In ouropinion, the Consalidated Financial Statements and
the Parent Company Financial Statements give a true and fair
wiew of the Group®s and the Parent Company’s financial po-
sition at 31 December 2019 and of the results of the Group™s
and the Parent Company’s operations and cash flows forthe
financial year 1 January to 31 December 2019 in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted
by the EU and further requirements in the Danish Financial
Statements Act,

Qur opinean is consistent with our Auditer's Long-form Report
tothe Audit and Finance Committes and the Board of Directors.

What we have audited

The Consolidated Financial Statements and Parent Company
Financial Statements of Genmab A/S for the financial year 1
lanuary to 31 December 2019 comprise income statement
and statem ents of comprehensive income, balance sheets,
staternents of cash flows, statements of changes in equity
and motes, including suramary of significant accounting
policies for the Group as well as for the Parent Company.
Collectively referred to as the “Financial Statements.™

Independent Auditors Repsrt

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards en Auditing (I5As) and the additional reguire-
mients applicable in Denmark, Our responsibilities under
those standards and requirements are further described in
the Auditor's responsibilities for the apditof the Financial
Statemenis section of our report.

We balisve that the audit evidence we have obtained is suf-
ficient and appropnate to provide a basis for our opanion,

Independence
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the:
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants® Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESEA Code) and the
additional requirements applicable in Denmark. We have
also fulfilled sur other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the IESBA Code,

To the bestof sur knowledge and belief, prohibited non-
audit services referred to in Article 5(1) of Regulation (EU)
No 5372014 were not prowvided,

Appointment

Following the listing of the shares of Genmab A5 on Nasdag
Copenhagen, we were first appointed auditors of Genrmab
AfSon 22 March 2001, We have been reappointed annually
by sharehalder resalution For & total period of uninterrupted
tof 19 years including the fi al year 201%.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the Fi-
nancial Statements for 2019, These matters were addressed
inthe context of sur audit of the Financial Statements as a
whole, and in farming our opinion thereon, and we do nat
provide a separate opinion on these matters.
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Koy audit matter

AQEEAIEATS

Revenue is recognized when a pesformance obligation & satisfied
e whan Genmab's customer obtains control of promised

osols of Servicess, in anamount that reflects the consideration
Uit Gasrarials st N riscisiont in avmcharge For those goods o
SIS,

Resvenue roognition

imvolve acoounting for license and collab-

Hew our audit sddredaed the key auditmatter

W di i ognition ipless with M

Our audit procedures in regard of revenie recognition included
esting of redevant intemal compos.

Wi resne el asgreamin b Lo assess whethar thi rvense
recognition was conststent with the accounting standasd IFRS 15,
Revenue from Comtracts with Cusfouiers, and had been applied
consistently.

oratian agr ineluding si 1 tione and
miullipe prfomnes: obligations such a5 u phont p : Wit considinid the bleness of the made by
millestons papments, rogaltios and rrimbursement of costs. M in detarmining the wtilized

‘W focised on this ansa because liming of revenue secognilion
in i =1 L b, i 13 iliies and requines
significant juclgment and estimation by marsgement.

Reference ks made ta note 2,1,

Statement on Managemant's Review
Management is responsible for Management’s Review.

Qur apinion on the Financial Statements does not cover
Management’s Review, and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion therean,

In connection with our audit of the Financial Statements,
sur ibility is o read ‘s Review and,
in deing so, consider whether Management’s Review is

Independent Auditors Repsrt

in caleulating recognized evense.

Wi tested 8 sample of trarsactions of fevenue rscognizee far
b R and i itkan based on
aand ks eslimatns

accurbe

and Judgments,

matenally incansistent with the Financial Statements or
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears
to be matenally misstated.

Maoreover, we considered whether Management's Review
includes the disclosures required by the Danish Financial
Statements Act,

Based on the work we have perfarrmed, in our view Manage-

ment"s Review is in accordance with the Consolidated

Financial Statements and the Parent Company Financial
Staternents and has been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Danish finencal Staternents Act. We did not
identify any material misstatement in Management's Review,

Management's responsibilities for

the Financial Statements

Managementis responsible for the preparation of consali-
dated financial staternents and parent company financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accerdance with
Intemational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by
the EL and further requi % in the Danish Fi ial
Staternents Act, and for such intemal cantrol as Management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstate-
ment, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the Financial Staternents, Management is
respensible for assessing the Group's and the Parent Com-
pany’s ability to continue as a going concem, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concerm and using the
going concem basis of accounting unless Management either
intends to liquidate the Group or the Parent Cormpany or to
ceass s, of has listic alt butto de so.

Auditor's responsibilities for

the audit of the Financial Statements

Qurobjectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the Financial Hatements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and
toissue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
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Ressoneble sssumnce is 8 high level of sssumnce, bul is
nol aguamnies that an audit conducted in eccordance with
1545 and the additional requirements applicable in Denmark
will alwmys detect s matenal misstalement when it exisls.

Misstatemants can srise fiom fraud or eror and B tonsid-
amd material if, individuslly or in the aggregate, they could
ramsonably be expectad to influence the econamic decisions
of usars lakan on the basis of these Financial Statemants.

Az part of an audit in accordsnce with 1S4z and the additionsl
requirements applicable in Denmark, we exercise profassion-
al judgment and maintain professianel skapticiam through:
out the audit. Wealso:

* |dentify and mssess the risks of matenal misstatemant of
the Financinl Statements, whether due to freud or ermar,
designand perform sudit procedures respensive lo those
risks, and obinin audit evidence that is sufficient and
mpprepriate lo provide o besis forour epinion, The risk of
not datecting » material micctatement reeulting from fraud
is higharthan far ane resulting from enor, a5 fraud may
invalve collusian, forgery, intentions| am issions, mis-
representations, or the overide of internal control.
Qbtsin an understanding of intermal control relevant ta
the mudil in ordar lo dasign sudit procedures thetsre
mppropriate inthe cicumstances, but not farthe purpose
ofexprssing an opinian an the affectivenass af the

Group's and tha Parent Com pany*s intarnal contral,
Evaluate the spproprieteness of mccounting palicies
used and the ressonebleness of accounting estimates
mnd releled disclosures made by Management.

Independent Auditer's Report

* Conclude on the sppropristaness of Menagement’s use of
the going concem basis of accounting and based on the
sudit evidence obirinad, whather & materisl uncertainty
axisls raleled to evenls or condilions that mey cast
significant doubt on the Group's and the Parent Com pa-
ny's ability to continue 88 & going concarm. IFwe eoncluda
that & material uncertsinly exists, we ane regquined to drew
attention inour auditer's report to the related disclosures
in tha Financial Statemants or, if such disclosures sra
inadequnte, o modily ouropinien. Our conclusions are
based on theaudit evidence obluined up to the date of
eurmuditers repert. Howevar, future events arcenditinns
may cause the Group orthe Parent Com pany to ceaseto
continuS B 8 FOINE EORCEm.

* Evaluste the overall presentation, structure and content of
the Finenciol Statem ents, including the disclosures, and
whether the Finsncinl Stalements represent the undarlying
mnsactions and events in e manner that achieves fair
prasentation,

« Obtain sufficient sppropriate audit svidance regarding tha
financial infarmetion of the entities or business activities
within the Group o express sn opinion on the Consoli-
dated Financiel Statements, We are responsible for the
diraction, supervision and performance of the group sudit,
We remain solaly rezponsible for oursudit opinion.

We eom mumcate with these cha ged with govemance
megerding, among other matters, the plenned scope and
timing of the audit and significant sudit Andings, including
mny significant deficiancies in internal contral that we identify
during our sudil.

We also provide those charged with governence with s
staternant that we have complied with relevant athical
requirements regarding independance, and o comm unicate
with tham all relalionzhips snd othermetters thet may
easonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
whare applicabls, related safagiuards.

From the matters comm unicated with these charged with gov-
ermsnce, wa detarming those metlers that were of most signi-
ficence in the sudit of the Finencial Statements of the curment
pericd and are therafore the key nudit matlers, We describe
theza mattens inour suditers repert unless law or regulstion
precludes public disclosure mbowut the matter or when, in ex-
tramaly mre circum stanesas, wa dotarm ine that a mattarshould
not be communicated in our report because the adverse con-
sequences of doing 50 would rensonobly be expected to out-
waigh the public intarest benefits of such comm unicatien.

Hellerup, 19 February 2020
PricewatarheouseCon pers
Statsauleriseret Revisionspartnerselskal
CVRno 33771231

Rasmus Frils Jorgenzen Allan dsen
State Authornsed State Authorised
Public Accounisnt Public Accountant
mne F8705 mne 29465




Glossary

Apoptosis
A form of
death,

Blologles License
Application (BL

Blspecific antibody Dual-listed company

hal

BREEAM (Building Research
Establishment Environmen-
tal Assessrent Method)
ainability a
Eurapean Medi
Agency (EMA)

Clinical
Term used

Complement dependent
eytotoxicity (CDC)

Initial Public Offering (IPQ)
An initial pub
S

Marketing Authorization
Application (MAA)

Monotherapy
Treatment of a

-

that are &t the stag

interest ag

antibs

Transgenlc mouse
A mo

U.5. Food and Drug
Administration (FDA)

Applied un

Real-Time Oncology Review
(RTOR) Pilot Program

Refractory
Resistant to treatment.

Relapsed




Forward Looking Statement

This annual report contains farward locking statements, The
words “believe”, "expect”, “anticipate”, “intend” and “plan”™
and similar expressions identify forvward looking staterments.
Actual results or performance may differ matenally from

any future results or performance expressed orimplied by
such statements. The important factors that could cause cur
actual results or peformance to differ matenally include,
amang others, risks associated with product discovery

and developrnent, uncertanties related to the outcome

and conduct of clinical tnals including unforeseen safety
issues, uncertainties related to product manufacturing, the
lack of market meceptance of our products, our inability to
mmanage growth, the competitive envionment in relation to
our business area and markets, our inability to attract and
retain suitably qualified perssnnel, the unenforceability

or lack of protection of cur patents and proprietary nghts,
our relation ships with affiliated entities, changes and
developments in technology which may render our products
obsolete, and other factors. Fora further discussion of these
risks, please refer to the section "Risk Management™ in this
annual report and the risk factors included in Genmab's Anal
prospectus forour LS, public offering and listing and other
filings with the .5, Secunities and Exchange Commission
(5EC). Genmab does not undertake any obligation to update
or revise forward looking statements in this annual report
nor to confirm such staterments to reflect subsequent events
of circumstances after the date made or in relation to actual
results, unless required by law.

Ferward Looking Statement

Genmab A5 and/or its subsidiaries own the following
trademarks: Genmab@; the ¥:shaped Genmab logo®;
Genrmab in cormbination with the Y-shaped Genmab logofx;
HuMax®; DuoBody®; DucBedyin combination with the
DuoBody logot®; HexaBody®; HexaBody in combination
with the b dy lege®; DuoHexaB, ; HexElect®;
and UniBody . Arzerra® is a trademark of Novartis AG
orits affiliates. DARZALEX® is a trademark of Janssen
Pharmaceutica NV, OmniAb® is a trademark of Open
Monoclonal Technology, Inc. UIIMALE is a trademark of
Medarex, Inc. Opdivo® is a trademark of Bristol-Myers
Squibb Company. Velcade® and NINLAROS are trademarks
of Millennium Pharmaceuticals. Revlimid® and Pomalyst®
are trademarks of Celgene Corporation. Venclexta®™ is

a trademark of AbbVie, Inc. Tecentnig® is a trademark

of Genentech, Inc, TEPEZZA™ i3 atrademark of Horizon
Therapeutics plc

2020, Genmab A/S. All rights reserved.
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About Genmab A/S

Genmals is a publicly traded, international biotechnology
company specializing in the creation and development of
differentiated antibody therapeutics for the treatment of
cancer. Founded in 199%, the company is the creator of three
approved antibodies: DARZALENT (daraturmumab, under
agreement with [anssen Biotech, Inc.) for the treatment of
certain multiple myeloma indications in temtornies including
the U5, Europe and |apan, Arzerrai® (ofatumumab, under
agreement with Nowartis AG), for the treatment.of certain
chronic lymphocytic leukemia indications in the U5, Japan
and certain other temtories and TEPEZZA™ (teprotumumab,
under agreement with Roche granting sublicense to Horizon
Therapeutics plc) for the treatment of thyroid eye disease

in the U5, Daratumumab is in clinical development by
lansaen for the treatment of additional multiple myelorma
indications, other bleod cancers and amyloidosis. A SubQ
formulation of ofatumumab is in development by Novartis
forthe treatment of RMS, Genmab also has a broad clinical
and pre-clinical product pipeline. Genmab's technology base
consists of validated and proprietary next generation antibody
technolegies - the DucBeody ™ platform for generation of
bispecific antibodies, the HexaBodyD platforrn, whidh
creates effector function enhanced antibodies, the HexElect®
platform, which combin es two cordependently acting
HexaBody malecules to introduce selectivity while maximizing
therapeutic potency and the DuoHexaBody® platform, which
enhances the potential potency of bispecific antibodies
through hexamerization. The company intends to leverage
these technelogies 1o ereate opportunities far full or co-
awnership of future products, Genmab has alliances. with top
tier pharmaceutical and bictechnology companies. Genmab is
headquartered in Copenbagen, Denmark with sites in Utrecht,
the Metherlands, Princeton, New |ersey, U.S and Tokyo, lapan.
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